INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING

Management of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (Brookfield) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer and effected by the Board of Directors, management and other personnel
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board as defined in Regulation 240.13a-15(f) or 240.15d-15(f).

Management assessed the effectiveness of Brookfield’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based
on the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management concludes that, as of December 31, 2018, Brookfield’s
internal control over financial reporting is effective. Management excluded from its assessment the internal control over financial
reporting for Brookfield Property REIT (formerly, GGP Inc.), Forest City Realty Trust, 666 Fifth Avenue, Extended-Stay Hotel
Portfolio, Saeta Yield S.A., Gas Natural, S.A. ESP, NorthRiver Midstream Inc., Enercare Inc., Dawn Acquisitions LLC (Evoque),
Schoeller Allibert Group B.V., Teekay Offshore Partners L.P. and Westinghouse Electric Company which were acquired during
2018, and whose total assets, net assets, revenues and net income on a combined basis constitute approximately 27%, 29%, 8%
and 8% respectively, of the consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Brookfield’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, has been audited by Deloitte LLP, the Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm, who also audited Brookfield’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2018. As stated in the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Deloitte LLP expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of Brookfield’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018.

RSN S

J. Bruce Flatt Brian D. Lawson
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

March 26, 2019

Toronto, Canada
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Brookfield Asset Management Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established
in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 of the Company and our report
dated March 26, 2019, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management excluded from its assessment
the internal control over financial reporting at Brookfield Property REIT (formerly, GGP Inc.), Forest City Realty Trust, Extended-
Stay Hotel Portfolio, 666 Fifth Avenue, Gas Natural, S.A. ESP, NorthRiver Midstream Inc., Enercare Inc., Dawn Acquisitions
LLC, Schoeller Allibert Group B.V., Teekay Offshore Partners L.P., Westinghouse Electric Company and Saeta Yield S.A., which
were acquired during 2018 and whose financial statements constitute, in aggregate, 27% of total assets, 29% of net assets, 8% of
revenues, and 8% of net income of the consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal control over financial reporting at Brookfield Property REIT (formerly, GGP
Inc.), Forest City Realty Trust, Extended-Stay Hotel Portfolio, 666 Fifth Avenue, Gas Natural, S.A. ESP, NorthRiver Midstream
Inc., Enercare Inc., Dawn Acquisitions LLC, Schoeller Allibert Group B.V., Teekay Offshore Partners L.P., Westinghouse Electric
Company and Saeta Yield S.A.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada
March 26, 2019
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and other financial information in this Annual Report have been prepared
by the company’s management which is responsible for their integrity, consistency, objectivity and reliability. To fulfill this
responsibility, the company maintains policies, procedures and systems of internal control to ensure that its reporting practices
and accounting and administrative procedures are appropriate to provide a high degree of assurance that is relevant and reliable
financial information is produced and assets are safeguarded. These controls include the careful selection and training of employees,
the establishment of well-defined areas of responsibility and accountability for performance, and the communication of policies
and code of conduct throughout the company. In addition, the company maintains an internal audit group that conducts periodic
audits of the company’s operations. The Chief Internal Auditor has full access to the Audit Committee.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and, where appropriate, reflect estimates based on management’s judgment.
The financial information presented throughout this Annual Report is generally consistent with the information contained in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Deloitte LLP, the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm appointed by the shareholders, have audited the consolidated
financial statements set out on pages 119 through 200 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) to enable them to express to the board of directors
and shareholders their opinion on the consolidated financial statements. Their report is set out on the following page.

The consolidated financial statements have been further reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors acting through its Audit
Committee, which is comprised of directors who are neither officers nor employees of the company. The Audit Committee, which
meets with the auditors and management to review the activities of each and reports to the Board of Directors, oversees
management’s responsibilities for the financial reporting and internal control systems. The auditors have full and direct access to
the Audit Committee and meet periodically with the committee both with and without management present to discuss their audit
and related findings.

T2 Ol

J. Bruce Flatt Brian D. Lawson
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

March 26, 2019

Toronto, Canada
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Brookfield Asset Management Inc.
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31,2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes
in equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated March 26, 2019, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error
or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

March 26, 2019
Toronto, Canada

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1971.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AS AT DEC. 31
(MILLIONS)

Assets
Cash and cash equIVAleNtS............cooiiiiiiiiieeee e

Other fINANCIAL ASSELS........c.covieuieeieeieei ettt ettt et eveete s eas e ereeseeseenens

Inventory

Assets classified as held for Sale ..........ccooivieiiiriciree s
Equity accounted INVESTMENTS ...........ccerieveueerireeieeiirieeeecet ettt eseseneseenas
INVESTMENT PIOPEITIES .....viueeeiieiieteieteetei ettt ettt ettt ettt et e st ste et e steneete e eseseeneebaneeneesenis
Property, plant and €qUIPMENL.............ccoccirieriririeieieieiieeeee ettt ese e eens
INEANGTDIC ASSELS .....vevieieeieeiieieteeie ettt ettt ettt eese et eeseneenenes
Goodwill

Liabilities and Equity
COTPOTALE DOTTOWINES ......veeieeeeteiiieteiesietete ettt ettt se e sse s et e sesene e esesenesseseseneenenas
Accounts payable and Other .............coooiiiiiiiieeeee e
Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale............c.cocovvreciiinieiiniicieins
Non-recourse borrowings of managed entities............coceeerireeeeinirieenirieeeereeees e
Deferred income tax Habilities ...........coceiieiiinieiieece e

Subsidiary equity OBIIZAtIONS ..........ccvevirieirieieieieieieiete ettt ese e esenees

Equity
Preferred QUILY ....c.eiviieeeeece ettt et ettt ettt et ettt ettt ens
NON-CONLTOIING INEETESLS. ......veeieiieeeeeieieeeieceieteee ettt seesnenas
COMIMON EQUILY .....veeveevieeretitietieteeteeteeteeeeessesessessesseeteeseeseessessessessessessesseeseessessessesassessenes

TOLAL EQUILY ..ttt ettt ettt eb ettt e be e b e s seebeneese s eseesennes

Total Liabilities and Equity....
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Note 2018 2017
6 $ 8390 $ 5,139
6 6,227 4,800
7 16,931 11,973
8 6,989 6,311
9 2,185 1,605
10 33,647 31,994
11 84,309 56,870
12 67,294 53,005
13 18,762 14,242
14 8,815 5,317
15 2,732 1,464

$ 256,281 § 192,720

16 $ 6,409 3 5,659
17 23,989 17,965
9 812 1,424
18 111,809 72,730
15 12,236 11,409
19 3,876 3,661
21 4,168 4,192
21 67,335 51,628
21 25,647 24,052
97,150 79,872

$ 256,281 $ 192,720




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THEXEARSENDED DEC 0L ounrs Note 2018 2017
REVEIUECS .....oooiiiiiii ettt e ettt e et e e s et e e e s e eaaaeesseaaaeesssnnes 22 $ 56,771 $ 40,786
DIHTECE COSES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt b ettt b et e bttt e st e 23 (45,519) (32,388)
Other INCOME aNd GAINS..........c.ocvevieieeieriieriieetereeete ettt seebe s seesessenas 1,166 1,180
Equity accounted INCOME...........cueieviiiiiirieiieieeteeteet ettt ettt eaeeas s ensenns 10 1,088 1,213
Expenses

TIEETESE ...ttt ettt ettt e et e et ettt e te e aeereete et e ereeeaeens (4,854) (3,608)

COTPOTALE COSES....o.viviirierierierietiteeteeteeteeteeteess et esessessesseeteeseeseeseessessensessasesseessessensessessenes (104) (95)
Fair value ChangES..........cooviiuiieieieieiecececte ettt ettt ettt et et ensens s eeeans 24 1,794 421
Depreciation and amortization... 3,102) (2,345)
TNCOMIE tAXES ....eviieeiiiiiiiect ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et aeess e s e b e besbeeteeasessensensenns 15 248 (613)
INELANICOIMIE ...ttt ettt et e e eaeeae et et et eeseeaeeaesreenseneennenennans $ 7,488 $ 4,551
Net income attributable to:

SRATENOLACTS ...ttt e ettt e et e e eeaeeaeeaeeeeeaeene et eneeeeeaneaeen $ 3,584 §$ 1,462

NON-CONLIOIING INLETESES.........oeveeveeeeeriereereereeeeeeee et eete et ereeeeeeseseeseeseereereersereeseesneneens 3,904 3,089

$ 7,488 3 4,551

Net income per share:

DIIULEA. ...ttt 21 $ 340 §$ 1.34

BaSIC ...ttt n ettt eenea 21 3.47 1.37
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

E\(A)Ili B»(I)EN‘gl)EARS ENDED DEC. 31 Note 2018 2017
INEE ITICOIIIE <.ttt ettt et e ee e e e e et eae et et e s e s et eeaeseeeaeeaeeue et et e et eeneeneesensenaenne $ 7,488 $ 4,551

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Items that may be reclassified to net income

Financial contracts and power sale agreements ..............cc.ccvevvevverierieireeeiereeeeeeeeeseenennes (20) 278
Marketable SECUTTICS ........c.ecveevieriireereereeteeeet et e et ere e ereere e eereereereereereeseereeneensesensennas (34) 95
Equity accounted INVESIMENTS..........ccceeieieieieriesieseseseeeesesaesessessesseseeeseeseessessessenses 10 29) 6
Foreign currency translation ................c.ccuevevieciiiiesiieeeeeie ettt 3,254) 439
TNCOME tAXES ...ovviviiiiiciictecte ettt ettt ettt et et e e be e b e eabeeaseeaseenseeasesneeeneas 15 90) 11
(3,427) 829
Items that will not be reclassified to net income
Revaluations of property, plant and equipment ..............cc.ecvevvevveereerieeeeereeeeeeereereerennes 12 6,290 934
Revaluation of pension obligations............c.ecuevueriererisienieieieietese e e senees 17 (19) 4
Equity accounted INVESIMENLS............cceeieieiieiieeieeteete ettt ee ettt ereeve e s essesese s 10 547 509
Marketable SECUTILIES ........coveueuiiriieeieirieieee ettt ettt es 94 —
Income taxes 15 (1,324) 314
5,588 1,761
Other cOMPreNeNSIVE INCOME. ..........cveevierieeieieeeeeteeteete e ettt eee e eeeereereereereereereeseeseeseeseenas 2,161 2,590
COmMPIERENSIVE INCOMMEC. ........eeuierieiisiiitieiieteetietet et et et e e eteeteeteesaesaesessessessesseeseeseessessensenss $ 9,649 $ 7,141
Attributable to:
Shareholders
INEEINCOIMIC ...ttt et eet e et eeete e e st e e emeeesneeesnseesnseeeneeesneeesneeeenns $ 3,584 $ 1,462
Other comprehensive INCOME...........c.ecvieuieieieieiteete ettt ettt ere v e s ese s nas 406 849
COMPIENENSIVE INCOME...........coviviirierieteeteeeieteete e et eteete e eneee s ereereereereere e s ensensensennas $ 3,990 $ 2,311
Non-controlling interests
Net income $ 3,904 $ 3,089
Other comprehensive INCOME.............c.ceeveiiuiieriereeietiiereetee ettt b 1,755 1,741
COMPIENENSIVE INCOME.........coveeieeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeee ettt aeaenes $ 5,659 $ 4,830
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

Common Non-
1\???{ ﬁgﬂ?ﬁfy% 1, Share Contributed Retained Ownership Revaluation Currency Otheg Common Preferred controlling Total
2018 (MILLIONS) Capital Surplus Earnings Changes' Surplus Translation Reserves” Equity Equity Interests Equity
Balance as at
December 31,2017..  $ 4428 § 263§ 11,864  $ 1459 $ 6,881 $ 878) $ 35 8 24052 $ 4,192 $ 51,628 $ 79,872
Changes in accounting
policies® coovrrrrrnrrrnnrs — — (215) — — — 3) (218) — (84) (302)

Adjusted balance as at
January 1, 2018........ 4,428 263 11,649 1,459 6,881 (878) 32 23,834 4,192 51,544 79,570

Changes in period:

Net income.................. — — 3,584 — — — — 3,584 — 3,904 7,488
Other comprehensive

INCOME ...coecveinns — — — — 1,060 (959) 305 406 — 1,755 2,161
Comprehensive

INCOME ..o — — 3,584 — 1,060 (959) 305 3,990 — 5,659 9,649
Shareholder

distributions

Common equity ...... — — (575) — — — — (575) — — (575)

Preferred equity ...... — — (151) — — — — (151) — — (151)

Non-controlling

interests.......ccoeun. — — — — — — — — — (6,709) (6,709)

Other items

Equity issuances,

net of redemptions 29 (44) (344) — — — — (359) (24) 6,663 6,280
Share-based
compensation....... — 52 (33) — — — — 19 — 7 26
Ownership changes. — — 114 (814) (385) 4 (30) (1,111) — 10,171 9,060
Total change in period 29 8 2,595 (814) 675 (955) 275 1,813 (24) 15,791 17,580
Balance as at
December 31,2018.. $ 4457 $ 271  §$ 14244  § 645 $ 7,556 S (1,833) $ 307 S 25,647 $ 4,168 $ 67,335  $ 97,150

1. Includes gains or losses on changes in ownership interests of consolidated subsidiaries.

2. Includes changes in fair value of marketable securities, cash flow hedges, actuarial changes on pension plans and equity accounted other comprehensive income, net of
associated income taxes.

3. See financial statement Note 2(b).

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

Common Non-

AS AT AND FOR THE . . . .

YEAR ENDED DEC. 31, Share  Contributed Retained Ownership  Revaluation Currency Other Common Preferred controlling Total
2017 (MILLIONS) Capital Surplus Earnings Changes' Surplus Translation Reserves Equity Equity Interests Equity

Balance as at
December 31, 2016.. $ 4390 $ 234§ 11,490 § 1,199 $ 6,750 $ (1,256) $ (308) $ 22499 § 3954 $§ 43235 $ 69,688

Changes in period:

Net income.................. — — 1,462 — — — — 1,462 — 3,089 4,551
Other comprehensive

INCOME ...ceuennn — — — — 237 280 332 849 — 1,741 2,590
Comprehensive

INCOME ...ouviinns — — 1,462 — 237 280 332 2,311 — 4,830 7,141
Shareholder

distributions

Common equity ...... — — (642) — — — — (642) — — (642)

Preferred equity ...... — — (145) — — — — (145) — — (145)

Non-controlling
interests................ — — — — — — — — — (4,907) (4,907)

Other items

Equity issuances,

net of redemptions 38 23) (118) — — — — (103) 238 7,193 7,328
Share-based
compensation....... — 52 @31) — — — — 21 — 4 25
Ownership changes. — — (152) 260 (106) 98 11 111 — 1,273 1,384
Total change in period 38 29 374 260 131 378 343 1,553 238 8,393 10,184
B 2017, S 4428 S 263§ 11864 S 145 § 6881 S (878) § 35 S 24052 S 4192 S 51,628 S 79872

1. Includes gains or losses on changes in ownership interests of consolidated subsidiaries.
2. Includes changes in fair value of marketable securities, cash flow hedges, actuarial changes on pension plans and equity accounted other comprehensive income, net of
associated income taxes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{ﬁﬁﬂg}\l\é?ARs ENDED DEC. 31 Note 2018 2017
Operating activities
BN\ 3 510 ) 1 s L= $ 7,488 $ 4,551
Other iNCOME ANA ZAINS......ccveiierieeieeieieieieerteete ettt et et e e sesbesseeseeseessessensensensenes (1,166) (1,180)
Share of undistributed equity accounted earnings .... (294) (481)
Fair value ChangES.......c.ccveriiriieiieiieieieteetee ettt ettt steeseesaesnensesensensens 24 1,794) (421)
Depreciation and amOTtiZAtION ..........ccecveverierierierieeeneeeeeetesieiessesresteetessesseesaessessessessessens 3,102 2,345
Deferred INCOME tAXES .....cuviiveeieieeieecieeeteeete ettt ettt ettt e eve e veeeveeteereebeeneeenseereeeaeas 15 (1,109) 327
Investments in residential INVENTOTY .......c.evverierieriererieieieieiee ettt eee e e nesaesaeseeneens 258 19
Net change in non-cash working capital balances ............ccocvevverererieriereneeeeieeeeeeee (1,326) (1,155)
5,159 4,005
Financing activities
Corporate DOrrowings arran@ed ..........c.ecuerververrereeeeerieeeeeesestessessessesseeseeseessessessessessensense 1,090 1,284
Corporate borrowings repaid .........coceeeeveenne — (434)
Commercial paper and bank borrowings, Nt ...........cecvevereerierierienenieeeeeeeeeieeesese e (103) 103
Non-recourse borrowings arranged..........c.eeveeververrerieieeeirerresiesiessessessesesseeseseessessessessenses 43,541 26,251
Non-recourse bOrrowings rePaid..........eveverierierieririeieieieteseseseeste e seeeeeeseeseeeessessessenses (28,243) (21,636)
Non-recourse credit faCIlItIESs, NEL......c.eivviiiiiieeeiieciieeee ettt ereeeeeeeeaee s 3,291 819
Subsidiary equity obligations ISSUCA.........ccecververierierieriererieieieietesesresre e e e eseaessesseees 212 419
Subsidiary equity obligations redeemed ...........ccververierererinieieieeese e (485) (347)
Capital provided from non-controlling interests.... 9,306 9,488
Capital repaid to NON-CONtrolling INTETESLS........ecierieirerreieieierieseseeteeeeeeeeereeessessessenes (2,643) (2,295)
Preferred €qUILY ISSUANCE ....ocvievieeierieieieieieiesie e se st et eseeseeteaessessessestessessessaessessensessensens — 241
Preferred equity redemMPLiONS .......ccveiecieieierierierieee ettt ettt et seeseeesaesaesesessensens 17) @)
CommoOn Shares ISSUE.........c.crueuiriirieiirieieierieiet ettt 11 15
Common shares repurChased ..........cvecveierierieriirieieieeeeee et e s sse e (389) (124)
Distributions to Non-controlling iNTETESS .........cecerereeeerierierierienienreeteeeeeeeseesessessessensens (6,709) (4,907)
Distributions t0 SharehOLAETS ...........ccvecveierierierierieeeeieteee ettt ee e sae e e (726) (685)
18,136 8,185
Investing activities
Acquisitions
INVESTMENT PIOPEITICS ...evvevrenrititietietiettetetetetesteseesteseeeseeseeseessensessessesseeseeseessessensensensenes (2,879) (2,114)
Property, plant and eqUIPIMENT .........cccecveieiierieriereeeeeeeet e see e eseesae s saessessenes (1,962) (1,690)
Equity accounted INVESIMENTS. .........ceeieieierierieniesiesieseeeeeseeeseestessessesseeseessessessessessessenes (953) (2,718)
Financial assets and OThET ..........cc.oooiviiiiiiiiiicceeee e eae e s (5,288) (4,623)
ACQUISTHON O SUDSIAIAIICS ... vevivievievietieeieieieieste ettt ae e ste st sbeeseeseesaessensessensenes (22,269) (10,336)
Dispositions
INVESTMENT PIOPEITICS . .evvevrenretitietietietteietetetesteseesteseeeseeseeseesessessessesseeseessessessensensensanes 4,311 2,906
Property, plant and eqUIPIMENT .........cccecveierierierieieee ettt esa s aessesseees 787 66
Equity accounted INVESIMENTS. .........cveieieierierienieeeeeseeeeeeeieseestessessesseeseessessessessessessenes 2,163 889
Financial assets and OThET ..........ccoooiviiiiiiiiiicceeeeeece e eae e 4,523 2,843
DiSposition Of SUDSIAIATIES .....c.vecvievieeieeieieieieieeie ettt sbeereeseesae s esaessessenes 1,729 2,834
Restricted cash and dePOSILS ......ceeveierierierierierierieseeeetetete et e st e ste e e esesseesaesaesessessensens 5 549
(19,833) (11,394)
Cash and cash equivalents
Change in cash and cash equivalents............cccceeveverennnnne. 3,462 796
Net change in cash classified within assets held for sale Q) (20)
Foreign exchange reValuation ...........ccecveverierierienienieseeeeeeeeieiesteste e stessesseesaessesessessensens (210) 64
Balance, beginning Of YEaT.........ccoccveiieiieiierieieriesieceeeeeeeete ettt sse e saesesseneensens 5,139 4,299
Balance, €Nd OF YEAT......cc.eivirieieieieteieietee ettt ettt ettt e eteese e nae s senaensens $ 8,390 $ 5,139
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Income taxes paid $ 980 $ 402
INEETESE PAIA .e.vevieeierieieieiert ettt ettt ettt et eteeteese et e e esae b e sseebeeseesesseeseessensensensensens 4,712 3,374
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (the “Corporation”) is a global alternative asset management company. References in these
financial statements to “Brookfield,” “us,” “we,” “our” or “the company” refer to the Corporation and its direct and indirect
subsidiaries and consolidated entities. The company owns and operates assets with a focus on real estate, renewable power,
infrastructure and private equity. The Corporation is listed on the New York, Toronto and Euronext stock exchanges under the
symbols BAM, BAM.A and BAMA, respectively. The Corporation was formed by articles of amalgamation under the Business
Corporations Act (Ontario) and is registered in Ontario, Canada. The registered office of the Corporation is Brookfield Place,

181 Bay Street, Suite 300, Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2T3.
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

These financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the company on March 26, 2019.
b) Adoption of Accounting Standards

The company has applied new and revised standards issued by the IASB that are effective for the period beginning on or after
January 1, 2018 resulting in a $302 million reduction to opening total equity. The new standards were applied as follows:

i. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), specifies how and when revenue should be recognized and requires
disclosures about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows arising from customer contracts. The
company adopted the standard on January 1, 2018 on a modified retrospective basis with a cumulative catch-up adjustment booked
to retained earnings as of January 1, 2018 as if the standard had always been in effect.

The standard is applied only to contracts that are not completed as at January 1, 2018 and we availed ourselves of the practical
expedient that permits adopters of the standard to not apply the requirements for contract modifications retrospectively for contracts
that were modified before January 1, 2018. Where available, the company has also elected the practical expedient available under
IFRS 15 for measuring progress toward complete satisfaction of a performance obligation and for disclosure requirements of
remaining performance obligations. This permits the company to recognize revenue in the amount to which we have the right to
invoice such that the company has a right to the consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the customer
for performance completed to date.

Comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for
those periods.
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This change in accounting policy affected our opening equity as follows:

(MILLIONS)
Assets

Accounts receivable and other
INVeNtOry .....covvivieiiciicece e
Equity accounted investments
Deferred income tax assets
Other @SSELS .....ccvveveveririererirerieieerieiereeseeieieeas

TOtAl ASSELS ....vviveieieeeecie ettt ettt ens

Liabilities

Accounts payable and other
Deferred income tax liabilities
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Preferred equity
Non-controlling interests
Common equity
Total equity ..........
Total liabilities and equity

Balance at IFRS 15 Balance at
December 31, 2017 Adjustments January 1, 2018
11,973  $ (368) $ 11,605
6,311 258 6,569
31,994 3) 31,991
1,464 42 1,506
140,978 — 140,978
192,720 § 71 8 192,649
17,965 $ 208§ 18,173
11,409 1 11,410
83,474 — 83,474
112,848 209 113,057
4,192 — 4,192
51,628 (83) 51,545
24,052 197) 23,855
79,872 (280) 79,592
192,720 $ 71 $ 192,649

The $280 million reduction in opening total equity is primarily due to the following:

+  within our Private Equity segment, an increase of $120 million in the contract work in progress liability and the reduction of
$125 million of accounts receivable. The impact on opening total equity was $265 million. These adjustments were primarily
the result of construction contracts for which the cost-to-cost input method was adopted to measure progress towards
the satisfaction of performance obligations and for which variable consideration will only be recognized when it is highly

probable that revenue from such amounts will not be reversed; and

+  within our Residential segment, a reduction of $190 million of accounts receivable, and increases of $250 million in inventory
and $90 million in deferred revenue. The impact on opening total equity was $15 million. These adjustments were primarily
the result of our Brazilian residential homebuilding business for which customers have the ability to cancel their contract
prior to the transfer of possession and recent legal cases support that control of the asset does not take place until the client

takes possession of the unit.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, revenues were $273 million higher than they would have been under the superseded

standard. The difference is primarily due to:

+  our residential homebuilding business in Brazil, where revenues were $150 million higher under IFRS 15 due to the impact

on the timing of revenue recognition which resulted in additional units considered sold during 2018; and

»  our Private Equity segment, which recognized additional revenues of $91 million in our construction services business and
an incremental $32 million in our infrastructure services and industrial operations businesses.

The adoption of IFRS 15 did not have a material effect on our other operations, and there was no material impact to our other
financial statement accounts as at and for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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Revenue Recognition Policies by Segment

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of'third parties. A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service (or a bundle of goods and
services) to the customer and is the unit of account in IFRS 15. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance
obligation and recognized as revenue, as, or when, the performance obligation is satisfied. The company recognizes revenue when
it transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

The company recognizes revenue from the following major sources:
Asset Management

The company’s primary asset management revenue streams, which include base management fees, incentive fees (including
incentive distributions and performance fees) and realized carried interest, are satisfied over time. A significant portion of our
asset management revenue is inter-segment in nature and thus eliminated on consolidation; that which survives is recorded as
revenue in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The company earns base management fees in accordance with contractual arrangements with our private funds, listed partnerships
and public securities’ investment vehicles. Fees are typically equal to a percentage of fee-bearing capital within the respective
fund or entity and are accrued quarterly. These fees are earned over the period of time that the management services are provided
and are allocated to the distinct services provided by the company during the reporting period.

Incentive distributions and performance fees are incentive payments to reward the company for meeting or exceeding certain
performance thresholds of managed entities. Incentive distributions, paid to us by our listed partnerships, are determined by
contractual arrangements and represent a portion of distributions paid by the listed partnerships above a predetermined hurdle.
They are accrued as revenue on the respective partnerships’ distribution record dates if that hurdle has been achieved. BBU pays
performance fees if the growth in its market value exceeds a predetermined threshold, with the value based on the quarterly volume-
weighted average price of publicly traded units. These fees are accrued on a quarterly basis subject to the performance of the
listed vehicle.

Carried interest is a performance fee arrangement in which we receive a percentage of investment returns, generated within a
private fund on carry eligible capital, based on a contractual formula. We are eligible to earn carried interest from a fund once
returns exceed the fund’s contractually defined performance hurdles at which point we earn an accelerated percentage of the
additional fund profit until we have earned the percentage of total fund profit, net of fees and expenses, to which we are entitled.
We defer recognition of carried interest as revenue until the fund’s cumulative returns exceed its preferred returns and when the
probability of clawback is remote, which is generally met when an underlying fund investment is profitably disposed of. Typically
carried interest is not recognized as revenue until the fund is near the end of its life.

Real Estate

Revenue from hospitality operations is generated by providing accommodation, food and beverage and leisure facilities to hotel
guests. Revenue from accommodation is recognized over the period that the guest stays at the hotel; food and beverage revenue
as well as revenue from leisure activities is recognized when goods and services are provided.

Real estate rental income is recognized in accordance with IAS 17, Leases. As the company retains substantially all the risks and
benefits of ownership of its investment properties, it accounts for leases with its tenants as operating leases and begins recognizing
revenue when the tenant has a right to use the leased asset. The total amount of contractual rent to be received from operating
leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease; a straight line or free rent receivable, as applicable, is
recorded as a component of investment property representing the difference between rental revenue recorded and the contractual
amount received. Percentage participating rents are recognized when tenants’ specified sales targets have been met.

Renewable Power

Revenue is earned by selling electricity sourced from our power generating facilities. It is derived from the output delivered and
capacity provided at rates specified under contract terms or at prevailing market rates if the sale is uncontracted. Performance
obligations are satisfied over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes benefits as we deliver electricity and
related products.
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We also sell power and related products under bundled arrangements. Energy, capacity and renewable credits within power purchase
agreements (“PPA”) are considered to be distinct performance obligations. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct
performance obligation and recognized as revenue over time as the performance obligation is satisfied. The sale of energy and
capacity are distinct goods that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer as measured by the output method.
Renewable credits are performance obligations satisfied at a point in time. Measurement of satisfaction and transfer of control to
the customer of renewable credits in a bundled arrangement coincides with the pattern of revenue recognition of the underlying
energy generation.

Infrastructure

Our infrastructure revenue is predominantly recognized over time as services are rendered. Performance obligations are satisfied
based on actual usage or throughput depending on the terms of the arrangement. Contract progress is determined using a cost-to-
cost input method. Any upfront payments that are separable from the recurring revenue are recognized over time for the period
the services are provided.

In addition, we have certain contracts where we earn revenue at a point in time when control of the product ultimately transfers
to the customer, which for our sustainable resources operations coincides with product delivery.

Private Equity

Revenue from our private equity operations primarily consists of: (i) sales of goods or products which are recognized as revenue
when the product is shipped and title passes to the customer; and (ii) the provision of services which are recognized as revenue over
the period of time that they are provided.

Revenuerecognized over a period of time is determined using the cost-to-cost input method to measure progress towards satisfaction
of the performance obligations as the work performed on the contracts creates or enhances an asset that is controlled by the
customer. A contract asset is recognized as costs are incurred and reclassified to accounts receivable when invoiced. A contract
liability is recognized if payments are received before work is completed. Variable consideration, such as claims, incentives and
variations resulting from contract modifications, is included in the transaction price when it is highly probable that such revenue
will not reverse, which is when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Residential

Revenue from residential land sales, sales of homes and the completion of residential condominium projects is recognized at the
point in time when our performance obligations are met. Performance obligations are satisfied when we transfer title over a product
to a customer and all material conditions of the sales contract have been met. If title of a property transfers but material future
developmentis required, revenue will be delayed until the point in time at which the remaining performance obligations are satisfied.

Corporate Activities and Other

Dividend and interest income from other financial assets are recognized as revenue when declared or on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 97).

Interest revenue from loans and notes receivable, less a provision for uncollectable amounts, is recorded on the accrual basis using
the effective interest method, in accordance with IFRS 9.

ii. Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 establishes principles for the financial reporting of financial assets and financial liabilities that will present relevant and
useful information to users of financial statements for their assessment of the amounts, timing and uncertainty of an entity’s future
cash flows. This new standard also includes new guidance which aligns hedge accounting more closely with risk management. It
does not fully change the types of hedging relationships or the requirement to measure and recognize ineffectiveness; however,
it allows more hedging strategies that are used for risk management purposes to qualify for hedge accounting. The company
adopted the standard on January 1, 2018 and applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, using transitional provisions that allowed the
company to notrestate prior period comparative information, recording an insignificant adjustment to opening equity. The company
has elected to use IFRS 9 hedge accounting. The standard is applied only to financial instruments held as at January 1, 2018.
Comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect
for those periods.
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Classification of Financial Instruments

The company classifies its financial assets as fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”) and amortized cost according to the company’s business objectives for managing the financial assets and
based on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The company classifies its financial liabilities as amortized
cost or FVTPL.

Financial instruments that are not held for the sole purpose of collecting contractual cash flows are classified as FVTPL and
are initially recognized at their fair value and are subsequently measured at fair value at each reporting date. Gains and losses
recorded on each revaluation date are recognized within net earnings. Transaction costs of financial assets classified as FVTPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets classified as FVTOCI are initially recognized at their fair value and are subsequently measured at fair value
at each reporting date. The cumulative gains or losses related to FVTOCI equity instruments are not reclassified to profit or
loss on disposal, whereas the cumulative gains or losses on all other FVTOCI assets are reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal, when there is a significant or prolonged decline in fair value or when the company acquires a controlling or significant
interest in the underlying investment and commences equity accounting or consolidating the investment. The cumulative
gains or losses on all FVTOCI liabilities are reclassified to profit or loss on disposal.

Financial instruments that are held for the purpose of collecting contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest are classified as amortized cost and are initially recognized at their fair value and are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Transaction costs of financial instruments classified as amortized cost
are capitalized and amortized in profit or loss on the same basis as the financial instrument.

Expected credit losses associated with debt instruments carried at amortized cost and FVOCI are assessed on a forward-looking
basis. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. Impairment
charges are recognized in profit or loss based on the expected credit loss model.

The following table presents the types of financial instruments held by the company within each financial instrument classification

under IAS 39 and IFRS 9:

Measurement
Financial Instrument Type IAS 39 IFRS 9
Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and receivables Amortized cost

Other financial assets

Government bonds

Corporate bonds

Fixed income securities and other
Common shares and warrants
Loan and notes receivable

Accounts receivable and other'

Financial Liabilities
Corporate borrowings
Property-specific borrowings
Subsidiary borrowings
Accounts payable and other'
Subsidiary equity obligations

1. Includes derivative instruments.

FVTPL, Available for sale
FVTPL, Available for sale
FVTPL, Available for sale
FVTPL, Available for sale
FVTPL, Loans and receivables
FVTPL, Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables
FVTPL, Loans and receivables
FVTPL, Loans and receivables

FVTPL, FVTOCI

FVTPL, FVTOCI

FVTPL, FVTOCI

FVTPL, FVTOCI

FVTPL, Amortized cost

FVTPL, FVTOCI, Amortized cost

Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
FVTPL, Amortized cost
FVTPL, Amortized cost
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Other Financial Assets

Other financial assets are recognized on their trade date and initially recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in
net income or other comprehensive income in accordance with their classification. Fair values of financial instruments are
determined by reference to quoted bid or ask prices, as appropriate. Where bid and ask prices are unavailable, the closing price
of the most recent transaction of that instrument is used.

Other financial assets also include loans and notes receivable which are recorded initially at fair value and, with the exception of
loans and notes receivable designated as FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method,
less any applicable provision for impairment. A provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the
company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Loans and receivables
designated as FVTPL are recorded at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded in net income in the period in which they arise.

Allowance for Credit Losses

For financial assets classified as amortized cost or debt instruments as FVTOCI, at each reporting period, the company assesses
if there has been a significant increase in credit risk since the asset was originated to determine if a 12-month expected credit loss
or a life-time expected credit loss should be recorded regardless of whether there has been an actual loss event. The company uses
unbiased, probability-weighted loss scenarios which consider multiple loss scenarios based on reasonable and supportable forecasts
in order to calculate the expected credit losses. These changes have not had a material impact on the company’s consolidated
financial statements as at January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2018.

The company assesses the carrying value of FVTOCI and amortized cost securities for impairment when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired such as when an asset is in default. Impaired financial assets continue to record life-time expected credit
losses; however interest revenue is calculated based on the net amortized carrying amount after deducting the loss allowance.
When objective evidence of impairment exists, losses arising from impairment are reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income to net income.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting

The company selectively utilizes derivative financial instruments primarily to manage financial risks, including interest rate,
commodity and foreign exchange risks. Derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value within the company’s
consolidated financial statements. Hedge accounting is applied when the derivative is designated as a hedge of a specific exposure
and there is assurance that it will continue to be effective as a hedge based on an expectation of offsetting cash flows or fair values.
Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the derivative no longer qualifies as a hedge or the hedging relationship is
terminated. Once discontinued, the cumulative change in fair value of a derivative that was previously recorded in other
comprehensive income by the application of hedge accounting is recognized in net income over the remaining term of the original
hedging relationship. The assets or liabilities relating to unrealized mark-to-market gains and losses on derivative financial
instruments are recorded in accounts receivable and other or accounts payable and other, respectively.

Items Classified as Hedges

Realized and unrealized gains and losses on foreign exchange contracts designated as hedges of currency risks relating to a net
investment in a subsidiary or an associate are included in equity. Gains or losses are reclassified into net income in the period in
which the subsidiary or associate is disposed of or to the extent that the hedges are ineffective. Where a subsidiary is partially
disposed, and control is retained, any associated gains or costs are reclassified within equity to ownership changes. Derivative
financial instruments that are designated as hedges to offset corresponding changes in the fair value of assets and liabilities and
cash flows are measured at their estimated fair value with changes in fair value recorded in net income or as a component of equity,
as applicable. Unrealized gains and losses on interest rate contracts designated as hedges of future variable interest payments are
included in equity as a cash flow hedge when the interest rate risk relates to an anticipated variable interest payment. The periodic
exchanges of payments on interest rate swap contracts designated as hedges of debt are recorded on an accrual basis as an adjustment
to interest expense. The periodic exchanges of payments on interest rate contracts designated as hedges of future interest payments
are amortized into net income over the term of the corresponding interest payments. Unrealized gains and losses on electricity
contracts designated as cash flow hedges of future power generation revenue are included in equity as a cash flow hedge.
The periodic exchanges of payments on power generation commodity swap contracts designated as hedges are recorded on a
settlement basis as an adjustment to power generation revenue.

Certain hedge accounting relationships relating to aggregated foreign currency exposures qualify for hedge accounting under this
new standard and the company has completed the hedge documentation for these relationships in order to apply hedge accounting
to these relationships prospectively, commencing on January 1, 2018.
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Items Not Classified as Hedges

Derivative financial instruments that are not designated as hedges are carried at their estimated fair value, and gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value are recognized in net income in the period in which the change occurs. Realized and unrealized
gains and losses on equity derivatives used to offset changes in share prices in respect of vested deferred share units and restricted
share units are recorded together with the corresponding compensation expense. Realized and unrealized gains on other derivatives
not designated as hedges are recorded in revenues, direct costs or corporate costs, as applicable. Realized and unrealized gains
and losses on derivatives which are considered economic hedges, and where hedge accounting is not able to be elected, are recorded
in fair value changes in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

iii. Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (“IFRIC 22”) clarifies that the date of foreign currency
transactions for purposes of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or
part thereof) is the date on which an entity initially recognizes the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
payment or receipt of advance consideration. The interpretation is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and
may be applied either retrospectively or prospectively. The company adopted the standard using the prospective approach, and there
is no material impact.

¢) Future Changes in Accounting Standards
i. Leases

In January 2016, the IASB published a new standard: IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”). Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a
lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. For leasees,
the new standard brings most leases on balance sheet, eliminating the distinction between operating and finance leases. While
adopting IFRS 16 will not impact underlying cash flows, there is expected to be a change in the timing and classification of items
reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as operating expenses for leases will be presented as interest expense (to
adjust the value of the lease liability) and amortization expense (to adjust the value of the right-of-use asset). Right-of-use assets
will be tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of assets. This will replace the previous requirement to
recognize a provision for onerous lease contracts. Lessor accounting, however, remains largely unchanged and the distinction
between operating and finance leases is retained. IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations and is effective
for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.

Management has substantially completed its assessment of existing contractual arrangements in order to identify the population
of leases that will be capitalized under the new standard. Management has also calculated the present value of the identified
obligations by determining the appropriate incremental borrowing rates for each contract. At this time, management has nearly
finalized the documented analysis and assessment of the potential impact to IT systems and internal controls and has drafted a
preliminary version of the disclosures required by the new standard. Prior to adopting the standard in the first quarter of 2019,
management needs to complete its assessment of leases held by certain consolidated subsidiaries acquired in the fourth
quarter of 2018.

We will be adopting IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach which will result in a one-time adjustment to opening
equity as of January 1, 2019 as if the standard had always been in effect; comparative periods will not be restated. We will be
applying certain practical expedients and transition reliefs as permitted by the standard; specifically we have elected to apply
practical expedients associated with short-term and low value leases that allow the company to record operating expenses on such
leases on a straight-line basis without having to capitalize the lease arrangement. The adoption of IFRS 16 is expected to result
in the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately $3 billion as at January 1, 2019, excluding the impact
relating to the subsidiaries for which the assessment is in progress; the equity impact is not expected to be material.

ii. Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments

In June 2017, the IASB published IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”), effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The interpretation requires an entity to assess whether it is probable that a tax authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be used, by an entity in its income tax filings and to exercise judgment
in determining whether each tax treatment should be considered independently or whether some tax treatments should be considered
together. The decision should be based on which approach provides better predictions of the resolution of the uncertainty. An
entity also has to consider whether it is probable that the relevant authority will accept each tax treatment, or group of tax treatments,
assuming that the taxation authority with the right to examine any amounts reported to it will examine those amounts and will
have full knowledge of all relevant information when doing so. The interpretation may be applied on either a fully retrospective
basis or a modified retrospective basis without restatement of comparative information. The company does not expect a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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iii. Business Combinations

In October 2018, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”), effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2020. The amendment clarifies the definition of a business and assists companies in determining
whether an acquisition is a business combination or an acquisition of a group of assets. The amendment emphasizes that the output
of a business is to provide goods and services to customers and also provide supplementary guidance. The company will adopt
the standard prospectively and is currently evaluating the impact on its consolidated financial statements.

d) Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.
i. Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the company and its subsidiaries, which are the entities over which
the company exercises control. Control exists when the company is able to exercise power over the investee, is exposed to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its
returns. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control is obtained and continue to be consolidated until the date when control
is lost. The company includes 100% of its subsidiaries’ revenues and expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
100% of its subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with non-controlling interests in the equity of
the company’s subsidiaries included within the company’s equity. All intercompany balances, transactions, unrealized gains and
losses are eliminated in full.

The company continually reassesses whether or not it controls an investee, particularly if facts and circumstances indicate there
is a change to one or more of the control criteria previously mentioned. In certain circumstances when the company has less than
a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the company’s voting rights are sufficient to give it control of an investee.

Certain of the company’s subsidiaries are subject to profit sharing arrangements, such as carried interest, between the company
and the non-controlling equity holders, whereby the company is entitled to a participation in profits, as determined under the
agreements. The attribution of net income amongst equity holders in these subsidiaries reflects the impact of these profit sharing
arrangements when the attribution of profits as determined in the agreement is no longer subject to adjustment based on future
events and correspondingly reduces non-controlling interests’ attributable share of those profits.

Gains or losses resulting from changes in the company’s ownership interest of a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control
are accounted for as equity transactions and are recorded within ownership changes as a component of equity. When we dispose
ofall or part of a subsidiary resulting in a loss of control, the difference between the carrying value of what is sold and the proceeds
from disposition is recognized within other income and gains in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Refer to Note 2(p) for an explanation of the company’s accounting policy for business combinations and to Note 4 for additional
information on subsidiaries of the company with significant non-controlling interests.

ii. Associates and Joint Ventures

Associates are entities over which the company exercises significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but without control or joint control over those policies. Joint ventures
are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have the rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control over an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The company accounts for associates and
joint ventures using the equity method of accounting within equity accounted investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method are initially recognized at cost. At the time of
initial recognition, if the cost of the associate or joint venture is lower than the proportionate share of the investment’s underlying
fair value, the company records a gain on the difference between the cost and the underlying fair value of the investment in net
income. If the cost of the associate or joint venture is greater than the company’s proportionate share of the underlying fair value,
goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the carrying value of the company’s interest in an associate or joint venture is adjusted for the company’s share of
comprehensive income and distributions of the investee. Profit and losses resulting from transactions with an associate or joint
venture are recognized in the consolidated financial statements based on the interests of unrelated investors in the investee. The
carrying value of associates or joint ventures is assessed for impairment at each balance sheet date. Impairment losses on equity
accounted investments may be subsequently reversed in net income. Further information on the impairment of long-lived assets
is available in Note 2(m).
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iii. Joint Operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, related to the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of parties sharing control.
The company recognizes only its assets, liabilities and share of the results of operations of the joint operation. The assets, liabilities
and results of joint operations are included within the respective line items of the Consolidated Balance Sheets, Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

e) Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. dollar is the functional and presentation currency of the company. Each of the company’s subsidiaries, associates, joint
ventures and joint operations determines its own functional currency and items included in the consolidated financial statements
of each subsidiary, associate, joint venture and joint operation are measured using that functional currency.

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations having a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar are translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and revenues and expenses at average rates during the period. Gains or losses on translation
are accumulated as a component of equity. On the disposal of a foreign operation, or the loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, the component of accumulated other comprehensive income relating to that foreign operation is reclassified to net
income. Gains or losses on foreign currency denominated balances and transactions that are designated as hedges of net investments
in these operations are reported in the same manner.

Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities of the company are translated using the rate of exchange prevailing
atthe reporting date and non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the date when the fair value was determined. Revenues and expenses are measured at average rates during the period. Gains or
losses on translation of these items are included in net income. Gains or losses on transactions which hedge these items are also
included in net income. Foreign currency denominated non-monetary assets and liabilities, measured at historic cost, are translated
at the rate of exchange at the transaction date.

f) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and highly liquid short-term investments with original maturities
of three months or less.

g) Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of operations, the company enters into various transactions on market terms with related parties. The majority
of transactions with related parties are between consolidated entities and eliminate on consolidation. The company and its
subsidiaries may also transact with entities over which the company has significant influence or joint control. Amounts owed to
and by associates and joint ventures are not eliminated on consolidation. The company’s subsidiaries with significant non-
controlling interests are described in Note 4 and its associates and joint ventures are described in Note 10.

In addition to our subsidiaries and equity accounted investments, we consider key management personnel, the Board of Directors
and material shareholders to be related parties. See additional details in Note 28.

h) Operating Assets
i. Investment Properties

The company uses the fair value method to account for real estate classified as investment properties. A property is determined
to be an investment property when it is principally held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation, or both. Investment
properties also include properties that are under development or redevelopment for future use as investment property.
Investment properties are initially measured at cost including transaction costs, or at fair value if acquired in a business combination.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
are included in net income during the period in which they arise.

Fair values are completed by undertaking one of two accepted approaches: (i) discounting the expected future cash flows, generally
over a term of 10 years including a terminal value based on the application of a capitalization rate to estimated year 11 cash flows,
typically used for our office, retail and logistics assets; or (ii) undertaking a direct capitalization approach for certain of our LP
investments and directly held multifamily assets whereby a capitalization rate is applied to estimated current year cash flows. The
future cash flows of each property are based upon, among other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about
rental income from future leases reflecting current conditions, less future cash outflows relating to such current and future leases.
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Commercial developments are also measured using a discounted cash flow model, net of costs to complete, as of the balance sheet
date. Development sites in the planning phases are measured using comparable market values for similar assets.

ii. Property, Plant and Equipment

The company uses the revaluation method of accounting for certain classes of property, plant and equipment as well as certain
assets which are under development for future use as property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment measured
using the revaluation method is initially measured at cost, or at fair value if acquired in a business combination, and subsequently
carried at its revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed on an annual basis at the end of each fiscal year, commencing
in the first year subsequent to the date of acquisition, unless there is an indication that assets are impaired. Where the carrying
amount of an asset increases as a result of a revaluation, the increase is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity in revaluation surplus, unless the increase reverses a previously recognized impairment recorded through net income, in
which case that portion of the increase is recognized in net income.

Where the carrying amount of an asset decreases, the decrease is recognized in other comprehensive income to the extent of any
balance existing in revaluation surplus in respect of the asset, with the remainder of the decrease recognized in net income.
Depreciation of an asset commences when it is available for use. On loss of control or partial disposition of an asset measured
using the revaluation method, all accumulated revaluation surplus or the portion disposed of, respectively, is transferred into
retained earnings or ownership changes, respectively.

Property, plant and equipment held in our Private Equity segment is measured at cost. Land is carried at cost whereas finite-life
assets such as buildings and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Depreciation is calculated on a systematic basis over the assets’ useful life.

Depreciation methods and useful lives are reassessed at least annually regardless of the measurement method used.
Renewable Power

Renewable power generating assets, including assets under development, are classified as property, plant and equipment and are
accounted for using the revaluation method. The company determines the fair value of its renewable power generating assets using
discounted cash flow analysis, which includes estimates of forecasted revenue, operating costs, maintenance and other capital
expenditures. Discount rates are selected for each facility giving consideration to the expected proportion of contracted to
uncontracted revenue and markets into which power is sold.

For perpetual assets, such as many of our hydroelectric facilities, the first 20 years of cash flow are discounted with a residual
value based on the terminal value cash flows. For assets with finite lives, which include wind and solar farms, the company
discounts projected cash flows over the assets’ estimated remaining service lives. The fair value and estimated remaining service
lives are reassessed on an annual basis.

Depreciation on renewable power generating assets is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated service lives of the
assets, which are as follows:

(YEARS) Useful Lives
Upto 115

Up to 60

Upto 115

Hydroelectric SeNETating UNIS...........ccccvivieirieeietiietietetietese ettt ettt ese b e te s esessessesesseseesessesessessesessesessessesessessesessesesesessess Upto 115
WiNA ENETALINE UNIES .....uieuieiieiieieitestesteeteeteeteetteteestetestessessesseeteessessessessassessessessseseeseessessessessassassessesssassessessessessassessessessens Upto 41
SOLAT GENETALING UNILS ......ccveevievievieteeeieieetee et e et et eteete et ete et e eteeteeteeseeteessessessesseseeseesseseeseessessessenseseseeseessensensensessessesseereens Up to 30
OFNET @SSELS .....ouvcvivieieteteeeet ettt ettt ettt e sttt bese e b e s ese b e s e et esseseesessesesseseesessesessese s esses e s essesessesessessesessesesseseesesseseesesaerennas Up to 60

Cost is allocated to the significant components of power generating assets and each component is depreciated separately.
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The depreciation of property, plant and equipment in our Brazilian renewable power operations is based on the duration of
the authorization or the useful life of a concession. The weighted-average remaining duration at December 31, 2018 is 29 years
(2017 — 15 years). Land rights are included as part of the concession or authorization and are subject to depreciation. In June of
2018, the federal government of Brazil provided further clarification to a law that was passed in 2016, which resulted in
Brookfield Renewable including a one-time thirty year concession renewal period in the valuation of certain of its hydroelectric
facilities in Brazil.

Infrastructure

Utilities, transport, communication and energy assets within our infrastructure operations as well as assets under development
classified as property, plant and equipment on the Consolidated Balance Sheets are accounted for using the revaluation method.
The company determines the fair value of its utilities, transport, energy and data infrastructure assets using discounted cash flow
analyses, which include estimates of forecasted revenue, operating costs, maintenance and other capital expenditures. Valuations
are performed internally on an annual basis. Discount rates are selected for each asset, giving consideration to the volatility and
geography of its revenue streams.

Depreciation on utilities, transport, energy and data infrastructure assets is calculated on a straight-line or declining balance basis
over the estimated service lives of the components of the assets, which are as follows:

(YEARS) Useful Lives
BUILAINES ...ttt ettt ettt b st be st et e b ese et e s e s e b e s e ese s ese b e st es e s e s e s e s b et e b esses e st ese b es st et ene s eneete s eneerens Up to 75
Transmission stations, tOWers and related FIXTUIES ..........coouiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt et e e s ae e s aeeesaaeesaeesneeas Up to 40
Leasehold IMPIOVEIMENLS .........cc.ccviiviiiiirierictieteeteetet et eeteeteeteeteeteereeteesseseseeseeseeseeseeseessessensensensesseeseessersessessensensesesseaseeseas Up to 50
Plant and SQUIPIMIENL............c.ccieuiieiiiieietitete ettt ettt ettt e te s eseebeseese s esessessesesseseesesses e seseesessesessessesesseseesessesesesessens Up to 40
INEEWOTK SYSTEIIIS ......vitiiiieetieteetteitete sttt eeteete e st e st estessesbesbesteeteeseeseeseessessassassasseeseessessessessessessassasesseeseeseessessessansansansensensas Up to 65
TTACK ..ttt ettt ettt et ettt et e b e et e et e et e eae e bttt ettt et et e ebe et e eaeersessertent et et e eteeteebeeaeeaseatent et eteereereereens Up to 40
DISHIICE ENEIZY SYSTEIMIS .....viuvivitieietiieitetietete st eeeetesteteesestetesseseeseseesesseseesessesessesessessesesseseesessesesessesessesessessesessessssassesessesessens Up to 50
(GAS STOTAZE ASSCLS ...euviiviitieeietieteteteeteeteeteeteeteessessessessessesseaseeseeseessessassassassassasseeseessessessessessessessessasseeseeseessassessansassasessessenns Up to 50

The fair value and the estimated remaining service lives are reassessed annually.

Public service concessions that provide the right to charge users for a service in which the service and fee is regulated by the
grantor are accounted for as intangible assets.

In our sustainable resources operations, land used in the production of standing timber, as well as bridges and roads used in
sustainable resources production, are accounted for using the revaluation method and included in property, plant and equipment.
Bridges, roads and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives, generally 3 to 30 years.

Real Estate — Hospitality Assets

Hospitality operating assets within our real estate operations are classified as property, plant and equipment and are accounted for
using the revaluation method. The company determines the fair value for these assets by using a depreciated replacement cost
method based on the age, physical condition and the construction costs of the assets. Fair value of hospitality properties are also
reviewed in reference to each hospitality asset’s enterprise value which is determined using a discounted cash flow model.

Depreciation on hotel assets is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of the asset
as follows:

(YEARS) Useful Lives
Buildings and IMPIOVEIMENLS .............c.ccvieuiiiiirieriereetieteteeteeteeteeteeteeteetsessessesessessesseeseeseeseessessesessessassesseessessessessessessessessens Up to 45
EQUIPMENT ANA FIXEUTES .......veevieviceiceeeececcee ettt ettt et ettt eteeae et e s e eseeseeseeseeseeseessensenseseeseeseessessersensensensensenseeseas Up to 20
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Private Equity

The company accounts for its private equity property, plant and equipment using the cost model. Costs include expenditures that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation of an asset commences when it is available for use. PP&E is
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of the asset as follows:

(YEARS) Useful Lives
BUILAINES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et et e e teeteeteeaseaseasens e s eebeeseeseereereeaeentens et et eeteeteeaeersersensensenerenteereas Up to 50
Leasehold IMPIrOVEIMENTS ............c.civieuierieieriieeieteseetise ettt ettt ese et te b e seebessese s essesesseseesessesessessesessesessessesessesesseseeseseasessenis Up to 40
Machinery and SQUIPITIEIIL ..........cc.ccveviiiiiiieitieteeteeteettett et et et e eteeteeteeteessessessessesessesseeseeseeseessessensassasassesseessessessessassessenseseas Up to 20
Oil and gas related equipment . Upto 10
VS SCIS .. euviiieiietietetet et et et et et et e et et e s te et e st e et e ese et e e st e st e s b e b e b e ab e ek e e st et s e Rt esten s en b e teRe Rt Rt eReeReestenten b e b et e ate et e eseesteneensensesesens Up to 35

Oil and natural gas pre-licensing costs incurred before the legal right to explore a specific area have been obtained are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Once the legal right to explore has been acquired and development and exploration costs
commence, attributable costs are capitalized. The net carrying value of oil and gas properties is depleted using a unit-of-production
method based on estimated proved, plus probable oil and natural gas reserves.

iii. Inventory

Private Equity

Fuel inventories within our Private Equity segment are traded in active markets and are purchased with the view to resell in the
near future, generating a profit from fluctuations in prices or margins. As a result, fuel inventories are carried at market value by
reference to prices in a quoted active market, in accordance with the commodity broker-trader exemption granted by IAS 2,
Inventories. Changes in fair value less costs to sell are recognized in direct costs. Fuel products that are held for extended periods
in order to benefit from future anticipated increases in fuel prices or located in territories where no active market exists are
recognized at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Products and chemicals used in the production of biofuels are valued at
the lower of cost and net realizable value.

Real Estate

Residential development lots, homes and residential condominium projects are recorded in inventory. Residential development
lots are recorded at the lower of cost, which includes pre-development expenditures and capitalized borrowing costs and net
realizable value, which the company determines as the estimated selling price of the inventory in the ordinary course of business
in its completed state, less estimated expenses, including holding costs, costs to complete and costs to sell.

Homes and other properties held for sale, which include properties subject to sale agreements, are recorded at the lower of cost
and net realizable value in inventory. Costs are allocated to the salable acreage of each project or subdivision in proportion to the
anticipated revenue.

Residential Development

Inventories consist of land held for development, land under development, homes under construction, completed homes and model
homes. In addition to direct land acquisitions, land development and improvement costs and home construction costs, costs also
include interest, real estate taxes and direct overhead related to development and construction, which are capitalized to inventory
during the period beginning with the commencement of development and ending with the completion of construction or
development. Indirect costs are allocated to homes or lots based on the number of units in a community.

Land and housing assets are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value, which the company determines as the estimated
selling price of the inventory in the ordinary course of business in its completed state, less estimated expenses, including holding
costs, costs to complete and costs to sell.

Sustainable Resources

Harvested timber is included in inventory and is measured at the lower of fair value less estimated costs to sell at the time of
harvest and net realizable value.
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iv. Sustainable Resources — Standing Timber and Other Agricultural Assets

Sustainable resources consist of standing timber and other agricultural assets and are measured at fair value after deducting the
estimated selling costs and are recorded in accounts receivable and other on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Estimated selling
costs include commissions, levies, delivery costs, transfer taxes and duties. The fair value of standing timber is calculated using
the present value of anticipated future cash flows for standing timber before tax and terminal dates of 30 years. Fair value is
determined based on felling plans, assessments regarding growth, timber prices and felling and silviculture costs. Changes in fair
value are recorded in net income in the period of change. The company determines fair value of its standing timber using external
valuations on an annual basis.

i) Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the company takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.

Fair value measurement is disaggregated into three hierarchical levels: Level 1, 2 or 3. Fair value hierarchical levels are directly
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurement are observable. The levels are as follows:

Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level 1) are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability
through correlation with market data at the measurement date and for the duration of the asset or liability’s anticipated
life.

Level 3 — Inputs are unobservable and reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and
the risk inherent in the inputs in determining the estimate.

Referto the investment properties and revaluation of property, plant and equipment explanations for the approach taken to determine
the fair value of these operating assets.

Further information on fair value measurements is available in Notes 6, 7, 11 and 12.
j) Accounts Receivable

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less an allowance for expected credit losses for uncollectability.

k) Intangible Assets

Finite life intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses and are
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortization is recorded within depreciation and amortization
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Certain of the company’s intangible assets have an indefinite life as there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset
is expected to generate cash flows. Indefinite life intangible assets are recorded at cost unless an impairment is identified which
requires a write-down to its recoverable amount.

Indefinite life intangible assets are evaluated for impairment annually or more often if events or circumstances indicate there may
be an impairment. Any impairment of the company’s indefinite life intangible assets is recorded in net income in the period in
which the impairment is identified. Impairment losses on intangible assets may be subsequently reversed in net income.

Infrastructure

Intangible assets within our Infrastructure segment primarily consist of service concession arrangements that are accounted for
as intangible assets under IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (“IFRIC 12”). Concession arrangements were mostly
acquired through acquisitions of gas transmission, terminal and toll road businesses and are amortized on a straight line basis over
the term of the arrangement.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT 136



The intangible asset at the Australian regulated terminal operation relates to use of a specific coal port terminal for a contractual
length of time and is amortized over the life of the contractual arrangement with 82 years remaining on a straight-line basis. The
intangible assets at the Brazilian regulated gas transmission operation relate to pipeline concession contracts, amortized on a
straight-line basis over the life of the contractual arrangement. The intangible assets at the Chilean, Indian and Peruvian toll roads
relate to the right to operate a road and charge users a specified tariff for a contractual length of time and is amortized over the
life of the contractual arrangement with an average of 15, 15 and 24 years remaining, respectively.

Refer to Note 13 of the consolidated financial statements for additional information on these concession arrangements.

The intangible assets at our residential infrastructure operation comprise contractual customer relationships, customer contracts,
proprietary technology and brands. The contractual customer relationships and customer contracts represent ongoing economic
benefits from leasing customers and annuity-based management agreements. Proprietary technology is recognized for the
development of new metering technology, which allows the business to generate revenue through its sub-metering business. Brands
represent the intrinsic value customers place on the operation’s various brand names. Brands are classified as having an indefinite
life and are subject to annual impairment reviews. The remaining intangible assets are amortized straight-line over 10 to 20 years.

Private Equity

Our private equity operations include intangible assets across a number of operating companies. The majority are finite life
intangibles with the following useful lives:

(YEARS) Useful Lives
Water and SEWage CONCESSION AZTCCIMECIILS. ..........ceeuveeerrerreereereereereereesseseseeseeseeseeseeseeseessessesensesseeseessessessessessesessessessessens Up to 40
BIANA NAIMNIES .....vcuiiniiiiiiciieieeeeeet ettt ettt ettt e st et et e besbeebeeseeseessessessessassessesseeseeseeseessessessessassaseaseesseseessessessensensensens Up to 20
COMPULET SOTEWATE.........evicvietieeieiicicteeteet et ettt ettt et et et e et e eteeteebeeseessessessessassabeeseetsessessessessessensenseseaseeseessesseasensensensesseans Upto 10
CUSTOMET TEIATIONSIIPS ......veeviiviieieerciceieete ettt ettt ettt et et et eete et et et et e seeseeteeseessessesseseensensenseeseeseeseeseessensensensesenseereens Up to 30
Patents and trad@MATKS ............ccecieiieriiiiiiiescceeeeeetet ettt et e ettt e b et et e s te st e reeteese e st e st et e b e b eebeateeteeteeseeseessensesebens Up to 40
Proprietary tECRNOLOZY ..........ceiiiiiieieieete ettt ettt ettt et b et e st e et e e teeaeese e st ess e b et e beebeeteeteeteessensenbenseteteas Upto 15
Product AEVEIOPIMENT COSES ......c..iviiriirierierieriereeteeteett et et et e et e eteeteeteeaeesseseesseeseeseeseeseeseeseeseessensensenseeseeseessessersensensennenseaseaseas Upto5
DISIIDUION NEEWOTKS ...iutitieiieiicieieiestese ettt ettt s b et e teeteetaesaesbesb e besbessesseeseeseessessessessassasseaseeseessessessessessansarsens Up to 25
LOYALEY PIOGIAIN ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e et e e beeteeteetsessessessebeeseeseeseeseeseessessensensensesseeaeessessensensersessenseseas Upto 15

Real Estate

Intangible assets in our real estate segment are primarily trademarks associated with hospitality assets. These assets have
indefinite lives.

1) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the price paid for the acquisition of an entity over the fair value of the net identifiable tangible
and intangible assets and liabilities acquired. Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating unit to which it relates. The company
identifies cash-generating units as identifiable groups of assets that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets.

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment annually or more often if events or circumstances indicate there may be an impairment.
Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing if the carrying value of a cash-generating unit, including the allocated goodwill,
exceeds itsrecoverable amount determined as the greater of the estimated fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. Impairment
losses recognized in respect of a cash-generating unit are first allocated to the carrying value of goodwill and any excess is allocated
to the carrying amount of assets in the cash-generating unit. Any goodwill impairment is recorded in income in the period in which
the impairment is identified. Impairment losses on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. On disposal of a subsidiary, any
attributable amount of goodwill is included in determination of the gain or loss on disposal.
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m) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

At each balance sheet date or more often if events or circumstances indicate there may be impairment, the company assesses
whether its assets, other than those measured at fair value with changes in value recorded in net income, have any indication of
impairment. An impairment is recognized if the recoverable amount, determined as the higher of the estimated fair value less costs
of disposal and the discounted future cash flows generated from use and eventual disposal from an asset or cash-generating unit,
is less than their carrying value. Impairment losses are recorded as fair value changes within the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. The projections of future cash flows take into account the relevant operating plans and management’s best estimate
of the most probable set of conditions anticipated to prevail. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the lesser of the revised estimate of its recoverable amount and the carrying
amount that would have been recorded had no impairment loss been recognized previously.

n) Subsidiary Equity Obligations

Subsidiary equity obligations include subsidiary preferred equity units, subsidiary preferred shares and capital securities as well
as limited-life funds and redeemable fund units.

Subsidiary preferred equity units and capital securities are preferred shares that may be settled by a variable number of common
equity units upon their conversion by the holders or the company. These instruments, as well as the related accrued distributions,
are classified as liabilities at amortized cost on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Dividends or yield distributions on these
instruments are recorded as interest expense. To the extent conversion features are not closely related to the underlying liability
the instruments are bifurcated into debt and equity components.

Limited-life funds represent the interests of others in the company’s consolidated funds that have a defined maximum fixed life
where the company has an obligation to distribute the residual interests of the fund to fund partners based on their proportionate
share of the fund’s equity in the form of cash or other financial assets at cessation of the fund’s life.

Redeemable fund units represent interests of others in consolidated subsidiaries that have a redemption feature that requires the
company to deliver cash or other financial assets to the holders of the units upon receiving a redemption notice.

Limited-life funds and redeemable fund units are classified as liabilities and recorded at fair value within subsidiary equity
obligations on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the fair value are recorded in net income in the period of the change.

0) Income Taxes

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be paid to tax authorities, net of recoveries, based
on the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Current and deferred income tax relating to
items recognized directly in equity are also recognized in equity. Deferred income tax liabilities are provided for using the liability
method on temporary differences between the tax bases and carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax assets
are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and for the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to
the extent that it is probable that deductions, tax credits and tax losses can be utilized. The carrying amount of deferred income
tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the income tax assets will
be recovered. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year
when the asset is realized or the liability settled, based on the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date.

p) Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of a business acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values at the date of exchange of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued
in exchange for control of the acquiree. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognized at
their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets that are classified as held for sale which are recognized and
measured at fair value less costs to sell. The interest of non-controlling shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the
non-controlling shareholders’ proportion of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognized.

To the extent the fair value of consideration paid exceeds the fair value of the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets, the
excess is recorded as goodwill. To the extent the fair value of consideration paid is less than the fair value of net identifiable
tangible and intangible assets, the excess is recognized in net income.
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When a business combination is achieved in stages, previously held interests in the acquired entity are re-measured to fair value
at the acquisition date, which is the date control is obtained, and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in net income,
other than amounts transferred directly to retained earnings. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to net income. Transaction costs are
recorded as an expense within fair value changes in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

q) Other Items

i. Capitalized Costs

Capitalized costs related to assets under development and redevelopment include all eligible expenditures incurred in connection
with the acquisition, development and construction of the asset until it is available for its intended use. These expenditures consist
of costs that are directly attributable to these assets.

Borrowing costs are capitalized when such costs are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that takes a substantial period of time to prepare for its intended use.

ii. Share-based Payments

The company issues share-based awards to certain employees and non-employee directors. The cost of equity-settled share-based
transactions, comprised of share options, restricted shares and escrowed shares, is determined as the fair value of the award on
the grant date using a fair value model. The cost of equity-settled share-based transactions is recognized as each tranche vests and
is recorded in contributed surplus as a component of equity. The cost of cash-settled share-based transactions, comprised of
Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”) and Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”), is measured as the fair value at the grant date, and expensed
on a proportionate basis consistent with the vesting features over the vesting period with the recognition of a corresponding liability.
The liability is recorded as a provision within accounts payable and other and measured at each reporting date at fair value with
changes in fair value recognized in net income.

iii. Provisions

A provision is a liability of uncertain timing that is recognized when the company has a present obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. The company’s significant provisions consist of pensions and other long-term and post-employment
benefits, warranties on some products or services, obligations to retire or decommission tangible long-lived assets and the cost of
legal claims arising in the normal course of operations.

a. Pensions and Other Post-Employment Benefits

The company offers pension and other post-employment benefit plans to employees of certain of its subsidiaries, with certain of
these subsidiaries offering defined benefit plans. Defined benefit pension expenses, which include the current year’s service cost,
are included in direct costs. For each defined benefit plan, we recognize the present value of our defined benefit obligations less
the fair value of the plan assets as a defined benefit liability reported in accounts payable and other on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The company’s obligations under its defined benefit pension plans are determined periodically through the preparation of
actuarial valuations.

b. Other Long-Term Incentive Plans

The company provides long-term incentive plans to certain employees whereby the company allocates a portion of the amounts
realized through subsidiary profit sharing agreements to its employees. The cost of these plans is recognized over the requisite
service period, provided it is probable that the vesting conditions will be achieved, based on the underlying subsidiary profit
sharing arrangement. The liability is recorded within accounts payable and other and measured at each reporting date with the
corresponding expense recognized in direct costs.

c. Warranties, Asset Retirement, Legal and Other

Certain consolidated entities offer warranties on the sale of products or services. A provision is recorded to provide for future
warranty costs based on management’s best estimate of probable warranty claims.

Certain consolidated entities have legal obligations to retire tangible long-lived assets. A provision is recorded at each reporting
date to provide for the estimated fair value of the asset retirement obligation upon decommissioning of the asset period.
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In the normal course of operations, the company may become involved in legal proceedings. Management analyzes information
about these legal matters and provides provisions for probable contingent losses, including estimated legal expenses to resolve
the matters. Internal and external legal counsel are used in order to estimate the probability of an unfavorable outcome and the
amount of loss.

r) Critical Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the carried amounts of
certain assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
recorded during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

In making estimates and judgments, management relies on external information and observable conditions, where possible,
supplemented by internal analysis as required. These estimates and judgments have been applied in a manner consistent with prior
periods and there are no known trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that the company believes will materially affect the
methodology or assumptions utilized in making estimates and judgments in these consolidated financial statements.

i. Critical Estimates

The significant estimates used in determining the recorded amount for assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
include the following:

a. Investment Properties

The critical assumptions and estimates used when determining the fair value of commercial properties are: the timing of rental
income from future leases reflecting current market conditions, less assumptions of future cash costs in respect of current and
future leases; maintenance and other capital expenditures; discount rates; terminal capitalization rates; and terminal valuation
dates. Properties under development are recorded at fair value using a discounted cash flow model which includes estimates in
respect of the timing and cost to complete the development.

Further information on investment property estimates is provided in Note 11.
b.  Revaluation Method for Property, Plant and Equipment

When determining the carrying value of property, plant and equipment using the revaluation method, the company uses the
following critical assumptions and estimates: the timing of forecasted revenues; future sales prices and associated expenses; future
sales volumes; future regulatory rates; maintenance and other capital expenditures; discount rates; terminal capitalization rates;
terminal valuation dates; useful lives; and residual values. Determination of the fair value of property, plant and equipment under
development includes estimates in respect of the timing and cost to complete the development.

Further information on estimates used in the revaluation method for property, plant and equipment is provided in Note 12.
c. Financial Instruments

Estimates and assumptions used in determining the fair value of financial instruments are: equity and commodity prices; future
interest rates; the credit worthiness of the company relative to its counterparties; the credit risk of the company’s counterparties;
estimated future cash flows; the amount of the liability and equity components of compound financial instruments; discount rates
and volatility utilized in option valuations.

Further information on estimates used in determining the carrying value of financial instruments is provided in Notes 6, 25 and 26.
d. Inventory

The company estimates the net realizable value of its inventory using estimates and assumptions about future development costs,
costs to hold and future selling costs.

e. Sustainable Resources

The fair value of standing timber and agricultural assets is based on the following estimates and assumptions: the timing of
forecasted revenues and prices; estimated selling costs; sustainable felling plans; growth assumptions; silviculture costs; discount
rates; terminal capitalization rates; and terminal valuation dates.
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f. Other

Other estimates and assumptions utilized in the preparation of the company’s consolidated financial statements are: the assessment
or determination of net recoverable amount; oil and gas reserves; depreciation and amortization rates and useful lives; estimation
of recoverable amounts of cash-generating units for impairment assessments of goodwill and intangible assets; ability to utilize tax
losses and other tax measurements; fair value of assets held as collateral and the percentage of completion for construction contracts.

ii. Critical Judgments

Management is required to make critical judgments when applying its accounting policies. The following judgments have the
most significant effect on the consolidated financial statements:

a. Control or Level of Influence

When determining the appropriate basis of accounting for the company’s investees, the company makes judgments about the
degree of influence that it exerts directly or through an arrangement over the investees’ relevant activities. This may include
the ability to elect investee directors or appoint management. Control is obtained when the company has the power to direct the
relevant investing, financing and operating decisions of an entity and does so in its capacity as principal of the operations, rather
than as an agent for other investors. Operating as a principal includes having sufficient capital at risk in any investee and exposure
to the variability of the returns generated as a result of the decisions of the company as principal. Judgment is used in determining
the sufficiency of the capital at risk or variability of returns. In making these judgments, the company considers the ability of other
investors to remove the company as a manager or general partner in a controlled partnership.

b. Investment Properties

When applying the company’s accounting policy for investment properties, judgment is applied in determining whether certain
costs are additions to the carrying amount of the property and, for properties under development, identifying the point at which
practical completion of the property occurs and identifying the directly attributable borrowing costs to be included in the carrying
value of the development property.

c. Property, Plant and Equipment

The company’s accounting policy for its property, plant and equipment requires critical judgments over the assessment of carrying
value, whether certain costs are additions to the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as opposed to repairs and
maintenance, and for assets under development the identification of when the asset is capable of being used as intended
and identifying the directly attributable borrowing costs to be included in the asset’s carrying value.

For assets that are measured using the revaluation method, judgment is required when estimating future prices, volumes, discount
and capitalization rates. Judgment is applied when determining future electricity prices considering broker quotes for the years in
which there is a liquid market available and, for the subsequent years, our best estimate of electricity prices from renewable sources
that would allow new entrants into the market.

d. Identifying Performance Obligations for Revenue Recognition

Management is required to identify performance obligations relating to contracts with customers at the inception of each contract.
IFRS 15, the new revenue recognition standard, requires a contract’s transaction price to be allocated to each distinct performance
obligation and subsequently recognized into income when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. Judgment is used when
assessing the pattern of delivery of the product or service to determine if revenue should be recognized at a point in time or over
time. For certain service contracts recognized over time, judgment is required to determine if revenue from variable consideration
such as incentives, claims and variations from contract modifications has met the required probability threshold to be recognized.

Management also uses judgment to determine whether contracts for the sale of products and services have distinct performance
obligations that should be accounted for separately or as a single performance obligation. Goods and services are considered
distinct if (1) a customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the customer; and (2) the entity’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable
from other promises in the contract.

Additional details about revenue recognition policies across our operating segments are included in Note 2(b) of the consolidated
financial statements.
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e. Common Control Transactions

The purchase and sale of businesses or subsidiaries between entities under common control are not specifically addressed in IFRS
and accordingly, management uses judgment when determining a policy to account for such transactions taking into consideration
other guidance in the IFRS framework and pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies. The company’s policy is to record
assets and liabilities recognized as a result of transfers of businesses or subsidiaries between entities under common control at
carrying value. Differences between the carrying amount of the consideration given or received and the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities transferred are recorded directly in equity.

£ Indicators of Impairment

Judgment is applied when determining whether indicators of impairment exist when assessing the carrying values of the company’s
assets, including: the determination of the company’s ability to hold financial assets; the estimation of a cash-generating unit’s future
revenues and direct costs; the determination of discount and capitalization rates; and when an asset’s carrying value is above the
value derived using publicly traded prices which are quoted in a liquid market.

g Income Taxes

The company makes judgments when determining the future tax rates applicable to subsidiaries and identifying the temporary
differences that relate to each subsidiary. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply during the period when the assets are realized or the liabilities settled, using the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the consolidated balance sheet dates. The company measures deferred income taxes associated with its investment
properties based on its specific intention with respect to each asset at the end of the reporting period. Where the company has a
specific intention to sell a property in the foreseeable future, deferred taxes on the building portion of an investment property are
measured based on the tax consequences that would follow the disposition of the property. Otherwise, deferred taxes are measured
on the basis the carrying value of the investment property will be recovered substantially through use.

h.  Classification of Non-Controlling Interests in Limited-Life Funds

Non-controlling interests in limited-life funds are classified as liabilities (subsidiary equity obligations) or equity (non-controlling
interests) depending on whether an obligation exists to distribute residual net assets to non-controlling interests on liquidation in
the form of cash or another financial asset or assets delivered in kind. Judgment is required to determine what the governing
documents of each entity require or permit in this regard.

i. Other

Other critical judgments include the determination of effectiveness of financial hedges for accounting purposes; the likelihood
and timing of anticipated transactions for hedge accounting; and the determination of functional currency.

3. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
a) Operating Segments

Our operations are organized into five operating business groups in addition to our corporate and asset management activities,
which collectively represent seven operating segments for internal and external reporting purposes. We measure performance
primarily using Funds from Operations (“FFO”) generated by each operating segment and the amount of capital invested by
the Corporation in each segment using common equity by segment.

Our operating segments are as follows:

i.  Asset management operations include managing our listed partnerships, private funds and public securities on behalf of our
investors and ourselves. We generate contractual base management fees for these activities as well as incentive distributions
and performance income, including performance fees, transaction fees and carried interest. Common equity in our asset
management segment is immaterial.

ii.  Real estate operations include the ownership, operation and development of core office, core retail, LP investments and other
properties.

iii. Renewable power operations include the ownership, operation and development of hydroelectric, wind, solar, storage and
other power generating facilities.

iv. Infrastructure operations include the ownership, operation and development of utilities, transport, energy, data infrastructure
and sustainable resource assets.
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v.  Private equity operations include a broad range of industries, and are mostly focused on business services, infrastructure
services and industrial operations.

vi. Residential development operations consist of homebuilding, condominium development and land development.

vii. Corporate activities include the investment of cash and financial assets, as well as the management of our corporate leverage,
including corporate borrowings and preferred equity, which fund a portion of the capital invested in our other operations.
Certain corporate costs such as technology and operations are incurred on behalf of our operating segments and allocated to
each operating segment based on an internal pricing framework.

b) Segment Financial Measures

FFO is a key measure of our financial performance and our segment measure of profit and loss. It is utilized by our Chief Operating
Decision Maker in assessing operating results and the performance of our businesses on a segmented basis. We define FFO as net
income excluding fair value changes, depreciation and amortization and deferred income taxes, net of non-controlling interests.
When determining FFO, we include our proportionate share of the FFO from equity accounted investments on a fully diluted
basis. FFO also includes realized disposition gains and losses, which are gains or losses arising from transactions during the
reporting period, adjusted to include associated fair value changes and revaluation surplus recorded in prior periods, taxes payable
or receivable in connection with those transactions and amounts that are recorded directly in equity, such as ownership changes.

We use FFO to assess our performance as an asset manager and as an investor in our assets. FFO from our asset management
segment includes fees, net of the associated costs, that we earn from managing capital in our listed partnerships, private funds and
public securities accounts. We are also eligible to earn incentive payments in the form of incentive distributions, performance fees
or carried interest. As an investor in our assets, our FFO represents the company’s share of revenues less costs incurred within our
operations, which include interest expenses and other costs. Specifically, it includes the impact of contracts that we enter into to
generate revenues, including power sales agreements, contracts that our operating businesses enter into such as leases and take or
pay contracts and sales of inventory. FFO includes the impact of changes in leverage or the cost of that financial leverage and
other costs incurred to operate our business.

We use realized disposition gains and losses within FFO in order to provide additional insight regarding the performance of
investments on a cumulative realized basis, including any unrealized fair value adjustments that were recorded in equity and not
otherwise reflected in current period FFO, and believe it is useful to investors to better understand variances between reporting
periods. We exclude depreciation and amortization from FFO as we believe that the value of most of our assets typically increases
over time, provided we make the necessary maintenance expenditures, the timing and magnitude of which may differ from the
amount of depreciation recorded in any given period. In addition, the depreciated cost base of our assets is reflected in the ultimate
realized disposition gain or loss on disposal. As noted above, unrealized fair value changes are excluded from FFO until the period
in which the asset is sold. We also exclude deferred income taxes from FFO because the vast majority of the company’s deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are a result of the revaluation of our assets under IFRS.

Our definition of FFO may differ from the definition used by other organizations, as well as the definition of FFO used by the
Real Property Association of Canada (“REALPAC”) and the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, Inc.
(“NAREIT”), in part because the NAREIT definition is based on U.S. GAAP, as opposed to IFRS. The key differences between
our definition of FFO and the determination of FFO by REALPAC and/or NAREIT are that we include the following: realized
disposition gains or losses and cash taxes payable or receivable on those gains or losses, if any; foreign exchange gains or losses
on monetary items not forming part of our net investment in foreign operations; and foreign exchange gains or losses on the sale
of an investment in a foreign operation. We do not use FFO as a measure of cash generated from our operations.

We illustrate how we derive FFO for each operating segment and reconcile total FFO to net income in Note 3(c)(v) of the
consolidated financial statements.

Segment Balance Sheet Information

We use common equity by segment as our measure of segment assets when reviewing our deconsolidated balance sheet because
it is utilized by our Chief Operating Decision Maker for capital allocation decisions.
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Segment Allocation and Measurement

Segment measures include amounts earned from consolidated entities that are eliminated on consolidation. The principal adjustment
is to include asset management revenues charged to consolidated entities as revenues within the company’s Asset Management
segment with the corresponding expense recorded as corporate costs within the relevant segment. These amounts are based on
the in-place terms of the asset management contracts between the consolidated entities. Inter-segment revenues are determined
under terms that approximate market value.

The company allocates the costs of shared functions that would otherwise be included within its corporate activities segment, such
as information technology and internal audit, pursuant to formal policies.

¢) Reportable Segment Measures

AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR

FI\]/\[IREII)O%Esg 31,2018 Manag?nfesrel: Real Estate Rene&?ﬁl}i Infrastructure ll)Er(ll‘llﬁtts Dglﬁt)(iiﬁgﬁl (/J\ocrtll)\zrt?;: Se; grg&(z)r:?sl Note
External revenues... $ 187  $ 8,075 § 3,751 § 5013 § 36,828  § 2,683 $ 234§ 56,771
Inter-segment revenues . 1,760 41 11 5 442 — (46) 2,213 i
Segmented revenues... 1,947 8,116 3,762 5,018 37,270 2,683 188 58,984
FFO from equity accounted

investments.............c.coc..... — 945 46 846 526 15 (6) 2,372 ii
Interest expense................... — (2,464) (930) (586) (520) (57) (323) (4,880) il
Current income taxes .......... — (213) (32) (326) (186) (45) (59) (861) iv
Funds from operations ........ 1,317 1,786 328 602 795 49 (476) 4,401 v
Common equity................... 328 17,423 5,302 2,887 4,279 2,606 (7,178) 25,647
Equity accounted

investments...................... — 22,949 685 7,636 1,943 395 39 33,647
Additions to non-current

L R — 51,111 3,729 10,524 10,139 124 190 75,817

1. Includes equity accounted investments, investment properties, property, plant and equipment, sustainable resources, intangible assets and goodwill.

AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR

ENDED DEC. 31, 2017 Asset Renewable Private Residential Corporate Total
(MILLIONS) Management Real Estate Power  Infrastructure Equity  Development Activities Segments  Note
External revenues............... $ 286§ 6,824 § 2,788 $ 3,859 § 24220 § 2,447 § 362§ 40,786
Inter-segment revenues ....... 1,181 38 — 12 357 — 1,588 i
Segmented revenues............ 1,467 6,862 2,788 3,871 24,577 2,447 362 42,374
FFO from equity accounted

investments....................... — 904 23 904 229 1 8 2,069 ii
Interest expense................... — (1,901) (691) (453) (237) (83) (261) (3,626) iii
Current income taxes .......... — (63) 39) (111) (84) (46) 57 (286) v
Funds from operations ........ 970 2,004 270 345 333 34 (146) 3,810 v
Common equity................... 312 16,725 4,944 2,834 4,215 2,915 (7,893) 24,052
Equity accounted

investments....................... — 19,597 509 8,793 2,387 346 362 31,994
Additions to non-current

asSets' ... — 10,025 7,555 7,991 6,307 74 328 32,280

1. Includes equity accounted investments, investment properties, property, plant and equipment, sustainable resources, intangible assets and goodwill.
i. Inter-Segment Revenues

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the adjustment to external revenues when determining segmented revenues consists of
asset management revenues earned from consolidated entities totaling $1.8 billion (2017 — $1.2 billion), revenues earned on
construction projects between consolidated entities totaling $430 million (2017 — $357 million), and interest income and other
revenues totaling $23 million (2017 — $19 million), which were eliminated on consolidation to arrive at the company’s
consolidated revenues.
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ii. FFO from Equity Accounted Investments

The company determines FFO from its equity accounted investments by applying the same methodology utilized in adjusting net
income of consolidated entities. The following table reconciles the company’s consolidated equity accounted income to FFO from
equity accounted investments:

{ﬁﬁﬂg}\l\é?ARs ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
Consolidated equity acCOUNtEd INCOMIE............ccvevieriierieierietiietier ettt ettt ese et te s se st se s easesesaeseereseeseas $ 1,088 $ 1,213
Non-FFO items from equity accounted investments' .... 1,284 856
FFO from equity accounted iNVESTMENTS..............ccocvevereereerreeriereereereeteeeeeeeteeteeseeseeseeseessenseseeseeseeseeseereessensens $ 2372 § 2,069

1. Adjustment to back out non-FFO expenses (income) that are included in consolidated equity accounted income including depreciation and amortization, deferred taxes
and fair value changes from equity accounted investments.

iii. Interest Expense

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the adjustment to interest expense consists of interest on loans between consolidated
entities totaling $26 million (2017 — $18 million) that is eliminated on consolidation, along with the associated revenue.

iv. Current Income Taxes

Current income taxes are included in FFO but are aggregated with deferred income taxes in income tax expense on the company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The following table reconciles consolidated income taxes to current income taxes
by segment:

(FI\%RL THE \g})EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
CUITENE TAX EXPEIISE ..vvevvierereereereereeseesteseeseeseeseeseeseessessesseseeseeseessessessessensesseseeseeseeseessessessessensesessesseessessensenes $ 861) $ (286)
Deferred income tax reCOVETY (EXPEISE).......c.eevireerirreerriiererseseesissesessessesessessesessesesseseesessesessesessessesessessesessesenns 1,109 (327)
INCOME taX TECOVETY (EXPEIISE)....ueevrerrerrerretirtiitieseeteeseestessessessessesseeseessessessassassessassesseesseseassessessesessessesseessesseses $ 248 $ (613)

v. Reconciliation of Net Income to Total FFO

The following table reconciles net income to total FFO:

(FI\%RL THE \g})EARS ENDED DEC. 31 Note 2018 2017
INEE ITICOIIIE ..ottt ettt ettt e e e e et et et et et et e s e e eeaeeeeeaeeae et et et eeeeeeeeseeneeneeneeneeneeseeaenaenee $ 7,488 $ 4551
Realized disposition gains in fair value changes or €qUILY ...........ccccccvvveiererieieeeeeieeeeeereeeenenea vi 1,445 1,116

Non-controlling interests in FFO (6,015) (4,964)

Financial statement components not included in FFO

Equity accounted fair value changes and other non-FFO items............cccooeeivviieinieiniieiicennen 1,284 856
Fair value Changes .........ccociiiiiiiiiciiece ettt et b b b e st beeteeteesaesaessensensens (1,794) 421)
Depreciation and amOTtIZAtION..............c.cceeeeieieieieereere et ete ettt et eeteeseeteeseereetsessessesseseeseeseeseas 3,102 2,345
DEferred INCOME tAXES ......vevievierieeeeeeeeecteeteeteeteete ettt et e s e ereereereeseeseeseenseseeseeseeseessessensensensesneereens (1,109) 327
TOTAL FFO ..ottt ettt b et s et st s b et st s e s et ese s esese st esesesensesesenesanas $ 4401 § 32810

vi. Realized Disposition Gains

Realized disposition gains include gains and losses recorded in net income arising from transactions during the current period,
adjusted to include fair value changes and revaluation surplus recorded in prior periods in connection with the assets sold. Realized
disposition gains also include amounts that are recorded directly in equity as changes in ownership, as opposed to net income,
because they result from a change in ownership of a consolidated entity.

The realized disposition gains recorded in fair value changes, revaluation surplus or directly in equity were $1.4 billion for the
yearended December 31,2018 (2017 —$1.1 billion), of which $1.1 billion relates to prior periods (2017 —$1.0 billion), $242 million
has been recorded directly in equity as changes in ownership (2017 — $nil) and $95 million has been recorded in fair value changes
(2017 — $78 million).
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d) Geographic Allocation

The company’s revenues by location of operations are as follows:

f}\(/[)II}HEfIO%\IYS'};ARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
UNIEEA KINGAOM ...ttt ettt sttt et et e et e b e b bt e bt e bt e st e st enb et esbesbesbesbeebeentns $ 23,684 $ 15,106
UNTEEA SEALES. ...ueitiitieii ettt ettt et et e et e et e et e e teeste e seeeseesbeeseenseesseessasssaessassaesssanseeseenseensensseessesssanns 9,756 8,284
Canada 6,422 5,883
Australia 4,968 4,405
|23 ;4 | SRR RTRRT 4,048 3,206
ONET EUIOPE ...ttt ettt ettt e b e st s bt e st b et et e e b e st e b e e et e b ene et eneene et eneetenteneeteneeaens 3,275 617
AASI .ottt ettt ettt et ea et et te et eae et et ete et eaeete s ete et eae et et ete et ens et et ete et ens et et eteeteaseretereas 1,643 1,119
COLOMDIA ...ttt ettt et e et e et e e tbeeteeeteeeseebeebeenbeesseessaesseessaeseeesseseenseenseesseensesnsesssasssesseenseenss 1,594 970
(011113 SRR 1,381 1,196
$ 56,771 $ 40,786

The company’s consolidated assets by location are as follows:
ﬁlﬁ{%%%fl 2018 2017
TUNIEEA SEALES ...ttt et ettt et e e e eeueeueeu e et et e s e s eeaesaeeaeeeeeee et et e senseeseaneaseeueeneeeseseseeseseeseenaeseeenennens $ 128,808 $ 84,860
CANAAA ...ttt ettt ettt ettt b et b s bt e b e st ae s e s e s e st ese s et e s e st et e b esees e st ese s enses e seseesentesees 27,850 21,897
United KiNGAOM ........ovoiiiiiieiiieiceceteetet ettt ettt st et et s e ebe st ess b ssete s ess et esseseesessesesseseesenseseas 23,093 20,005
BIAZIL ..ottt et ettt ettt ettt et et et st et et ete et ettt et ere et ess et et ere et ens et et ereetensereseaea 22,539 23,931
J N 16 21 T RSSO RRRTRTRRN 13,309 14,501
OFNET EUIOPE ....ooveitieeieeeeetee ettt ettt ettt b ettt beseete st e se e s e st ese st essesessese s essetesbese s essesessessesenseseas 13,250 3,979
STttt ettt ettt ettt et ea e et et te et eatete b ete et eaeete b ere et eae et et ese et est et et ete et ens et et eteeteaseretereas 10,479 8,089
COLOMDIA ...ttt ettt ettt ettt se b e s e s e s et e b eseesessese s essese s eseesess et e s eseesenseseesenseseseseesensesens 9,862 7,362
OBRET ..ottt ettt ettt ettt bete et et te e b et e et e sbese b e s s ete s s ese b e st ete b s e b e sb et e b e st et et ese b easetebeseerenteteas 7,091 8,096

$ 256,281

4. SUBSIDIARIES

The following table presents the details of the company’s subsidiaries with significant non-controlling interests:

$ 192,720

Ownership Interest Held by

Jurisdiction of

Non-Controlling Interests"

AS AT DEC. 31 Formation 2018 2017
Brookfield Property Partners L.P. (“BPY™)...c.ccccoiiiiieieieieececeeeeceeeeeens Bermuda 46.2% 30.6%
Brookfield Renewable Partners L.P. (“BEP”) ..........ccccccooiviiicicieieieieieeeeee Bermuda 39.5% 39.8%
Brookfield Infrastructure Partners L.P. (“BIP”) Bermuda 70.5% 70.1%
Brookfield Business Partners L.P. (“BBU”)........ . Bermuda 32.0% 32.0%

1. Control and associated voting rights of the limited partnerships (BPY, BEP, BIP and BBU) resides with their respective general partners which are wholly owned subsidiaries
of the company. The company’s general partner interest is entitled to earn base management fees and incentive payments in the form of incentive distribution rights or

performance fees.

2. The company’s ownership interest in BPY, BEP, BIP and BBU includes a combination of redemption-exchange units (REUs), Class A limited partnership units, special
limited partnership units, general partnership units and units or shares that are exchangeable for units in our listed partnerships, in each subsidiary, where applicable. Each
of BPY, BEP, BIP and BBU’s partnership capital includes its Class A limited partnership units whereas REUs and general partnership units are considered non-controlling
interests for the respective partnerships. REUs share the same economic attributes in all respects except for the redemption right attached thereto. The REUs and general
partnership units participate in earnings and distributions on a per unit basis equivalent to the per unit participation of the Class A limited partnership units of the subsidiary.

During 2018, the ownership interest held by non-controlling interests in BPY increased from 30.6% to 46.2% primarily as a result
of equity issued to GGP’s shareholders as consideration when GGP was privatized in the third quarter. This increase in the
proportion of BPY held by NCI was partially offset by the impact of BPY units acquired by BAM and BPY during the third and

fourth quarters.
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The table below presents the exchanges on which the company’s subsidiaries with significant non-controlling interests were
publicly listed as of December 31, 2018:

TSX NYSE Nasdaq
BPY bbbtttk aeaen BPY.UN N/A BPY
BEP ...t BEP.UN BEP N/A
BIP .ottt an BIP.UN BIP N/A
BBU .ttt bbbkttt ettt aeben BBU.UN BBU N/A

The following table outlines the composition of accumulated non-controlling interests presented within the company’s consolidated
financial statements:

fﬁlﬁ%%cs‘)“ 2018 2017
BPY ottt b ettt a b st b et ae b bt st es et R et es ek at s b st b s et ea s ebeses et s etene b seseneanes $ 31,580 $ 19,736
BEP . h bbbttt b ettt ettt et ebe 12,457 10,139
5 0SSOSO SU RS URPSRRURO 12,752 11,376
BBU ...ttt bttt e h ettt b et st b bt s et sk s s s et et s bR et b s et ea s b ebese s s etens b setennanes 4,477 4,000
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling iNterests ..............ccoevvrrerieereriererieerreeeesiee e 6,069 6,377

$ 67,335 $§ 51,628

All publicly listed entities are subject to independent governance. Accordingly, the company has no direct access to the assets of
these subsidiaries. Summarized financial information with respect to the company’s subsidiaries with significant non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarized financial information represents amounts before intra-group eliminations:

BPY BEP BIP BBU
Eﬁﬁ%’#@fo”% YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Current assetsS.........coeveeereeenreninenieenenns $ 7,114 $§ 3912 $ 1,961 §$ 1,666 $ 2,276 $ 1,512 $ 9,781 § 6,433
Non-current assets ..........ccceeeeeeereeereennn 115,406 80,435 32,142 29,238 34,304 27,965 17,537 9,371
Current 1iabilities ..........ccccecveverieirieinnennnn (10,306) (11,829)  (1,689) (2,514) (2.417) (1,564) (9,016) (5,690)
Non-current liabilities..............cccooveuennne.. (65,474) (37,394) (15,208) (14,108) (19,495) (14,439) (11,808) (4,050)
Non-controlling interests ......................... (31,580) (19,736) (12,457) (10,139) (12,752) (11,376) 4,477) (4,000)
Equity attributable to Brookfield............. $15,160 $15388 $ 4,749 $ 4,143 § 1916 $ 2,098 $ 2,017 § 2,064
Revenues........cocooveneineieiecceee $ 7239 $ 6,135 $ 2,982 § 2,625 $ 4,652 $ 3,535 $37,168 § 22,823

Net income attributable to:
Non-controlling interests...
Shareholders..........ccooveeeirieeiniiieeies 1,298 234 2 (52) 82 5 97 81

Other comprehensive income (loss)
attributable to:

Non-controlling interests....................... $ (122) $§ 532 $ 2292 § 78 $ (859) $§ 269 $ (292) § 64
Shareholders...........ccceevvevveciecieceene, (294) 348 972 564 (86) 54 96) 45
$ @@16) $§ 830 $ 3,264 $ 1350 $ (945) $ 323 $ (388 § 109

147 BROOKFIELD ASSET MANAGEMENT



The summarized cash flows of the company’s subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests are as follows:

BPY BEP BIP BBU

fﬁiE%EN‘ngRS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Cash flows from (used in):

Operating activities .........c.coevererrruerennes $ 1,357 $§ 639 $ 1,103 § 928 $ 1,362 $ 1,481 §$ 1,341 $ 290

Financing activities ...........cccecvrerveuenennnes 8,873 1,248 (1,080) 27) 4,418 3,814 3,561 1,353

Investing activities ...........ccceeeerecnnenene (8,406)  (1,886) (624) (328) (5,564)  (5,721)  (3,999)  (1,595)
Distributions paid to non-controlling

interests in common equity .................... $ 427 $ 255 § 244 § 227 $ 558 $§ 489 § 11 $ 9

5. ACQUISITIONS OF CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
a) Completed During 2018

The following table summarizes the balance sheet impact as a result of business combinations that occurred in the year ended
December 31, 2018. No material changes were made to the provisional allocations:

Renewable
Power and
(MILLIONS) Real Estate Infrastructure Private Equity Other Total
Cash and cash equivalents.................... $ 1,056 $ 71 $ 658 $ 388 $ 2,173
Accounts receivable and other............. 2,247 511 2,267 623 5,648
Inventory.......ccceooviviniiiiinnnne e 150 23 686 5 864
Equity accounted investments 12,379 15 329 29 12,752
Investment properties............ccceeveuene 33,024 — — — 33,024
Property, plant and equipment... 1,748 2,945 4,913 2,970 12,576
Intangible assets..........cceeverrerreeeeeennnne. 54 3,208 2,942 386 6,590
GoodWill ..o 96 2,905 971 186 4,158
Deferred income tax assets.................. 220 — 38 582 840
Total aSSEetS.....ccervevieeeieieieiieeeeeeeans 50,974 9,678 12,804 5,169 78,625
Less:
Accounts payable and other............... (2,177) (591) (3,654) (715) (7,137)
Non-recourse borrowings .................. (18,218) (1,484) (3,668) (2,023) (25,393)
Deferred income tax liabilities........... (58) (839) (157) (210) (1,264)
Non-controlling interests' ................. (2,603) (544) (515) 22) (3,684)
(23,056) (3,458) (7,994) (2,970) (37,478)
Net assets acquired ............cocoeveveuenenne. $ 27918 $ 6,220 $ 4,810 $ 2,199 $ 41,147
ConSIideration’..........oeeeeeereeeseseeneene $ 26,759 $ 6,220 $ 4,810 $ 1,807 $ 39,596

1. Includes non-controlling interests recognized on business combinations measured as the proportionate share of fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities on the
date of acquisition. For certain business combinations in our Private Equity segment, non-controlling interests recognized on business combinations are measured at
the proportionate fair value of the total net assets on date of acquisition.

2. Total consideration, including amounts paid by non-controlling interests that participated in the acquisition as investors in Brookfield-sponsored private funds or as
co-investors.

Brookfield recorded $5.1 billion of revenue and $711 million of net income in 2018 from the acquired operations as a result of
the acquisitions made during the year. If the acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of the year, they would have contributed
$12.6 billion and $1.8 billion to total revenue and net income, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the balance sheet impact as a result of significant business combinations that occurred in 2018.
The valuations of the assets acquired are still under evaluation and as such the business combinations have been accounted for on
a provisional basis.

Private Renewable
Real Estate Equity Infrastructure Power
(MILLIONS) 666 Fifth GGP Forest City  Westinghouse ~ NorthRiver Enercare Evoque Saeta Yield
Cash and cash
equivalents.............. $ — 3 24 3 451 $ 250 $ 10 $ 24§ — 3 187
Accounts receivable
and other .................. 11 592 960 1,854 55 187 3 216
Inventory.................... — — 89 626 — — — —
Equity accounted
investments.............. — 10,329 1,467 7 — — — 14
Investment properties 1,292 17,991 9,397 — — — — —
Property, plant and
equipment................ — 56 — 931 1,442 669 440 2,724
Intangible assets......... — — — 2,683 157 1,863 221 258
Goodwill.................... — — — 213 524 1,260 463 115
Deferred income tax
ASSELS.ervvrrereriernnens — — — 7 — 23 — —
Total assets................. 1,303 29,892 12,364 6,571 2,188 4,026 1,127 3,514
Less:
Accounts payable
and other ............... ) (691) (1,119) (2,645) (46) (235) (24) (320)
Non-recourse
borrowings............ — (13,147) (3,664) 3) - (877) - (1,906)
Deferred income tax
liabilities................ — (11 — (81) (186) (472) — (174)
Non-controlling
interests' ............... — (1,882) (633) (7) — — — —
4) (15,731) (5,416) (2,736) (232) (1,584) (24) (2,400)

Net assets acquired.... $ 1,299 $ 14161 $ 6948 $ 385 $ 1956 $ 2442 § 1,003 $ 1,114

Consideration” .......... $ 1,299 $ 13240 $ 6,948 $ 3835 $ 1,956 § 2442 § 1,103 § 1,114

1. Includes non-controlling interests recognized on business combinations measured as the proportionate share of fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities on the
date of acquisition. For certain business combinations in our Private Equity segment, non-controlling interests recognized on business combinations are measured at
the proportionate fair value of the total net assets on date of acquisition.

2. Total consideration, including amounts paid by non-controlling interests that participated in the acquisition as investors in Brookfield-sponsored private funds or as
co-investors.

On June 12, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, along with institutional investors, acquired a 95% interest in Saeta Yield, S.A.
(“Saeta Yield”) for total cash consideration of $1.1 billion, funded through an equity issuance at the subsidiary, amounts drawn
on a non-recourse credit facility and available cash on hand. The acquisition resulted in $115 million of goodwill due to the
recognition of a deferred tax liability because the tax bases of the net assets are lower than their acquisition date fair value. None
of the goodwill recognized is deductible for income tax purposes. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded
if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $407 million and $63 million, respectively.

On August 1, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% interest in Westinghouse
Electric Company (“Westinghouse”). Total consideration paid was $3.8 billion in cash, with $886 million provided by the subsidiary
and its partners and the balance funded through asset level debt raised concurrently on closing. On acquisition, goodwill
of $213 million was recognized, which represents future growth the subsidiary expects to receive from the integration
of Westinghouse’s operations; this goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes. Total revenues and net losses that would
have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $3.9 billion and $239 million, respectively.
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On August 3, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% leasehold interest in
666 Fifth Avenue, a commercial office asset in New York, for total consideration of $1.3 billion. Total revenues and net income
that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $84 million and $85 million,
respectively.

On August 28, 2018, a subsidiary of the company acquired all outstanding shares of GGP other than those shares already held by
the subsidiary for total consideration of $13.2 billion, plus the payment of a pre-closing dividend of $9.05 billion. The pre-closing
dividend was funded by financing activity and proceeds from the sales of partial interests in certain properties within GGP.

*  Anew entity, Brookfield Property REIT (“BPR”), was formed to hold the GGP assets; BPR issued 161 million shares to GGP
shareholders as consideration. BPR shares, which are structured to provide an economic return equivalent to that of BPY
units, are presented as non-controlling interests within equity.

*  The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination achieved in stages. Our existing equity interest in GGP was
remeasured to its fair value of $7.8 billion immediately prior to the completion of the transaction based on our interest in the
fair value of GGP’s identifiable net assets and liabilities. As a result of this remeasurement, a loss of approximately $502 million
was recognized in fair value changes.

»  Total consideration of $13.2 billion is made up of our existing equity investment of $7.8 billion, new equity, in the form of
88 million BPY LP units and 161 million BPR Class A shares, issued to GGP’s shareholders totaling $5.2 billion, cash
consideration of $200 million and share-based payment awards to GGP employees with a fair value of $28 million. On
acquisition, we recognized a bargain purchase gain of $921 million in fair value changes as the agreed upon transaction price
and the fair value of the consideration transferred was less than the aggregate fair value of the assets acquired net of the
liabilities assumed.

+  Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are
$1.8 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively.

On October 1, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% interest in NorthRiver
Midstream Inc. (“NorthRiver”), a western Canadian natural gas gathering and processing business, for total cash consideration
of $2.0 billion. The acquisition was funded through cash on hand and asset level debt raised concurrently on closing. On acquisition,
goodwill of $524 million was recognized, which represents the potential for obtaining long-term contracts for the business’
unutilized capacity and production growth in certain locations. None of the goodwill acquired is deductible for tax purposes. Total
revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $246 million
and $16 million, respectively.

On October 16, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% interest in Enercare Inc.
(“Enercare”), a North American residential energy infrastructure business, for total consideration of $2.4 billion. The acquisition
was funded through $2.2 billion of cash with the remainder through equity issued to certain Enercare shareholders. On acquisition,
goodwill of $1.3 billion was recognized, which represents potential growth prospects and a strong market position as a key provider
ofresidential energy infrastructure in North America. None of the goodwill recognized is deductible for tax purposes. Total revenues
and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $949 million and
$5 million, respectively.

On December 7, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% interest in Forest City
Realty Trust, Inc. (“Forest City”) for total cash consideration of $6.9 billion. The acquisition was funded through cash on hand
and asset level debt raised concurrently on closing. The non-controlling interest acquired represents equity in partially-owned and
consolidated operations which are not attributable to Forest City. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded
if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $1.1 billion and $381 million, respectively.

On December 31, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% interest in Evoque
Data Center Solutions (“Evoque”), AT&T’s large-scale data center business, for total cash consideration of $1.1 billion. The
acquisition was funded through cash on hand and asset level debt raised concurrently on closing. On acquisition, goodwill of
$463 million was recognized, which is largely reflective of potential customer growth, arising from the business’ position as one
of'the largest colocation providers in the United States and the increasing rate of worldwide data consumption. All of the goodwill
is deductible for income tax purposes. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred
at the beginning of the year are $321 million and $6 million, respectively.
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In addition to the significant business combinations described above, we acquired a number of businesses across the organization
in 2018. These include:

151

On February 1, 2018, a subsidiary of the company in our Real Estate segment acquired a portfolio of 15 student housing
properties in the U.K. for total consideration of $752 million.

On February 1, 2018, a subsidiary of the company in our Real Estate segment acquired a portfolio of 105 extended-stay hotel
properties across the U.S. for total consideration of $764 million.

On March 9, 2018, the company obtained control over an entity, previously held as an equity-accounted investment. The
company recognized a bargain purchase gain of $393 million as a result of the recognition of deferred tax assets which were
not previously utilized.

On May 15, 2018, a subsidiary of the company in our Private Equity segment acquired, together with institutional investors,
a 70% interest in Schoeller Allibert Group B.V (“Schoeller”) for total consideration of $231 million. Total revenues and net
loss that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $635 million and
$27 million, respectively.

On June 1, 2018, a subsidiary of the company in our Infrastructure segment, along with institutional investors, acquired a
55% interest in Gas Natural, S.A. ESP (“Gas Natural”), for total consideration of $522 million. The future growth arising
from the business’ position as a key distributor of natural gas in Colombia gave rise to goodwill of $621 million, the remainder
of the goodwill is due to the difference between the book value and tax bases of the assets acquired. None of the goodwill
recognized is deductible for income tax purposes. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the
transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $884 million and $70 million, respectively.

On July 3, 2018, a subsidiary of the company in our Private Equity segment, together with institutional investors, exercised
its general partner option to obtain an additional 2% voting interest in the general partner of Teekay Offshore (“Teekay”),
granting it control of the entity. Our equity interest in Teekay was remeasured to fair value immediately prior to obtaining
control, resulting in a gain of approximately $206 million. Total consideration paid was $653 million, $651 million of which
was the fair market value of our existing investment. Total assets acquired are $5.3 billion and include $3.7 billion in property
plant and equipment. Total liabilities assumed are $4.1 billion and include $3.3 billion of non-recourse borrowings. Goodwill
of $547 million represents benefits we expect to receive from the integration of the operations; none ofthe goodwill recognized
is deductible for income tax purposes. The value of assets and liabilities acquired are still under evaluation and accounted
for on a provisional basis. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at
the beginning of the year are $1.3 billion and $214 million, respectively.
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b) Completed During 2017

The following table summarizes the balance sheet impact as a result of business combinations that occurred in 2017. No material
changes were made to the provisional allocations disclosed in the 2017 consolidated financial statements:

Renewable Private Real Estate

(MILLIONS) Power Equity Infrastructure and Other Total

Cash and cash equivalents...............c.ocoovevveiereveeeereeeenennn. $ 762 $ 335 $ 89 $ 39§ 1,225

Accounts receivable and other ... 980 2,393 345 134 3,852

INVENLOTY ..ot — 701 — 3 704

Equity accounted investments...............ccoceevveereereereereeneenenne. — 231 — — 231

Investment Properties........ocevererereeeeierierierieseseeeeeeeeenns — — — 5,851 5,851

Property, plant and equipment...............ccccvevvrvrieriereereereennne. 6,923 501 100 281 7,805

Intangible aSSetS ........c.coevveveeviieieeeeeeeeeee e 27 2,870 5,515 — 8,412

Goodwill — 342 815 — 1,157

Deferred income tax assets...........cccveeeeeveeviesresreereereereennenes 18 59 — — 77

TOtal ASSELS ...t 8,710 7,432 6,364 6,308 29,314

Less:

Accounts payable and other.............cccoccvevveviivinicieeeene. (1,391) (2,109) (222) (169) (3,891)
Non-recourse DOITOWINGS ..........coceerveeeveeveeereereereereereeneens (4,902) (1,678) (30) (1,955) (8,565)
Deferred income tax liabilities ...........cccvevveeveereeeereerrenene. (59) (806) (957) (45) (1,867)
Non-controlling interests’.............cooveveeerereeeeeeeeeesrsenen. (830) (826) (477) (123) (2,256)

(7,182) (5,419) (1,686) (2,292) (16,579)

Net assets aCqUITEd..........c.cvvveveririeriiieieiieeeereeee e $ 1,528 $§ 2,013 $ 5,178 $ 4016 $ 12,735

CONSIAEIAtioN” ............ovveeveeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 1,528 $ 2,006 $ 5,178  $ 3845 § 12,557

1. Includes non-controlling interests recognized on business combinations measured as the proportionate share of fair value of the assets and liabilities on the date of acquisition.
2. Total consideration, including amounts paid by non-controlling interests that participated in the acquisition as investors in Brookfield-sponsored private funds or as
co-investors.

Brookfield recorded $15.9 billion of revenue and $694 million of net income in 2017 from the acquired operations as a result of
the acquisitions made during the year. If the acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of the year, they would have contributed
$25.5 billion and $1.0 billion to total revenue and net income, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the balance sheet impact as a result of significant business combinations that occurred in 2017:

Renewable Power Private Equity Infrastructure Real Estate

Mumbai

TerraForm  TerraForm Manufactured ~ Houston Office

(MILLIONS) Power Global BRK  Greenergy NTS Housing Center  Portfolio

Cash and cash equivalents......... $ 149 $ 611 $ 29 $ 28 $ 89 3 16 § — S 11
Accounts receivable and other... 707 266 1,043 1,290 317 79 22 12
Inventory........ccoeevevvereeneennenne. — — 10 650 — — — —
Equity accounted investments ... — — 109 114 — — — —
Investment properties ................ — — — — — 2,107 825 679
Property, plant and equipment... 5,678 1,208 200 154 — — — —
Intangible assets — — 2,467 212 5,515 — — —
Goodwill ..o — — 17 92 804 — — —
Deferred income tax assets........ — 18 50 9 — — — —
Total assets.......coeererervereerennen 6,534 2,103 4,192 2,549 6,725 2,202 847 702

Less:

Accounts payable and other.... (1,239) (142) 227) (1,744) (202) (36) (28) (44)
Non-recourse borrowings ....... (3,714) (1,188)  (1,468) (210) — (1,261) — (511)
Deferred income tax liabilities (33) (15) (746) (52) (946) — — (45)
Non-controlling interests' ....... (829) €)) (745) (81) 477) (30) — —
(5,815) (1,346)  (3,186) (2,087) (1,625) (1,327) (28) (600)

Net assets acquired..................... $ 719 $ 757 $ 1,006 $ 462 $ 5,100 $ 875 $ 819 $ 102
Consideration” ............c...cc........ $ 719 $ 757 $ 1,006 $ 462 $ 5,100 $ 768 $ 819 § 102

1. Includes non-controlling interests recognized on business combinations measured as the proportionate share of fair value of the assets and liabilities on the date of acquisition.
2. Total consideration, including amounts paid by non-controlling interests that participated in the acquisition as investors in Brookfield-sponsored private funds or as
co-investors.

OnMarch 9,2017, a subsidiary of the company acquired Manufactured Housing, a portfolio of manufactured housing communities
in the U.S., for total consideration of $768 million, including $578 million cash consideration with the remainder funded through
debt financing. The acquisition was made through a Brookfield-sponsored real estate fund and generated a bargain purchase gain
of $107 million recorded in fair value changes as a result of changes in the underlying market conditions subsequent to signing
the purchase and sale agreement in the second quarter of 2016. Excluding the impact of the bargain purchase gain, total revenues
and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $237 million and
$86 million, respectively.

On April 4, 2017, we acquired a 90% ownership interest in Nova Transportadora do Sudeste S.A. (“NTS”), a Brazilian regulated
gas transmission business, alongside our institutional partners. Total consideration paid by the consortium was $5.1 billion, which
consists of a cash consideration of $4.2 billion and deferred consideration of less than $1.0 billion payable five years from the
close of the transaction. Upon acquisition of NTS, an additional deferred tax liability of $893 million was recorded. The deferred
income tax liability arose as the tax bases of the net assets acquired were lower than their fair values. The inclusion of this liability
in the net book value of the acquired business gave rise to goodwill of $804 million which is recoverable so long as the tax
circumstances that gave rise to the goodwill do not change. To date, no such changes have occurred. None of the goodwill recognized
is deductible for income tax purposes. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred
at the beginning of the year are $1.3 billion and $660 million, respectively.

On April 25,2017, a subsidiary of the company acquired a 70% interest in BRK Ambiental Participagdes S.A. (“BRK”), a Brazilian
water treatment business, together with institutional investors, for total consideration of $1.0 billion. BRK owns several other
investments, all at different ownership levels. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had
occurred at the beginning of the year are $758 million and $64 million, respectively.
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OnMay 10,2017, asubsidiary of the company acquired an 85% ownership interest of Greenergy Fuels Holdings Ltd. (“Greenergy”),
a U K. road fuel provider, together with our institutional partners. The acquisition was made for total consideration of $462 million.
Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are
$19.8 billion and $26 million, respectively.

On October 16, 2017, a subsidiary of the company, along with its institutional partners, acquired a 51% interest in TerraForm
Power, Inc., a large scale diversified portfolio of solar and wind assets located predominantly in the U.S., for total consideration
of $719 million. Total revenues and net loss that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the
year are $622 million and $46 million, respectively.

On December 1, 2017, a subsidiary of the company acquired Houston Center, a 4.2 million square foot mixed-use office and retail
complex in Houston, Texas, for total consideration of $819 million, including $175 million cash consideration with the remainder
funded through debt financing. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at
the beginning of the year are $120 million and $26 million, respectively.

On December 7, 2017, a subsidiary of the company acquired a portfolio of 14 office properties with 2.7 million square feet of
office space in Mumbai, India (“Mumbai Office Portfolio™), for total consideration of $102 million. Total revenues and net
income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $53 million and
$1 million, respectively.

On December 28, 2017, a subsidiary of the company, along with its institutional partners, acquired a 100% interest in TerraForm
Global, Inc., a large scale diversified portfolio of solar and wind assets located predominantly in Asia and South America, for total
consideration of $757 million. Total revenues and net loss that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the
beginning of the year are $249 million and $33 million, respectively.

6. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instrument disclosures as at December 31, 2018 are in accordance with IFRS 9; prior period amounts have not been
restated (refer to Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements for additional information).

a) Financial Instrument Classification

The following tables list the company’s financial instruments by their respective classification as at December 31,2018 and 2017:

Fair Value Fair Val Amortized
AT e . me Profitor L ThroughOC1 - Cost Total
Financial assets’
Cash and cash equUIValents............ccocoeveveueerevereieeeeeeee e $ — 3 — 8390 $ 8,390
Other financial assets
Government DONAS.........ocvevveriereeiieeie e 68 20 — 88
Corporate DONAS.......cc.eeuieieieieieneneeeeiceeet e 536 96 273 905
Fixed income securities and other...........c.ccccoeevveviieieiieneennnn, 570 311 156 1,037
Common shares and Warrants..............c.ccooeeeeeeeeevveeeveeeneeeennen. 689 1,690 — 2,379
Loans and notes receivable 50 — 1,768 1,818
1,913 2,117 2,197 6,227
Accounts receivable and other’..............oo.oeiveeeeeeerereeeereseeeeees 2,113 — 10,449 12,562
$ 4,026 $ 2,117 $ 21,036 $ 27,179
Financial liabilities
COrporate BOTTOWINGS........cveveeereveeeeeerereeieeeeteeeeeeseeees e $ — 3 — 6,409 $ 6,409
Non-recourse borrowings of managed entities
Property-specific bOrrowings ..........cccceeeveeveenieenierneeneennene — — 103,209 103,209
Subsidiary BOITOWINES .......c.coverveuirieirrerieenieeneneeeereeeieneenennens — — 8,600 8,600
— — 111,809 111,809
Accounts payable and OLNET? oo 3,362 — 20,627 23,989
Subsidiary equity obligations ...........cceceevrveveuirniereerenrerecennnerenens 1,725 — 2,151 3,876
$ 5,087 $ — $ 140,996 $ 146,083

1. Financial assets include $7.2 billion of assets pledged as collateral.
2. Includes derivative instruments which are elected for hedge accounting, totaling $1.5 billion included in accounts receivable and other and $465 million included in accounts
payable and other, for which changes in fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income.
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Loans and

Fai{1 Valul(?1 Available f Receivables/
ProfitorLoss - Sale O i
Measurement basis (Fair Value) (Fair Value) (Amortized Cost) Total
Financial assets’'
Cash and cash equivalents ..............cccceveveveveeereveceeeeeceene $ — 3 — 3 5,139 $ 5,139
Other financial assets
Government bonds .........cocvereereeriieiie e 34 15 — 49
Corporate DONAS .........ccuerveririeieiieieieee e 382 253 8 643
Fixed income securities and other............cccccevevieieeeennnne. 230 432 — 662
Common shares and warrants ..............cccoeeeeevveeveeeesreeeneenne. 585 1,247 — 1,832
Loans and notes receivable .........cc.ooevvvveiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeene 63 — 1,551 1,614
1,294 1,947 1,559 4,800
Accounts receivable and other...........oververveeeeeeeeeeeeeseesreseeneen 1,383 — 8,233 9,616
$ 2,677 $ 1,947 $ 14,931 $ 19,555
Financial liabilities
Corporate BOTTOWINGS ........ccveveveeererereeieeereeeeeerete e $ — 3 — 3 5,659 $ 5,659
Non-recourse borrowings of managed entities
Property-specific bOrrowings ........c.cceceeveeveenenenenenenenene. — — 63,721 63,721
Subsidiary DOITOWINGS .......cceeverueeieieierienienienieseseseeeeneens — — 9,009 9,009
— — 72,730 72,730
Accounts payable and OLHET? oo 3,841 — 14,124 17,965
Subsidiary equity obligations............ceeeveveruerierenereseeeenennas 1,559 — 2,102 3,661
$ 5,400 $ — 94,615 $ 100,015

1. Financial assets include $4.1 billion of assets pledged as collateral.
2. Includes derivative instruments which are elected for hedge accounting, totaling $630 million included in accounts receivable and other and $950 million included in
accounts payable and other, for which changes in fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) financial assets are presented in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period in which they arise. Dividends from FVTPL and fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) financial assets are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations when the
company’s right to receive payment is established. Interest on FVTOCI financial assets is calculated using the effective interest
method and reported in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

FVTOCI debt and equity securities are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value with changes in fair value recorded through
other comprehensive income. As at December 31, 2018, the unrealized gains and losses relating to the fair value of FVTOCI
securities amounted to $212 million (2017 — available for sale gains of $26 million) and $152 million (2017 — available for sale
losses of $nil), respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, $nil of net deferred losses (2017 — $69 million) previously recognized in accumulated
other comprehensive income were reclassified to net income as a result of the disposition or impairment of certain of our FVTOCI
financial assets that are not equity instruments.

Included in cash and cash equivalents is $7.7 billion (2017 — $4.5 billion) of cash and $685 million (2017 — $635 million) of short-
term deposits as at December 31, 2018.

155 BROOKFIELD ASSET MANAGEMENT



b) Carrying and Fair Value

The following table provides the carrying values and fair values of financial instruments as at December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
AS AT DEC. 31 Carrying Carrying .
(MILLIONS) Value Fair Value Value Fair Value
Financial assets
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS ...............cocvevieveiireieeeeeeeeeceeee et $ 8,390 $ 8390 $ 5139 $ 5139
Other financial assets
GOVernMENt BONAS ........coouiiiiiiieieeeeee et 88 88 49 49
COrporate DONAS .......c.cuiuiiiieiiiieieicet ettt 9205 905 643 643
Fixed income securities and Other..............ccoiviiiiiiioieeieeeee e 1,037 1,037 662 662
Common Shares and WAITANLS .............c..eiveuieeeueeiiieeeie e eeeeeeeee e e e seaeeseaeeeeeaeas 2,379 2,379 1,832 1,832
Loans and notes reCeivable ............cc.oiouiiiiiiiiieceieceecceeeeeeee e 1,818 1,818 1,614 1,657
6,227 6,227 4,300 4,843
Accounts receivable and Other..............ccoovvuiiiiiiiiiiiicieeeee e 12,562 12,562 9,616 9,616

$ 27,179 $ 27,179 $ 19,555 $ 19,598
Financial liabilities
COrporate DOTTOWINGS .........ovieiveeieieeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ees e aeneseaenn $ 6,409 $ 6,467 $ 5,659 $ 6,087

Non-recourse borrowings of managed entities

Property-specific borrowings 103,209 104,291 63,721 65,399
Subsidiary DOITOWINGS..........cvcvvevieiriirierietieie ettt ettt s s ssesre b v eeas 8,600 8,557 9,009 9,172
111,809 112,848 72,730 74,571

Accounts payable and other..............cccocveiiiieiiiiieieceee e 23,989 23,989 17,965 17,965
Subsidiary equity ObIIZAtiONS.........c..ceevieuieieieieiecie ettt 3,876 3,876 3,661 3,661

$ 146,083 $ 147,180 § 100,015 § 102,284

The current and non-current balances of other financial assets are as follows:

ﬁlﬂl‘%‘f\%f‘ 2018 2017
CUITEIE ...t ettt e et et et e et e et e e et e e et eeaeeea e e ae e e e eaeeemeesese et e saeesaeesaeeeaeeeeeeseemnesasesneesaeesaeeeas $ 3382 §$ 2,568
INODIECUITEIE ...ttt et e et e e e et e e e e et et e e eea st e esenaseeeesaesteeseaaaseeeeensstessesnsseesesnsseessnnaseessannsaeens 2,845 2,232
TOUAL ...ttt et ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e et et e et e eae et s et s ert et et et e ereeteeaeeaeereent et et eeteeteereersenseneenes $ 6227 § 4,800
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¢) Fair Value Hierarchy Levels

The following table categorizes financial assets and liabilities, which are carried at fair value, based upon the fair value
hierarchy levels:

2018 2017
f‘h,sﬂﬂ%‘;cs-f‘ Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets
Other financial assets
Government bonds.............ccveeverevreeueeieneereenienas $ — 3 88 $ — 3 — $ 49 3 —
Corporate bonds..........c.cceeveeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeereereeneas — 632 — 127 508 —
Fixed income securities and other ..............c.cc......... 22 369 490 20 233 409
Common shares and warrants.................cc.ccoeeueene.. 1,928 229 222 1,586 — 246
Loans and notes receivables .............cocoeveerieierennene — 46 4 — 62 1
Accounts receivable and other .............c..cccoeeieieennnn. 44 1,990 79 15 1,155 213

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and other ..............c..coccoeverieeeenennn. $ 81 $§ 2,622 § 659 $ 134 '§ 3,003 $ 704
Subsidiary equity obligations.............c.cceevevvevreereenenn. — 85 1,640 — — 1,559

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no transfers between Level 1, 2 or 3.

Fair values of financial instruments are determined by reference to quoted bid or ask prices, as appropriate. If bid and ask prices
are unavailable, the closing price of the most recent transaction of that instrument is used. In the absence of an active market, fair
values are determined based on prevailing market rates for instruments with similar characteristics and risk profiles or internal or
external valuation models, such as option pricing models and discounted cash flow analysis, using observable market inputs.

The following table summarizes the valuation techniques and key inputs used in the fair value measurement of Level 2
financial instruments:

(MILLIONS) Carrying Value
Type of Asset/Liability Dec. 31,2018 Valuation Techniques and Key Inputs
Derivative assets/Derivative $ 1,990/ Foreign currency forward contracts — discounted cash flow model — forward
liabilities (accounts receivable/ 2622 exchange rates (from observable forward exchange rates at the end of the
accounts payable) .......c.ccccevuenene (2.622) reporting period) and discounted at credit adjusted rate
Interest rate contracts — discounted cash flow model — forward interest rates
(from observable yield curves) and applicable credit spreads discounted at a
credit adjusted rate
Energy derivatives — quoted market prices, or in their absence internal
valuation models, corroborated with observable market data
Other financial assets .................... 1,364  Valuation models based on observable market data
Redeemable fund units (85) Aggregated market prices of underlying investments

(subsidiary equity obligations) ..

Fair values determined using valuation models requiring the use of unobservable inputs (Level 3 financial assets and liabilities)
include assumptions concerning the amount and timing of estimated future cash flows and discount rates. In determining those
unobservable inputs, the company uses observable external market inputs such as interest rate yield curves, currency rates and
price and rate volatilities, as applicable, to develop assumptions regarding those unobservable inputs.
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The following table summarizes the valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement
of Level 3 financial instruments:

(MILLIONS) Lo Carrying Value Valuation Significant Relationship of Unobservable

Type of Asset/Liability Dec. 31,2018 Techniques Unobservable Inputs  Inputs to Fair Value

Fixed income securities and $ 490 Discounted cash ¢ Future cash flows ¢ Increases (decreases) in
Other ..o flows future cash flows increase

(decrease) fair value

* Discount rate Increases (decreases) in
discount rate decrease

(increase) fair value

Common shares (common 222 Black-Scholes Volatility Increases (decreases) in
shares and warrants) ............ model volatility increase (decreases)
fair value

* Term to maturity Increases (decreases) in term
to maturity increase

(decrease) fair value

* Risk free interest rate Increases (decreases) in the
risk-free interest rate increase

(decrease) fair value

Limited-life funds (subsidiary (1,640) Discounted cash Future cash flows Increases (decreases) in
equity obligations)............... flows future cash flows increase
(decrease) fair value

* Discount rate Increases (decreases) in
discount rate decrease

(increase) fair value

* Terminal Increases (decreases) in
capitalization rate terminal capitalization
rate decrease (increase) fair
value

Increases (decreases) in the
investment horizon decrease
(increase) fair value

Investment horizon

Derivative assets/Derivative 79/ Discounted cash Future cash flows Increases (decreases) in
liabilities (accounts flows future cash flows increase
receivable/payable).............. (659) (decrease) fair value

* Forward exchange Increases (decreases) in the
rates (from forward exchange rate
observable forward increase (decrease) fair value
exchange rates at the
end of the reporting
period)

* Discount rate Increases (decreases) in
discount rate decrease

(increase) fair value

The following table presents the changes in the balance of financial assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
AS AT AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 Financial ~ Financial  Financial  Financial
(MILLIONS) Assets  Liabilities Assets  Liabilities
Balance, beginning of Year..............ccccvvveieiivieiiiiieeceeeeee e $ 869 $ 2263 $ 1,739 § 1,449
Fair value changes in net iNCOME .............cceveevierierierieeieieieeeeeeeeeee e (113) (89) (313) 2
Fair value changes in other comprehensive income’ .............o.cooovvvvevevereeerere ?2) (48) 5 67
Additions, net of diSPOSAlS ........cccceeieieriirieriiciceee e 41 173 (562) 749
Balance, end Of YEaT ..........c.coioiiiiiieiieeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 795§ 2299 $ 869 § 2,263

1. Includes foreign currency translation.
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The following table categorizes liabilities measured at amortized cost, but for which fair values are disclosed based upon the fair
value hierarchy levels:

2018 2017
E}\,SH’E{%%CS-)“ Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Corporate BOITOWINGS............cocvevevieeevereiiieiereenseseaeans $ 6376 $ 91 § — $ 6,087 § — —
Property-specific borrowings ............ceeveveververrennenne. 6,918 30,214 67,159 2,123 24,502 38,774
Subsidiary bOrrowings..............cceeeeveeeeeevievierienreenens 3,640 2,355 2,562 3,825 2,030 3,317
Subsidiary equity obligations — — 2,151 — — 2,102

Fair values of Level 2 and Level 3 liabilities measured at amortized cost but for which fair values are disclosed are determined
using valuation techniques such as adjusted public pricing and discounted cash flows.

d) Hedging Activities

The company uses derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments to manage or maintain exposures to interest, currency,
credit and other market risks. Derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value. For certain derivatives which are
used to manage exposures, the company determines whether hedge accounting can be applied. Hedge accounting is applied
when the derivative is designated as a hedge of a specific exposure and there is assurance that it will continue to be highly
effective as a hedge based on an expectation of offsetting cash flows or fair value. Hedge accounting is discontinued
prospectively when the derivative no longer qualifies as a hedge or the hedging relationship is terminated. Once discontinued,
the cumulative change in fair value of a derivative that was previously recorded in other comprehensive income by the
application of hedge accounting is recognized in profit or loss over the remaining term of the original hedging relationship
as amounts related to the hedged item are recognized in profit or loss. The assets or liabilities relating to unrealized mark-
to-market gains and losses on derivative financial instruments are recorded in financial assets and financial liabilities,
respectively.

i. Cash Flow Hedges

The company uses the following cash flow hedges: energy derivative contracts to hedge the sale of power; interest rate swaps to
hedge the variability in cash flows or future cash flows related to a variable rate asset or liability; and equity derivatives to hedge
long-term compensation arrangements. For the year ended December 31, 2018, pre-tax net unrealized gains of $38 million (2017 —
$42 million) were recorded in other comprehensive income for the effective portion of the cash flow hedges. As at December 31,
2018, there was an unrealized derivative asset balance of $468 million relating to derivative contracts designated as cash flow
hedges (2017 — $349 million asset).

ii. Net Investment Hedges

The company uses foreign exchange contracts and foreign currency denominated debt instruments to manage its foreign currency
exposures arising from net investments in foreign operations. For the year ended December 31, 2018, unrealized pre-tax net gains
0f'$999 million (2017 —netunrealized losses of $748 million) were recorded in other comprehensive income for the effective portion
of hedges of net investments in foreign operations. As at December 31, 2018, there was an unrealized derivative asset balance of
$523 million relating to derivative contracts designated as net investment hedges (2017 — liability balance of $676 million).

e) Netting of Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset with the net amount reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets where the company
currently has a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
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The company enters into derivative transactions under International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”) master netting
agreements. In general, under such agreements the amounts owed by each counterparty on a single day are aggregated into a single
net amount that is payable by one party to the other. The agreements provide the company with the legal and enforceable right to
offset these amounts and accordingly the following balances are presented net in the consolidated financial statements:

Accounts Receivable Accounts Payable
and Other and Other

{;\,SH/E{I%%CS-)“ 2018 2017 2018 2017
Gross amounts of financial instruments before netting ...........cceceevevveverienenenene $ 2367 $§ 1605 $ 1,873 § 2,124
Gross amounts of financial instruments set-off in Consolidated Balance Sheets.. (254) (223) (250) (267)
Net amount of financial instruments in Consolidated Balance Sheets................... $ 2113 $§ 1382 $ 1,623 § 1,857
7. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER

?&I’E{I%‘i%fl Note 2018 2017
ACCOUNLS TECEIVADIL ...ttt ettt (a) $ 9167 $ 7,209
Prepaid expenses and Other aSSEts..........ccocvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e (a) 5,508 3,350
RESIICEd CASN......viiiiiiiiiicc e (b) 1,923 1,024
SUSAINADIE TESOUICTES .......euvviiniieiciiiietcereetete ettt enennn (c) 333 390
TOTAL oo eeeeeeeee e e e e s ee s e eeeseees e ees s ees s e e e e e eee s ees s ees e eee s ees s ees s e ees e ees e es e eeseeee $ 16,931 $ 11,973

The current and non-current balances of accounts receivable and other are as follows:

{;\/Slﬁl%%cs-f 1 2018 2017
(3175 1<) L PRSPPI $ 11911 § 8492

3,481
S 1973

a) Accounts Receivable and Other Assets

The increase in accounts receivable and other during 2018 is primarily due to business combinations, with significant contributions
from Westinghouse, Forest City and the privatization of GGP. This increase was partially offset by the impact of foreign exchange.

Accounts receivable includes contract assets of $641 million. Contract assets relate primarily to work-in-progress on our long-
term construction services contracts for which customers have not yet been billed.

b) Restricted Cash

Restricted cash primarily relates to the company’s real estate, renewable power and private equity financing arrangements including
defeasement of debt obligations, debt service accounts and deposits held by the company’s insurance operations.

¢) Sustainable Resources

The company held 1.7 million acres of consumable freehold timberlands at December 31, 2018 (2017 — 1.7 million), representing
40.3 million cubic meters (2017 — 40.6 million) of mature timber and timber available for harvest. Additionally, the company
provides management services to approximately 1.3 million acres (2017 — 1.3 million) of licensed timberlands.
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The following table presents the change in the balance of timberlands and other agricultural assets:

S\/S[Iﬁ—]l:f?)r\ll\%)FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
Balance, beginning Of YEAT ........cc.cciviiiiriiiiiiee ettt ettt sttt $ 390 $ 387
Additions, net of disposals ... 21 78
Fair value adjustments.......... 42 21
Decrease due to harvest.. (89) (103)
FOreign CUITENCY CRAIZES........cueuirieieuiirieietciieteiei ettt ettt sttt sttt a bt a et eenebeaeen 31 7
Balance, €nd OF YEAT .....c..ccoiuiiiiiiicee ettt sttt $ 333 §$ 390

The carrying values are based on external appraisals completed annually as at December 31. The appraisals utilize a combination
of the discounted cash flow and sales comparison approaches to arrive at the estimated value. The significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) included in the discounted cash flow models used when determining the fair value of standing timber and agricultural

assets include:

Relationship of Unobservable Inputs
to Fair Value

Mitigating Factors

Valuation Significant
Techniques Unobservable Inputs
Discounted * Future cash flows
cash flow

analysis

* Timber / agricultural
prices

* Discount rate /
terminal
capitalization rate

» Exit Date

* Increases (decreases) in future cash
flows increase (decrease) fair value

* Increases (decreases) in price increase
(decrease) fair value

* Increases (decreases) in discount rate or
terminal capitalization rate decrease
(increase) fair value

* Increases (decreases) in exit date
decrease (increase) fair value

* Increases (decreases) in cash flows tend to

be accompanied by increases (decreases) in
discount rates that may offset changes
in fair value from cash flows

Increases (decreases) in price tend to be
accompanied by increases (decreases) in
discount rates that may offset changes
in fair value from price

Decreases (increases) in discount rates or
terminal capitalization rates tend to be
accompanied by increases (decreases) in
cash flows that may offset changes in fair
value from rates

Increases (decreases) in the exit date tend
to be the result of changing cash flow
profiles that may result in higher (lower)
growth in cash flows prior to stabilizing in
the terminal year

Key valuation assumptions include a weighted-average discount and terminal capitalization rate of 5.7% (2017 — 5.7%), and
terminal valuation dates of 30 years (2017 — 30 years). Timber and agricultural asset prices were based on a combination of forward
prices available in the market and price forecasts.
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8. INVENTORY

ARG 018 2017
Residential properties under development .. $ 2001 $§ 2245
Land held for deVEIOPIMENL............cviiiiiiiiiriciictieteeteee ettt ettt ettt es s ea e v e v ereeaeese s easesenseeseereersensensens 1,794 1,922
Completed 1eSIAeNtial PrOPETLIES .........ccvevvierierierieteeteeteeteet e et eteereere e ee e e e ereeseereereeseereeseeseseeseeseereersensensenes 1,398 917
Industrial Products AN OTRET! .............ov.eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeese s seeeee e seeeee e se e seeese s se e sseese e se e se e ee e se s eseese e sseeene 1,796 1,227
TOLAL ...ttt ettt ettt h et b st sttt sea e et e b en e s ent et e ehent et et ese b ent et eseneesentesea $ 698 $ 6311

1. Industrial products and other includes fuel inventory of $585 million (2017 — $612 million).

The current and non-current balances of inventory are as follows:

f}jlﬁl%%%)“ 2018 2017
CUITENE <. ettt et et e ee e e e e et e et eu e e et et et e s e s e e s eeaeeaeeaeeese s e s e s eneeeaeeaeeat et et eseaeeaseaseeneereeaeeaeeneane $ 4578 $ 3,585
INOTIECUITENE........eeeeeiieceeee ettt e et e e et e e e e eaae e e aeeeeaeeeeaseeeaeeeesseeenseeenseeeenseeenseeesseeenseeenseeaseeens 2,411 2,726
TOTAL....eeeeeeeee ettt et ettt ettt eteeeae e te e te et e ettt e et e eaeeeteeteeteeteeteenteeree et e eteeereenrs $ 6989 $§ 6311

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the company recognized $25.7 billion (2017 — $15.2 billion) of inventory relating to
cost of goods sold and a $22 million recovery of previously impaired inventory (2017 — $37 million impairment expense). The
carrying amount of inventory pledged as collateral at December 31, 2018 was $3.5 billion (2017 — $2.9 billion).

9. HELD FOR SALE

The following is a summary of the assets and liabilities classified as held for sale as at December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017:

AR Bue - Power _ Fauiy _ Total _Totl
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents.............cccooveviieriienisieeecsseseenens $ 13 3 8 8 — 3 21§ 20
Accounts receivables and other.............coococieeiinirieiinencieeeen 4 75 33 112 44
Investment properties 617 — — 617 1,007
Property, plant and equipment..............cccecveieievierenenese e — 749 30 779 490
Equity accounted inVeStMENtS ..............cccceeieieviecieereereereereereereennans 568 — — 568 —
Other 10Ng-termM ASSELS.......c.evvevirieiiriieieieeeteeere et eseaeeees — 88 — 88 44
Assets classified as held forsale ...........ccoocveeiioieveeeeieeeeeeeeeee. $ 1202 $ 920 $ 63 $ 2,185 $ 1,605
Liabilities -
Accounts payable and Other...............cccocooveveviieiereiieeeceee e, $ 11 $ 173§ 9 3 193 3 212
Non-recourse borrowings of managed entities...............ccccoceeenee. 259 360 — 619 1,212
Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale.............. $ 270 $ 533 % 9 3 812 $§ 1,424

As at December 31, 2018, assets held for sale within the company’s Real Estate segment include ten office assets in the U.S., three
office assets in Brazil, two triple-net lease assets in the U.S. and an equity accounted investment within the LP Investments
portfolio. Within our Renewable Power segment, we are currently holding for sale portfolios of wind and solar assets in South
Africa, Thailand and Malaysia.

During the year, the company sold certain assets and subsidiaries, including our Chilean electricity transmission business for
proceeds of $1.3 billion, a core office property in Toronto for proceeds of $660 million, a portfolio of self-storage properties
for proceeds of $1.3 billion and a U.S. logistics portfolio for proceeds of $3.4 billion.
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10. EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS

The following table presents the ownership interests and carrying values of the company’s investments in associates and joint
ventures, all of which are accounted for using the equity method:

Ownership Interest' Carrying Value
zﬁlﬂl%‘i%)“ 2018 2017 2018 2017
Real estate
Associates
COTE OFFICE ...vvvteececectetceee ettt aeaes 10-23% $ 107 $ 123
COTE TRtATL% ... 34% n/a 8,845
LP Investments and other .. 12 -90% 1,173 1,563
Joint ventures
COTC OFFICE ...ttt ettt et et re e ereenas 15-56% 15-56% 8,258 8,112
COTE TELAIL ..o s e s s s s s s s s s e s s seneon 12 - 68% n/a 11,159 n/a
LP Investments and OthEr ..........cc.cooouiiiiiiiiieeeie ettt 12 -90% 12 -90% 2,252 954
22,949 19,597
Infrastructure
Associates
Utilities .... 11-50% 11-39% 339 1,279
TLANSPOIT.....uvieiietitietietieteett ettt et eete et et se s e b e b e besbeeseeseessessessessassessessens 26-58% 26 -58% 4,100 4,639
Data INFIASIIUCTULE ........eeeveeeeieeeeee ettt ee e e e eeeaeeeeaeeeeaneas 45% 45% 1,705 1,607
OBRET ...ttt ettt 22-50% 20-40% 232 162
Joint ventures
BNOT@Y ...ttt bbbt ne e ne s 50% 50% 1,121 1,013
OBRET ...ttt ettt 50% 50% 139 93
7,636 8,793
Private equity
Associates
INOTDOTA. ...ttt ettt eaenes 42% 40% 1,287 1,364
OBRET ..ottt ettt ettt b ettt n b sebene 13-90%  14-90% 656 1,023
1,943 2,387
Renewable power and other
Renewable POWET aSSOCIALES ...........ceeuieuierierieieeeereeteeteereere et ee s eseere e ere v 14-60% 16—-50% 685 509
Other equity accounted INVEStMENtS” ...............o.ooveevereveeeereeeeeseeeeeeseeseeseeeeees 18 - 85% 12 -85% 434 708
1,119 1,217
TORAL. ..ottt ettt et a bt b sttt R e b n e st ete b st et et ese b ent et et eneebenteseseneeseneesens $ 33,647 $ 31,994

1. Joint ventures or associates in which the ownership interest is greater than 50% represent investments for which control is either shared or does not exist resulting in the
investment being equity accounted.

2. OnAugust 28, 2018, a subsidiary of the company acquired all outstanding shares of GGP Inc. other than those shares previously held by the company and its affiliates. At
this time, the company took control of the entity and it ceased to be accounted for using the equity method. There are a number of joint ventures within our core retail
operations that are now included in the company’s consolidated financial results. Refer to Note 5 of the consolidated financial statements for additional information on the
acquisition of GGP Inc.

3. Carrying value of joint ventures in other equity accounted investments is $395 million (2017 — $346 million).
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The following tables presents the change in the balance of investments in associates and joint ventures:

Real P Renewable
(AREI/ETLI/?)T\J%)FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 Estae;le Infrastructure Ergl?ttf/ andpgtwhg 2018 Total 2017 Total
Balance, beginning of year.............cccccoeveirieinnennne $ 19,597 $ 8793 § 2387 § 1,217 $ 31,994 § 24977
Net additions (disposals)..........cccceeveeiveeirreennenns (8,068) (811) (638) (255) 9,772) 5,063
Acquisitions through business combinations........ 12,379 15 328 30 12,752 231
Share of comprehensive income................c.c........ 980 303 128 195 1,606 1,728
Distributions received ...........coceeririeeererirnenerenns (1,519) (121) (221) (42) (1,903) (732)
Foreign exchange ...........ccccoevveieeeieeeicieieieens (420) (543) 41 (26) (1,030) 727
Balance, end of year ..................ccoooeiviiiniinnnne $ 22949 § 7,636 § 1943 § LLII9 $ 33,647 $ 31,99

Disposals, net of additions, of $9.8 billion in 2018 relate primarily to the GGP privatization. On completing the step-up acquisition,
we recognized a $502 million fair value loss as we wrote down the carrying amount immediately prior to acquiring control and
we derecognized our $7.8 billion investment in GGP. Other disposals during the year include the sales of our Chilean electricity
transmission business and an Australian energy operation, as well as the reclassification of our service provider to the offshore
oil production industry and two entities in our Real Estate and Corporate segments to consolidated subsidiaries. These were partially
offset by new investments in a European student housing portfolio and a gaming operations business in Ontario.

Acquisitions of equity accounted investments through business combinations relate primarily to the $10.8 billion of joint ventures
held within GGP that we are consolidating after completing the step-up acquisition as well as $1.5 billion of joint ventures held
by a diversified U.S. REIT that was acquired in the fourth quarter.
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The following table presents current and non-current assets, as well as current and non-current liabilities of the company’s
investments in associates and joint ventures:

2018 2017
Non- Non- Non- Non-
AS AT DEC. 31 Current Current Current Current Current Current Current Current
(MILLIONS) Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities  Assets Assets Liabilities  Liabilities

Real estate
Associates
. $ 15 § 1,998 § 12§ 457 $ 18 $ 1,671 §$ 14 $ 456

Core office...
Core retail.......cccevveeveeeeceeenenen. — — — — 1,028 37,840 948 13,063

LP Investments and other............ 86 3,430 56 966 410 6,554 204 2,788
Joint ventures
Core office.....ccouvveeinreeiiies 1,789 33,245 2,766 13,998 1,531 31,351 2,225 13,762
Coreretail.........cccoovveveeeeeieenen. 832 40,136 734 16,537 n/a n/a n/a n/a
LP Investments and other.... 686 11,645 776 5,256 166 3,312 343 803
Infrastructure
Associates
UtHES v 289 2,227 325 1,391 631 9,068 756 4,891
Transport 1,507 15,676 1,871 6,358 1,532 16,876 1,387 6,951
Data infrastructure..............c........ 447 6,692 438 2,902 464 6,281 561 2,968
(0]111C) TR 118 659 117 117 40 371 36 121
Joint ventures
ENergy ...coooeveieieieieeeeeeeeee 165 5,034 144 2,813 139 4,741 139 2,716
(0]111C) TR 13 216 5 89 17 228 8 51
Private equity
ASSOCIALES ...
Norbord ......ccoeivieieiieieeeee 509 4,574 363 1,204 709 2,374 356 728
Other.......ccoovvveieiieieieieeeeenn 930 2,187 628 1,140 2,001 18,122 3,124 13,192
Renewable power and other
Renewable power associates.......... 182 2,845 93 974 153 2,536 115 1,080
Other equity accounted
INVEStMENtS ...c.oouvvveieeieieieeaenes 1,081 53 142 152 800 60 90 100

$ 8,649 $130,617 $ 8470 $ 54,354 §9,639 $141,385 § 10,306 $ 63,670

Certain of the company’s investments in associates are subject to restrictions on the extent to which they can remit funds to
the company in the form of cash dividends or repay loans and advances as a result of borrowing arrangements, regulatory restrictions
and other contractual requirements.
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The following table presents total revenues, net income and other comprehensive income (“OCI”) of the company’s investments
in associates and joint ventures:

2018 2017
f\NSII/EEI%%Cs‘)} ! Revenue [ncol\rl:; 0OClI Revenue Incol\rfet OCI
Real estate
Associates
COre OFfICE ... $ 60 $ 71 S — 41 $ 116 $ —
Core retail.......cooeeeeireeeee e 1,536 (1,013) (15) 2,405 (591) 12
LP Investments and other............c.ccoccoeiveineene. 545 301 191 586 320 103
Joint ventures
COre OffiCe.. oo 1,559 1,544 (34) 1,439 1,066 5
Core retail.......ocoiiiiice e 889 449 — n/a n/a n/a
LP Investments and other 342 487 (2) 160 222 16
Infrastructure
Associates
UHHES .. 541 92 110 1,164 101 779
TTANSPOTt ...cviiieiieieeiee e 3,673 (309) (826) 3,723 196 704
Data infrastructure...........coceeeeeereeeenneeerenereenenes 804 64 244 783 58 435
OtheT ... 84 83 363 45 Q) (181)
Joint ventures
ENCrgY ..o 695 92 — 681 15 (1)
OtheT ... 75 19 29) 73 17 14
Private equity
Associates
NOTDOTA .....ovvieeeecececee e 2,424 248 21 498 ®) 5
OtheT ... 1,947 148 36) 2,548 710 (76)
Renewable power and other ..............ccccoeeiieieiinene
Renewable power associates 491 79 469 65 11 59
Other equity accounted investments...............cc...... 133 44 A3 194 23 4

$ 15798 8§ 2,399 $ 411 § 14405 $ 2247 $§ 1,878

Certain of the company’s investments are publicly listed entities with active pricing in a liquid market. The fair value based on
the publicly listed price of these equity accounted investments in comparison to the company’s carrying value is as follows:

2018 2017
AS AT DEC. 31 Public  Carrying Public Carrying
(MILLIONS) Price Value Price Value
GGP ..o n/a na $ 7570 $ 8,844
INOTDOTA ...ttt et et ettt et e reese e b e b e b e besbeeaeenas $ 925 § 1,287 1,176 1,364
36 — 286 201

$ 91 $ 1,287 § 9,032 § 10,409

1. Our investment in GGP was consolidated as at December 31, 2018 and therefore has not been included in current year figures.

At December 31, 2018, the company performed a review to determine if there is any objective evidence that its investment in
Norbord was impaired. As a result of this review, management determined there is no objective evidence of impairment of Norbord
at December 31, 2018.
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11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The following table presents the change in the fair value of the company’s investment properties:

3\%{{%}?\%;0]{ THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
Fair value, DegINNINg OF YT ...........cooiciiiieicieieiiietceeeetee ettt sttt b st a s b eseebeseseesesaerens $ 56,870 $ 54,172
AUQQIEIONS ..ottt ettt ettt ettt s et st st et et e s e s e s e s s et e se s s ese st s e s ete st b esesens s ebeseae s eseananes 3,069 593
Acquisitions through business COMDINALIONS .............c..ccvevvevverreeriirieriereeeeeeeeeeeeteeeeteereereerseseseeseereeseereereereens 33,024 5,851
DHSPOSTHONS ...ttt e ee e s s e e se e e e s e s ee e se e seeese e es e ese e seeseee (8,555) (6,169)
Fair ValUE CRHANEES .......c.eiuiiiiiiiicieteeee ettt ettt ettt ettt et te e s et et e e beeseeseessessessessessesbesteeseereans 1,610 1,021
Foreign currency translation (1,709) 1,402
Fair value, 0d OF YEAT........c.cciiiieiiiceicticeet ettt ettt a s et te et re et et se b ae et et ete b ereetens $ 84309 $ 56,870

1. Includes amounts reclassified to held for sale.

Investment properties include the company’s office, retail, multifamily, logistics and other properties as well as higher-and-better-
use land within the company’s sustainable resources operations. Acquisitions and additions of $36.1 billion relate mainly to business
combinations completed during the year. The step-up acquisition of GGP within our Real Estate segment accounted for $18.0 billion
of this increase. GGP was previously an equity accounted investment, but effective August 28, 2018, began to meet the criteria
for control and was consolidated for financial statement purposes. During the fourth quarter, the acquisition of a diversified
U.S. REIT with office, multifamily and retail assets in our real estate segment added a further $9.4 billion of investment properties
to the company’s portfolio. Other acquisitions and additions include additions to our existing U.K. student housing portfolio, an
office building in New York and capital investments to enhance or expand numerous properties throughout our portfolio.

Dispositions of $8.6 billion in 2018 relate primarily to the sale of core office properties, a portfolio of storage properties and a
U.S. logistics portfolio.

Investment properties generated $5.4 billion (2017 — $4.4 billion) in rental income and incurred $2.1 billion (2017 — $1.6 billion)
in direct operating expenses. Most of our investment properties are pledged as collateral for the non-recourse borrowings at their
respective properties.

The following table presents our investment properties measured at fair value:

A 2018 2017
C0TE OFTICE ...ttt ettt ettt s bbb e st et et e st b e e eb e b e st et e e et e b ene et et ene st et etenteneeteneenea
United States $ 14,827
CANAAA ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e et e et e et e e te et e et e et e eeteeate et e ateeeeeearenean 4,597
AUSITALIA. ...ttt e e et e et e et ee e et e e eateesaeeeaeeeeateesaaeeeaeeeeteeeteeetaeeerbeesaeeeaaeans 2,480
BUTOPC ...ttt ettt et e et e et e eabeeaa e e tb e teeete e be e beeabeenbeerbeeaaeersenaeearaenreenrs 1,040
BIZIL......coeeeeee ettt h et E et h sttt R et a st ee et n et nene e enens 327
COTE TEEATL ...ttt ettt b et s et s bt e st b et eb et e st b e e ettt ene et et ene et et et e nteneeteneeaea —
LP Investments and other
LP Investments office 6,275
LP Investments retail 3,412
LLOGISTICS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et et e teeteeteeteets e st et et e eaeeaeeteeteeteeteeat et et et e teeteeteensersensenne 1,942
IMIIXEAUSE ...ttt ettt e et et e e et e e et e es e e e eeeeaeeae e s e emaeeaaesaeeeasesateeaeesaeesaeeeseeseeneesneennean 2,315
Multifamily 3,925
TTIPLE NCL LEASE.....c.vivicvictieteeeect ettt ettt ettt v ettt teeae s et et et e teeteetsetsessessensesseseeseeseeteeseensensensn 5,067 4,804
SEI-SEOTAZE .......evveviteieetiieteet ettt ettt ettt et e te b ettt e st e se s essesesseseesessese s essesessese s eseesess et e s eneesasseseeseseesessesenns 931 1,854
STUACNE NOUSINE .....ovivieiieiieieieiesie ettt ettt et et e b e teeteeseesbesbe s esbesbeeseeseeseeseessassessassasassessaessesaeseeseans 2,417 1,353
ManUfactured NOUSING ..........ccviiiiieiieiriceicteeteeteete ettt ettt ettt et et e s e ereeveereeteereeseesseasesesesseeseessensensensenne 2,369 2,206
Other INVESTMENT PIOPETLIES .......ccveevieeeeriereereereeeeeeeeteereereereeseeteeseeeeseeseeseeseeseeseessessessensenseseaseeseeseeseeseeseeseenen 4,113 5,513

$ 84309 $ 56,870
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Significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are utilized when determining the fair value of investment properties. The significant

Level 3 inputs include:

Relationship of

Valuation Significant Unobservable Unobservable Inputs to Fair
Technique Inputs Value Mitigating Factors
Discounted cash * Future cash flows — * Increases (decreases) in * Increases (decreases) in cash flows tend to be
flow analysis' primarily driven by net future cash flows increase accompanied by increases (decreases) in
operating income (decrease) fair value discount rates that may offset changes in fair
value from cash flows
* Discount rate  Increases (decreases) in * Increases (decreases) in discount rates tend to

discount rate decrease
(increase) fair value

* Terminal capitalization =~ Increases (decreases) in
rate terminal capitalization rate
decrease (increase) fair

value

* Investment horizon * Increases (decreases) in the
investment horizon decrease
(increase) fair value

be accompanied by increases (decreases) in
cash flows that may offset changes in fair value
from discount rates

Increases (decreases) in terminal capitalization
rates tend to be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in cash flows that may offset
changes in fair value from terminal
capitalization rates

Increases (decreases) in the investment
horizon tend to be the result of changing cash
flow profiles that may result in higher (lower)
growth in cash flows prior to stabilizing in the
terminal year

1. Certaininvestment properties are valued using the direct capitalization method instead of a discounted cash flow model. Under the direct capitalization method, a capitalization

rate is applied to estimated current year cash flows.

The company’s investment properties are diversified by asset type, asset class, geography and markets. Therefore, there may be
mitigating factors in addition to those noted above such as changes to assumptions that vary in direction and magnitude across

different geographies and markets.

The following table summarizes the key valuation metrics of the company’s investment properties:

2018 2017
Terminal Investment . Terminal Investment
Discount  Capitalization Horizon Discount  Capitalization Horizon
AS AT DEC. 31 Rate Rate (years) Rate Rate (years)
Core office
United States...........cccceevevennene 6.9% 5.6% 12 7.0% 5.8% 13
Canada.......ccoooevveeinirieeenne 6.0% 5.4% 10 6.1% 5.5% 10
Australia .......ccoooereoeiiiiene 7.0% 6.2% 10 7.0% 6.1% 10
Brazil ......cooooeiiiiiieee 9.6% 7.7% 6 9.7% 7.6% 7
Core retail.......ccccooveenireeenennne 7.1% 6.0% 12 n/a n/a n/a
LP Investments and other
LP Investments office............ 10.2% 7.0% 6 10.2% 7.5% 7
LP Investments retail............. 8.9% 7.8% 9.0% 8.0% 10
Logistics ...coeveereieieieieeies 9.3% 8.3% 10 6.8% 6.2% 10
Mixed-Use.......cccovveerrerienennne 7.8% 5.4% 10 8.4% 5.3% 10
Multifamily" ........ccoccooevreene.. 4.8% n/a n/a 4.8% n/a n/a
Triple net lease' ..................... 6.3% n/a n/a 6.4% n/a n/a
Self-storage’ .........ooovveveeeren 5.7% n/a n/a 5.8% n/a n/a
Student housing' .................. 5.6% n/a n/a 5.8% n/a n/a
Manufactured housing . 5.4% n/a n/a 5.8% n/a n/a
Other investment properties' . 7.0% n/a n/a 5.8% n/a n/a

1. Multifamily, triple net lease, self-storage, student housing, manufactured housing and other investment properties are valued using the direct capitalization method. The
rates presented as the discount rate represent the overall implied capitalization rate. The terminal capitalization rate and the investment horizon are not applicable.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The company’s property, plant and equipment relates to the operating segments as shown below:

Renewable Private Equity
Power (a) Infrastructure (b) Real Estate (¢) and Other (d) Total
f‘@ﬁ%@%ﬁ‘ 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
COStS e $26,108 $24,991 $12,059 $ 9,253 $ 7,713 $ 5,854 $ 9,027 $ 4,050 $54,907 $44,148
Accumulated fair value
changes .......ccooouee.... 18,260 13,280 3,480 3,272 1,045 798 (434) (231) 22,351 17,119
Accumulated
depreciation............... (5:497) (4.681) (1,889) (1,622) (1,106) (873)  (1,472)  (1,086) (9,964)  (3,262)
Total ..o $38,871 $33,590 $13,650 $10,903 $ 7,652 $ 5,779 $ 7,121 §$ 2,733 $67,294 $53,005

1. Includes amounts reclassified to held for sale.

Renewable Power, Infrastructure and Real Estate segments carry property, plant and equipment assets at fair value, classified
as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to the use of significant unobservable inputs when determining fair value.
Private Equity and other segments carry property, plant and equipment assets at amortized cost. As at December 31, 2018,
$50.5 billion (2017 — $38.3 billion) of property, plant and equipment, at cost, were pledged as collateral for the property debt at
their respective properties.

a) Renewable Power

Our renewable power property, plant and equipment consists of the following:

Hydroelectric Wind' Solar and Other Total

(ﬁﬁ%%g)m" THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Cost, beginning of year ............cccoevveirrereennnnne $14,667 $14382 $ 7,622 §$ 3285 $2,702 § 364 $24991 §$18,031
Additions, net of disposals and assets

reclassified as held for sale ...........c..cccooennen. 189 256 (02))] (273)  (684) — (516) (17)
Acquisitions through business combinations... — — 1,184 4,585 1,784 2,338 2,968 6,923
Foreign currency translation ..............ccccvevnnee (988) 29 (209) 25 (138) — (1,335) 54
Cost, end of Year .........cccceeveeveerieieieieiecreenens 13,868 14,667 8,576 7,622 3,664 2,702 26,108 24,991
Accumulated fair value changes, beginning

OF YEAL. ..o 12,176 11,440 1,053 807 51 51 13,280 12,298
Fair value changes...........cccccoeoveveveeecvecreenenns 3,688 341 1,221 33 702 — 5,611 374
Dispositions and assets reclassified as held

fOr SAlC..cviiiieiieiiccee e — (3 — — — — — (3)
Foreign currency translation ..............c.cccv..... (448) 403 (195) 213 12 — (631) 616
Accumulated fair value changes, end of year.. 15,416 12,176 2,079 1,053 765 51 18,260 13,280

Accumulated depreciation, beginning of year .~ (3,564)  (2,947)  (1,008)  (740)  (109) (89) (4,681) (3,776)

Depreciation eXpenses...........ceceeereeeerererervenenenes (547) (579) (416) (267) 192) 200 (1,155) (866)
Dispositions and assets reclassified as held

£OF SALE ... 5 — 6 51 35 — 46 51
Foreign currency translation 227 (38) 60 (52) 6 — 293 (90)
Accumulated depreciation, end of year............ (3.879) (3,564) (1,358) (1,008) (260) (109)  (5,497) (4,681)
Balance, end of year.............cccoooeeveveeeecnnn. $25,405 $23279 $ 9,297 $ 7,667 $4,169 $ 2644 $38,871 $33,590

1. Our wind property, plant and equipment is now being presented separately from solar and other.
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The following table presents our renewable power property, plant and equipment measured at fair value by geography:

AS AT DEC. 31
(MILLIONS)

North America.............

Colombia......................

2018 2017

...................................................................................................................................... $ 24274 § 22,832
...................................................................................................................................... 6,665 5,401
3,748 1,088

3,505 3,443

679 826

$ 38871 §$ 33,590

1. Other refers primarily to China, India, Chile and Uruguay in 2018 and South Africa, China, India, Malaysia and Thailand in 2017.

Renewable power assets are accounted for under the revaluation model and the most recent date of revaluation was
December 31, 2018. Valuations utilize significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) when determining the fair value of renewable
power assets. The significant Level 3 inputs include:

Valuation Significant Relationship of Unobservable Inputs to

Technique Unobservable Inputs Fair Value Mitigating Factors
Discounted cash * Future cash flows — * Increases (decreases) in future cash < Increases (decreases) in cash flows
flow analysis primarily impacted by flows increase (decrease) fair value tend to be accompanied by increases
future electricity price (decreases) in discount rates that may
assumptions offset changes in fair value from cash

flows

+ Discount rate  Increases (decreases) in discount rate * Increases(decreases)indiscountrates
decrease (increase) fair value tend to be accompanied by increases

Key valuation metrics
summarized below.

(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in fair value from
discount rates

Terminal * Increases (decreases) in terminal < Increases (decreases) in terminal
capitalization rate capitalization rate decrease (increase) capitalization rates tend to be
fair value accompanied by increases

(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in fair value from
terminal capitalization rates

Exit date  Increases (decreases) in the exit date < Increases (decreases) in the exit date
decrease (increase) fair value tend to be the result of changing cash
flow profiles that may result in higher
(lower) growth in cash flows prior to
stabilizing in the terminal year

of the company’s hydroelectric, wind and solar generating facilities at the end of 2018 and 2017 are

North America Brazil Colombia Europe

AS AT DEC. 31 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Discount rate.............

Contracted.............. 4.8-5.6% 4.9-6.0% 9.0% 8.9% 9.6% 11.3% 4.0-43% 4.1-4.5%

Uncontracted.......... 64-72% 65-7.6% 10.3% 10.2% 10.9% 12.6% 5.8-6.1% 5.9-6.3%
Terminal

capita]ization ratel L 61-71% 62-7.5% n/a n/a 10.4% 12.6% n/a n/a
Exitdate.........cccvnene 2039 2037 2047 2032 2038 2037 2033 2031

1. Terminal capitalization rate applies only to hydroelectric assets in North America and Colombia.

Terminal values are included in the valuation of hydroelectric assets in the United States, Canada and Colombia. For the
hydroelectric assets in Brazil, cash flows have been included based on the duration of the authorization or useful life of a concession
asset without consideration of potential renewal value. The weighted-average remaining duration at December 31, 2018, which
includes a one-time 30-year renewal for applicable hydroelectric assets completed in the current year, is 29 years (2017 — 15 years).
Consequently, there is no terminal value attributed to the hydroelectric assets in Brazil.
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Key assumptions on contracted generation and future power pricing are summarized below:

Total Generation Contracted

under Power Purchase

Power Prices from Long-
Term Power Purchase

Agreements

Estimates of Future
Electricity Prices

Agreements (weighted average) (weighted average)
z\,\,snﬁ%%cs‘)“’ 2018 1-10years 11-20years 1-10years 11-20years 1-10years 11—20 years
North America (prices in US$/MWh). 44% 21% 93 95 62 114
Brazil (prices in R$/MWh) ................. 69% 35% 286 397 287 452
Colombia (prices in COP$/MWh)....... 22% —% 201,000 — 252,000 354,000
Europe (prices in €/MWh).................. 72% 25% 93 111 79 92

The company’s estimate of future renewable power pricing is based on management’s estimate of the cost of securing new energy
from renewable sources to meet future demand between 2022 and 2025 (2017 — between 2021 and 2025), which will maintain
system reliability and provide adequate levels of reserve generation.

b) Infrastructure

Our infrastructure property, plant and equipment consists of the following:

Data Sustainable
Utilities Transport Energy Infrastructure Resources Total

MiLLIONg) O THEYEARSENDEDDEC. 3L 2913 2017~ 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Cost, beginning of year.............cccocoveeurnreenne $3,473  $2,8904 $ 2,655 $2,361 $2,630 $2382 $§ — — $ 495 $ 408 $ 9253 $ 8,045
Additions, net of disposals and assets

reclassified as held for sale 422 350 73 103 146 81 4 — ?2) 93 643 627
Acquisitions through business

combinations 394 — — — 2,111 100 440 — — — 2,945 100
Foreign currency translation... (269) 229 (243) 191 (206) 67 — — (64) (6) (782) 481
Cost, end of year 4,020 3,473 2,485 2,655 4,681 2,630 444 — 429 495 12,059 9,253
Accumulated fair value changes, beginnin

of year .... .. 1,256 1,044 873 782 629 351 — — 514 513 3,272 2,690
Fair value changes ............cccocvviererneennnne 218 136 18 24 224 257 — — 12 13 472 430
Foreign currency translation......................... (73) 76 81) 67 31 21 — — (79) (12) (264) 152
Accumulated fair value changes, end

OF VAT ..t 1,401 1,256 810 873 822 629 — — 447 514 3,480 3,272
Accumulated depreciation, beginning

OF YEAT ..ot (509) (384) (687) (517) (383) (258) — — 43) @31) (1,622) (1,190)
Depreciation eXpenses .............o.eeeevreenenss (148) (113) (147) (147) (134) (117) — — ®) (10) 437 (387)
Dispositions and assets reclassified as held

for sale........oeiicn e 5 16 22 22 7 4 — — 4 3 38 45
Foreign currency translation........................ 39 (28) 68 (45) 18 (12) — — 7 5) 132 (90)
Accumulated depreciation, end of year ....... (613) (509) (744) (687) (492) (383) — — (40) (43) (1,889) (1,622)
Balance, end of year ... $4,808 $4,220 $ 2,551 $2,841 $5,011 $2,876 $ 444 — $ 836 $ 966

$13,650 $10,903

Infrastructure’s PP&E assets are accounted for under the revaluation model, and the most recent date of revaluation was
December 31, 2018. The company’s utilities assets consist of regulated transmission and regulated distribution networks, which
are operated primarily under regulated rate base arrangements. In the company’s transport operations, the PP&E assets consist of
railroads, toll roads and ports. PP&E assets in the energy operations are comprised of energy transmission, distribution and storage
and district energy assets. Data infrastructure PP&E include mainly telecommunications towers, fiber optic networks and data
storage assets. PP&E within our sustainable resource operations include standing timber, land, roads and other agricultural assets.
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Valuations utilize significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) when determining the fair value of infrastructure’s utilities, transport,
energy, data infrastructure and sustainable resources assets. The significant Level 3 inputs include:

Valuation Significant Relationship of Unobservable Inputs to
Technique Unobservable Inputs Fair Value Mitigating Factors
Discounted cash  Future cash flows * Increases (decreases) in future cash <« Increases (decreases) in cash flows
flow analysis flows increase (decrease) fair value tend to be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in discount rates that may
offset changes in fair value from cash
flows
* Discount rate * Increases (decreases) in discount rate * Increases(decreases)indiscountrates
decrease (increase) fair value tend to be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in fair value from
discount rates
* Terminal * Increases (decreases) in terminal < Increases (decreases) in terminal
capitalization multiple capitalization — multiple  increases capitalization multiple tend to be
(decreases) fair value accompanied by increases
(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in fair value from
terminal capitalization multiple
* Investment horizon * Increases (decreases) in the investment * Increases  (decreases) in  the
horizon decrease (increase) fair value investment horizon tend to be

the result of changing cash flow
profiles that may result in higher
(lower) growth in cash flows prior to
stabilizing in the terminal year

Key valuation metrics of the company’s utilities, transport, energy, data infrastructure and sustainable resources assets at the
end of 2018 and 2017 are summarized below.

Utilities Transport Energy Data Infrastructure Sustainable Resources
AS AT DEC. 31 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Discount rates ..........cc.oveveeeerrrennns 7-14% 7-12% 10-13% 10-15% 12-15% 12-15% 13-15% n/a 5-8% 5-8%
Terminal capitalization multiples...  8x—22x Tx —21x 9x — 14x 9x —14x  10x — 14x 8x—13x  10x—11x n/a  12x-23x 12x - 23x
ey moron | B e e 0-20 1020 _10-20 _ 1020 10 10 10 Wa _ 3-30 330
¢) Real Estate
Accumulated Fair Accumulated
Cost Value Changes Depreciation Total

fﬁlﬁ{%%%f(m THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Balance, beginning of year...................co.c........ $ 584 $5783 $ 798 $ 694 $ (873) $ (825 $ 5,779 §$ 5,652
Additions/(dispositions)', net of assets

reclassified as held for sale...........ccovvveenen... 352 (502) 5 44 43 246 400 (212)
Acquisitions through business combinations .. 1,748 281 — — — — 1,748 281
Foreign currency translation............................ (241) 292 A3) 1 27 (13) (217) 280
Fair value changes.............ccocoevevvvieinieciireinnn, — — 245 59 — — 245 59

Depreciation expenses. — — — — (303) (281) (303) (281)

. $7713 $ 5854 $1,045 $ 798 $(1,106) $ (873) $ 7,652 § 5,779

Balance, end of year....
1. For accumulated depreciation, (additions)/dispositions.

The company’s real estate PP&E assets include hospitality assets accounted for under the revaluation model, with the most recent
revaluation as at December 31, 2018. The company determined fair value for these assets by using the depreciated replacement

cost method. Valuations utilize significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) when determining the fair value of real estate assets. The
significant Level 3 inputs include estimates of assets’ replacement cost and remaining economic life.
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d) Private Equity and Other

Private equity and other PP&E includes assets owned by the company’s private equity and residential development operations.
These assets are accounted for under the cost model, which requires the assets to be carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. The following table presents the changes to the carrying value of the company’s property,
plant and equipment assets included in these operations:

Accumulated Accumulated
Cost Impairment Depreciation Total

iﬁﬁfg‘;]%)m" THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Balance, beginning of year.............c..cccoeveneee. $ 4,050 $ 5268 $ (231) $ (243) $(1,086) $(1,429) $ 2,733 § 3,596
Additions/(dispositions)1, net of assets

reclassified as held for sale.............cc...o........ 360 (1,966) 1 36 72 752 433 (1,178)
Acquisitions through business combinations.. 4,915 501 — — — — 4,915 501
Foreign currency translation............................ (298) 247 15 (16) 78 51 (205) 180
Depreciation eXpenses.........c..oeeveeveeveereeneennene. — — — — (536) (358) (536) (358)
Impairment charges..........coceeevevererererereierenenns — — (219) (8) — — (219) (8)
Balance, end of year.........ccccoeveeeiririeccnen $ 9,027 $ 4,050 $ (434) $ (231) $ (1,472) $(1,086) $ 7,121 § 2,733

1. For accumulated depreciation, (additions)/dispositions.

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table presents the breakdown of, and changes to, the balance of the company’s intangible assets:

Accumulated
Amortization and
Cost Impairment Total
iﬁﬁﬁ}%for{ THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Balance, beginning of year............cccoveeeirreireninen. $ 15251 $ 6,733 $ (1,009 $ (660) $ 14242 § 6,073
Additions, net of disposals .........cccccevvevieeeieieieniennn. 266 25) 16 121 282 96
Acquisitions through business combinations............. 6,590 8,412 — — 6,590 8,412
AMOTHZALOM. ... vee e eee e eeeeeeeees — — (659) (442) (659) (442)
Foreign currency translation 131 110 (28) (1,693) 103
Balance, end of year ..............cocooveeiveeeeeeeeeeenan 15251 $ (1,542) $ (1,009) $ 18,762 $ 14,242
The following table presents intangible assets by geography:

iﬁﬁ%‘i}%f‘ 2018 2017
$ 6270 $ 7,537

2,986 73

2,051 364

1,873 2,078

1,860 1,489

1,118 1,144

928 1,100

843 130

OBIET ...ttt et h et h btk s etk h e h et a bRt b bRt h ettt et b bttt e st e ene 833 327

S 18762 5 14240
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Intangible assets are allocated to the following operating segments:

gjﬁl%'i%f ! Note 2018 2017
INTTASTIUCTULE ....vvveveeeeeeeeceee ettt ettt ettt et et et eteeneese e s e eaeeseeseeseeseeneeneereententeeseeseessensersensensensenes (a) $ 11,641 $ 9,900
PrIVALE EQUITY ....veueetiteiietit ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt s et e et e b e et b e e s et ene et e e e st et entesesaeneebeneeseeaeneee (b) 5,523 3,094
REAL ESTALE ...t ettt e e e et e e et e e e e e e e et e s et e e aaeeseateseateeaaee s tesereeaneens (c) 1,179 1,188
Renewable POWET and OthET ...........ceovivieieicetieeeecee ettt ettt ettt et e ers s enseneans 419 60

a)

$ 18,762 $ 14242

Infrastructure

The intangible assets in our Infrastructure segment are primarily related to:

b)

Concession arrangements of $4.2 billion (2017 — $5.1 billion) at the company’s Brazilian regulated gas transmission operation
that provide the right to charge a tariff over the term of the agreements. The agreements have an expiration date between
2039 and 2041, which is the basis for the company’s determination of'its remaining useful life. Upon expiry of the agreements,
the asset shall be returned to the government and the concession will be subject to a public bidding process.

Access agreements of $1.8 billion (2017 — $2.0 billion) with the users of the company’s Australian regulated terminal which
are 100% take-or-pay contracts at a designated tariff rate based on the asset value. The access arrangements have an expiration
date of 2051 and the company has an option to extend the arrangement an additional 49 years. The aggregate duration of the
arrangements and the extension option represents the remaining useful life.

Concession arrangements totaling $2.9 billion (2017 — $2.4 billion) relating to the company’s Peruvian, Chilean and Indian
toll roads which provide the right to charge a tariff to users of the roads over the terms of the concessions. The Chilean and
Peruvian concessions have expiration dates of 2033 and 2043 while the Indian concessions have expiration dates ranging
from 2027 to 2041. The company uses these expiration dates as a basis for determining the assets’ remaining useful lives.

Contractual customer relationships, customer contracts and proprietary technology of $1.4 billion (2017 —n/a) at the company’s
North American residential energy infrastructure operations. These assets are amortized straight line over 10 to 20 years.

Indefinite life intangible assets of $653 million (2017 — $297 million). The increase from 2017 is primarily attributable to
the brand value at our recently acquired North American residential energy infrastructure operations.

Private Equity

The intangible assets in our Private Equity segment are primarily related to:

¢)

Water and sewage concession agreements, the majority of which are arrangements with municipal governments across Brazil,
of $1.8 billion (2017 — $2.1 billion). The concession agreements provide the company the right to charge fees to users over
the terms of the agreements in exchange for water treatment services, ongoing and regular maintenance work on water
distribution assets and improvements to the water treatment and distribution systems. The concession agreements have
expiration dates that range from 2037 to 2055 which is the basis for the company’s determination of its remaining useful life.
Upon expiry of the agreements, the assets shall be returned to the government.

Computer software, patents, trademarks and proprietary technology of $2.1 billion (2017 — $126 million). The increase from
2017 is primarily attributable to the proprietary technology at a service provider to the power generation industry, which we
acquired in 2018. The proprietary technology has the potential to provide competitive advantages and product differentiation
and is assessed to have a useful life of 15 years.

Real Estate

The company’s intangible assets in its Real Estate segment are attributable to indefinite life trademarks associated with its hospitality
assets, primarily Center Parcs and Atlantis. The Center Parcs and Atlantis trademark assets have been determined to have an
indefinite useful life as the company has the legal right to operate these trademarks exclusively in certain territories and in perpetuity.
The business models of Center Parcs and Atlantis are not subject to technological obsolescence or commercial innovations in
any material way.
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Inputs Used to Determine Recoverable Amounts of Intangible Assets

We test finite life intangible assets for impairment when an impairment indicator is identified. Indefinite life intangible assets are
tested for impairment annually. We use a discounted cash flow valuation to determine the recoverable amount and consider the
following significant unobservable inputs as part of our valuation:

Valuation
Technique

Significant
Unobservable Input(s)

Relationship of Unobservable Input(s)

to Fair Value Mitigating Factor(s)

Discounted cash ¢ Future cash flows

flow models

* Increases (decreases) in future cash
flows increase (decrease) the
recoverable amount

* Increases (decreases) in cash flows
tend to be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in discount rates that may
offset recoverable

* Discount rate .

Increases (decreases) in discount rate

decrease (increase) the recoverable

amount

changes in
amounts from cash flows

Increases (decreases) in discount
rates tend to be accompanied by
increases (decreases) in cash flows
that may offset changes in
recoverable amounts from discount
rates

» Terminal capitalization e+ Increases (decreases) in terminal < Increases (decreases) in terminal
rate capitalization rate decrease (increase) capitalization rates tend to be
the recoverable amount accompanied by increases
(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in recoverable
amounts from terminal capitalization
rates
» Exit date * Increases (decreases) in the exit date <+ Increases (decreases) in the exit date

decrease (increase) the recoverable

amount

14. GOODWILL

The following table presents the breakdown of, and changes to, the balance of goodwill:

tend to be the result of changing cash
flow profiles that may result in higher
(lower) growth in cash flows prior to
stabilizing in the terminal year

Accumulated
Cost Impairment Total

ASAT AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year..............ccccoceeeeveiereeenennns $ 5707 $§ 4,162 $ 390) $ (379) $ 5317 $ 3,783

Acquisitions through business combinations............. 4,158 1,157 — — 4,158 1,157

Impairment 10SSES........c.cceevivvierieieieecieeeieeesee e — — — 5) — 4)

Foreign currency translation and other' .................... (667) 388 7 (6) (660) 382

Balance, end of year ............coccoveveveiieveveceeeeiae $ 9,198 $§ 5707 $ (383) $ (390) $ 8815 $ 5317

1. Includes adjustment to goodwill based on final purchase price a]lm -
The following table presents goodwill by geography:

Eﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁl 2018 2017

o] o <O $ 2,131 § 1,257

CANAAA ...ttt ettt bttt et s ettt e st h et st s et Rt s At a s b e R ea s s e s ese s b et et et et et ene s s esene s s ene 1,923 432

COLOMIDIA ...ttt ettt e ea e et e e et e e et e e e ae e e et e e e ae e e s eeeeateesaseesaeeeenseesneesneeeenaeesaneesneas 1,384 912

UNIEEA STAES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e et e et et et e et st s et e s e st e s e s e s e e s et es et et e s es e e eaeseseneesetene e esenenn 1,306 400

876 1,026

762 905

433 385

S _8AIS S 5317
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Goodwill is allocated to the following operating segments:

321?{1%%%)3 ! Note 2018 2017
Infrastructure (a) $ 385 § 1,301
Private equity (b) 2,411 1,555
REAL ESTALE ...t ettt e e e et e e et e e e e e e e et e s et e e aaeeseateseateeaaee s tesereeaneens (c) 1,157 1,127
S Lo o) (S 10 OO (d) 941 901
Asset management.... 328 312
ORET ...ttt ettt et b st et et e e b e st ek e a st s et et e s e st b et st b e st be b ene b e st s e s eneebentenan 119 121
TOTAL .ttt a ettt s ettt n ettt en et et n et s et et e s neneees $ 8815 § 5317

a) Infrastructure

Goodwill in our Infrastructure segment is primarily attributable to acquisitions completed in 2018, including a North American
residential energy infrastructure operation ($1.3 billion), a Colombian natural gas distribution business ($621 million), a Western
Canadian natural gas gathering and processing business ($524 million) and a portfolio of North American data centers
($463 million). The purchase price allocations for these acquisitions have been completed on a preliminary basis.

Excluding the acquisitions completed in 2018, the remainder of the goodwill is primarily attributable to a Brazilian regulated gas
transmission business and Australian port business.

Goodwill attributable to our Brazilian regulated gas transmission arose from the inclusion of a deferred tax liability as the tax
bases of the net assets acquired were lower than their fair values. The goodwill is recoverable as long as the tax circumstances
that gave rise to the goodwill do not change. To date, no such changes have occurred.

The valuation assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for our Australian port business are a discount rate of 13.3%
(2017 — 15.0%), terminal capitalization multiple of 9.1x (2017 — 8.9x) and a cash flow period of 10 years (2017 — 10 years). The
recoverable amounts for the years ended 2018 and 2017 were determined to be in excess of their carrying values.

b) Private Equity

Goodwill in our Private Equity segment is primarily attributable to our construction services business, which we test for impairment
using a discounted cash flow analysis to determine the recoverable amount. The recoverable amounts for the years ended 2018
and 2017 were determined to be in excess of their carrying values. The valuation assumptions used to determine the recoverable
amount are a discount rate of 10.0% (2017 — 9.7%), terminal growth rate of 2.8% (2017 — 2.9%) and terminal year of 2023 for
cash flows included in the assumptions (2017 — 2022). The discount rate represents the market-based weighted-average cost of
capital adjusted for risks specific to each operating region and the terminal growth rate represents the regional five-year forecasted
average growth rate from leading industry organizations, weighted by our geographic exposure which can vary year over year.

Acquisitions completed in 2018 increased the amount of goodwill in our Private Equity segment, including a service provider to
the offshore oil production industry ($547 million) and our service provider to the power generation industry ($213 million). The
purchase price allocations for these acquisitions have been completed on a preliminary basis. The remaining goodwill is primarily
associated with our road fuel distribution business and our western Canadian energy operations.

¢) Real Estate

Goodwill in our Real Estate segment is primarily attributable to Center Parcs and IFC Seoul. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment by assessing if the carrying value of the cash-generating unit, including the allocated goodwill, exceeds its recoverable
amount, determined as the greater of the estimated fair value less costs to sell or the value in use. The recoverable amounts for
the years ended 2018 and 2017 were determined to be in excess of their carrying values.

The valuation assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for Center Parcs are a discount rate of 7.4% (2017 — 7.7%)
based on a market-based-weighted-average cost of capital, and a long-term growth rate of 2.0% (2017 — 2.3%).

The valuation assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for IFC Seoul were a discount rate of 7.7% (2017 — n/a)
based on a market-based-weighted-average cost of capital, and a long-term growth rate of 2.0% (2017 — n/a).
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d) Renewable Power

Goodwill in our Renewable Power segment, which is primarily attributable to a hydroelectric portfolio in Colombia, arose from
the inclusion of a deferred tax liability as the tax bases of the net assets acquired were lower than their fair values. The goodwill
isrecoverable as long as the tax circumstances that gave rise to the goodwill do not change. To date, no such changes have occurred.

Inputs used to Determine Recoverable Amounts of Goodwill
The recoverable amounts used in goodwill impairment testing are calculated using discounted cash flow models based on the

following significant unobservable inputs:

Valuation
Technique

Significant
Unobservable Input(s)

Relationship of Unobservable Input(s)

to Fair Value Mitigating Factor(s)

Discounted cash » Future cash flows .

flow models

Increases (decreases) in future cash
flows increase  (decrease) the

* Increases (decreases) in cash flows
tend to be accompanied by increases

» Discount rate

* Terminal capitalization
rate / multiple

+ Exit date / terminal
year of cash flows

15. INCOME TAXES

recoverable amount

Increases (decreases) in discount rate
decrease (increase) the recoverable
amount

Increases (decreases) in terminal
capitalization rate/multiple decrease
(increase) the recoverable amount

Increases (decreases) in the exit date/
terminal year of cash flows decrease
(increase) the recoverable amount

(decreases) in discount rates that may
offset changes in recoverable
amounts from cash flows

Increases (decreases) in discount
rates tend to be accompanied by
increases (decreases) in cash flows
that may offset changes in
recoverable amounts from discount
rates

Increases (decreases) in terminal
capitalization rates/multiple tend to
be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in recoverable
amounts from terminal capitalization
rates

Increases (decreases) in the exit date/
terminal year of cash flows tend to be
the result of changing cash flow
profiles that may result in higher
(lower) growth in cash flows prior to
stabilizing in the terminal year

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are set out below:

(F“%RL EI}(I)ENSSEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
CUITENE INCOME TAXES ...ttt ettt ettt et et s s et esesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesas $ 861 $ 286
Deferred income tax expense / (recovery)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences ..........ccevivieirieiiieieecseeee e 143 499
Expense / (recovery) arising from previously unrecognized tax aSSets..........ccceverueeruerieerieesiesieresieeeeeenens (955) 3
Change of tax rates and NeW 1e@ISIAtION .............ccvevvivviiriieiieiceeeeeee et et et er e ere e ereeaeeaean 297) (175)
Total deferred INCOME tAXES. ......c..ccviiereeee ettt ettt ettt eee et e e e et e eteeeteeeteeeaeeeteeseenseenseensesseeerseeseeesseseennes (1,109) 327

INICOMMIE LAXES ... cvvieeeeeeeeetee ettt ettt ettt e e e et e et e e teeete et e e st e e e easeeneeeaseeseeeaseeseeessenseenssenseenseenseeneeerseeteeeteenseanees $
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The company’s Canadian domestic statutory income tax rate has remained consistent at 26% throughout both of 2018 and 2017.
The company’s effective income tax rate is different from the company’s domestic statutory income tax rate due to the following
differences set out below:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017

StALULOTY INCOIME TAX TALE ... .euveveueniteteteatreeteseeeteteseeeteseseaeseeteseseeteseseesseseseseseseneseeseseneseseseneasesesenssseseneaeasesenn 26 % 26 %

Increase (reduction) in rate resulting from:

Change in tax rates and New 1eZISIAtION. ...........c.ccveviivieiiiieieiieeereceee ettt et et ea e eseer et ereereereenean “ 3)
International operations subject to different tax rates.............coeevvririeirieieriieieieeeeee et Q) 3
Taxable income attributable to non-controlling IMNEEIESES .........cceceeieierierieriierieeee et eeeeeeas 3 )
Portion of gains subject to different taX TateS ..........c.ccvevvivrierierieieieiee ettt ere e ene “ 5)
Recognition of deferred taX @SSELS........ccciiirieririeiiiieietiieeetee ettt ettt sa ettt es e s s ese s eseebesaeseeseseenans 12) 2)
Non-recognition of the benefit of current year’s tax losses 1 3
ORCT .ttt ettt et ettt ettt et e et e et e et e e teeteereete ettt et et et e aeeteetsettentens et e s e ereeteereereereenean 1 1)
EfTECtiVe INCOME tAX TALC......viiviieieeiceeeeeeeeeceecet ettt ettt et et et e et e eteeseetsereessessesseeseeseereeseeseeseeseensenseeseereeseersensens 3)% 12 %
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 relate to the following:
fﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬂ 2018 2017
Non-capital 10SS€S (CANAAQ) ............coovouiuieieeieeeieeeeee ettt ettt e e e s seaetese s s ean s esenenn $ 685 § 657
Capital losses (Canada) 108 171
LOSSES (ULS.) ettt ettt ettt ettt e et e e te e eae e te e te bt e ae et e et e et e eaeeerteeteeeteeteeteeteeneeereareeereenns 2,219 590
L08Ses (INTETNAtIONAL) .....c.oiiiiiitiiiietietieeice ettt ettt ettt ettt eteete e s e s ebesbeeseeseessessessessassessesaesseereesaans 645 861
DITTEIENCE 1 DASIS .....vecveieeieeetietieteeteete ettt et ettt ettt e e v e eteeaeeteete e s et et e e seeseessensensensenseseereeseereereeneens (13,161) (12,224)
Total net deferred tax HaDIIITIES ........c..coviiiieeeceeeee ettt ettt eaeeteeeeeaseeaeeeaeeereeereeseennes $ (9504) $ (9,945)

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have
not been recognized as at December 31, 2018 is approximately $6 billion (2017 — approximately $5 billion).

The company regularly assesses the status of open tax examinations and its historical tax filing positions for the potential for
adverse outcomes to determine the adequacy of the provision for income and other taxes. The company believes that it has
adequately provided for any tax adjustments that are more likely than not to occur as a result of ongoing tax examinations or
historical filing positions.

The dividend payment on certain preferred shares of the company results in the payment of cash taxes in Canada and the company
obtaining a deduction based on the amount of these taxes.

The following table details the expiry date, if applicable, of the unrecognized deferred tax assets:

g\f[ﬂ%‘f\%f 1 2018 2017
One year from rePOTtiNG AALE ........c.cveieiveiiieiiirietieteeteete ettt ettt ettt et eas e s e eseeseereereeseeseeasesseseesesseeseersensens $ 16 $ —
Two years from rePOIting dAte ..........ccocecivriiiirieiiieietiiete sttt ettt et ete b te s seesessesesseseebesaesesseseesens — —
Three years from rePOTtiNg AAE ..........ccvevieriiriiiriitiitietietieieiertest st ete e e e e et et ebe s e stesteereeseeseessessessessessessesseessans 2 6
After three years from repOrting date ..........c.cceevieuieiiieieiiiecieeteete ettt ettt ettt et ere s easeseeseereereereeraeseens 1,125 530
Do not expire... 1,526 990
TOTAL ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et st b et a et et et st s ke st s et e s et s ek R s b e s eA et s et e st b st e nt st esens s esene e s ene $ 2,669 $ 1,526
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The components of the income taxes in other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are set
out below:

{]\(/[)i E%EN‘Q)EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
Revaluation of property, plant and eqUIPMENL ...........cc.ccveriiriiiiiirieiiereeeeeeeeieet et eeses s eaeere e ereereeraesnens $ 1302 § (315)
Financial contracts and poOwer Sale a@reeMENLS...........ccoceirririeirreieriieeiteeesesseseesesseressesseseseseesessesesseseesessesens 26 27
Fair value through OCT SECUITHES ............vueeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeseeeeeee e ee e seeese s eees e eseess e ss s e e es et eesese e seeseee 10 5
Foreign currency translation..............cuecieviiiiiiiioictietiei ettt ettt ettt ettt st ete et e s essesseesesseereeteereesaennens 69 (43)
Revaluation of pension ODIIALION. ... ......c..ciciiviiriiieiereieeteee ettt e ere s e ereeae e ee s eeseeseeseersersensensenes 7 1
Total deferred tax in other cOMPrehenSIVE IMNCOME .........ccvevvirririieieeieiieieeeeee et sbesbeebeeeeeeeeseens $ 1414 $ (325)

1. Prior period amounts have not been restated (refer to Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements).

16. CORPORATE BORROWINGS

éﬁlﬂl%ﬁ]csf ! Maturity ~ Annual Rate  Currency 2018 2017
Term debt
Public — Canadian...........c.co.eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e Apr. 9,2019 3.95% C$S $ 440 $ 478
Public — Canadian.............ccoeeeveeeoueeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e Mar. 1, 2021 5.30% C$ 257 278
Public — Canadian............coeceiirreeenneeereeeeeeeee Mar. 31, 2023 4.54% CS$ 441 479
Public — Canadian Mar. 8, 2024 5.04% C$ 367 398
PUbLic — U.S...iiiiiieieeeee e Apr. 1, 2024 4.00% US$ 749 748
Public — U.S. it Jan. 15, 2025 4.00% US$ 500 500
Public — Canadian.............cceceeirieierinieeeieeeeee e Jan. 28, 2026 4.82% CS$ 633 689
PUbLic — U.S...iiiiiieieeeee e Jun. 2, 2026 4.25% US$ 496 496
Public — Canadian............coeeerereeienreeereecee e Mar. 16, 2027 3.80% CS$ 366 397
PUbLic — U.S. i Jan. 25, 2028 3.90% US$ 648 —
PUbLic — U.S...iiiiiieieeeee e Mar. 1, 2033 7.38% US$ 250 250
Public — Canadian................ooooovieeieiiieieceeeeeeeeee e Jun. 14, 2035 5.95% C$ 309 335
Private — Japanese ..........c.cccceevieeeeeeeieierienienie e Dec. 1, 2038 1.42% JPY 91 —
PUbLic — U.S...iiiiiieieeeee e Sep. 20, 2047 4.70% US$ 903 546
6,450 5,594
Commercial paper and bank borroOwings.............cceceeveeieiecierienieseneseeeeeeeeene —% CS$ — 103
Deferred financing costs' 41) (38)
TOLAL ...ttt btttk a st R etk R A E et ARttt e s e sttt et ettt en e st s eteneneas $ 6,409 $ 5,659

1. Deferred financing costs are amortized to interest expense over the term of the borrowing using the effective interest method.

Corporate borrowings have a weighted-average interest rate of 4.5% (2017 — 4.6%) and include $2.8 billion (2017 — $3.2 billion)
repayable in Canadian dollars of C$3.8 billion (2017 — C$4.0 billion) and $91 million (2017 — $nil) repayable in Japanese Yen of
¥10 billion (2017 — ¥nil).
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17. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER

AP 018 2017
Accounts payable .. $ 6873 § 5,158
PLOVISIONS ...ttt e e et e e et e e e e e et e e et e e eat e e e et e seaeeesaseeseatesaaeeesaseesneesseeesaseesseesessessaseesannesaaneenans 2,830 1,651
Other HADIIIHIES ...ttt ettt n e n b ennen 14,286 11,156
TOTAL .ttt ettt n et $ 23989 $ 17,965

The current and non-current balances of accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities are as follows:

AT D3t 2018 2017
CUITENE ..ottt ettt e e e e e e e o2 e e et e et e et et et e et e eaeeaeeaeeeseatensen s e s eeseeaeeaeeeseetententeneensesseeseeneeasensenes $ 14337 $§ 11,148
INOIIECUITENL. ...ttt ettt e et e et e e eat e e eaeeeeeaeeesaeeesaseeeeseseesaeeesseeeseeesseeeennseesnseesnesesnnesesneeesneeeans 9,652 6,817
TORAL ...ttt ettt ettt et ettt ea e ea e a e st et ettt e et s et s eatea s et et et e eaeea s en e en e entent et e teeteeteereenrenes $ 23989 $ 17,965

Post-Employment Benefits

The company offers pension and other post-employment benefit plans to employees of certain of its subsidiaries. The company’s
obligations under its defined benefit pension plans are determined periodically through the preparation of actuarial valuations.
The 2018 acquisition in our Private Equity segment of a service provider to the power generation industry resulted in an increase
in our plan assets and accrued benefit obligations. The benefit plans’ in-year valuation change was a decrease of $19 million
(2017 — an increase of $4 million). The discount rate used was 2% (2017 — 4%) with an increase in the rate of compensation of
2% (2017 — 3%), and an investment rate of 3% (2017 — 5%).

AP 08 2017
PLAN ASSELS.....c.uviiieiiieeiie ettt ettt e et e et e et e e et it e e e et e e e ae e ettt e ea et e e aee e et e e eatee e et e ettt e steeeaaeeaaeeesaeeenaneeaaes $ 1981 § 516
Less accrued benefit obligation:

Defined benefit PEnSIiON PIAN ...........ccccviiviiiiiiieiee et ettt et ettt ene et et e eseeseereereereereereens (2,548) (685)

Other post-eMPloOYMENt DENETILS........c.ccuiitierieiieieieieieriesie sttt ettt e teesaessessessesessessesseeseeseeseas (148) (90)
INEE HADILIEY ...ttt ettt ettt b ettt ea et s s b et et e s et e se e s et ese s esesese s esesessesesesess s esesn s s esess (715) (259)
Less: net actuarial gains (losses) and other .... 10) )
Acerued Benefit THADIIIEY ........c.ovieiieeece ettt ettt n et es e st etean e s sennana $ (725) $ (261)
18. NON-RECOURSE BORROWINGS OF MANAGED ENTITIES
AS AT DEC. 31 Note 2018 2017
SUDSIAIATY DOTTOWIIIES........voveevieiericveeieteeeete ettt ettt ettt es e ese s eseesesseseseseesenseseesessesenseseesenea (a) $ 8600 $ 9,009
Property-specific borrowings .... (b) 103,209 63,721
TORALL.. ettt ettt h ettt a ettt ben et et st et et b et eneete e st eaenene $ 111,809 $ 72,730
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a) Subsidiary Borrowings

Principal repayments on subsidiary borrowings due over the next five calendar years and thereafter are as follows:

Renewable Private Residential
(MILLIONS) Real Estate Power Infrastructure Equity Development Total
$ 343§ — — 3 52 % — 8 395
1 330 275 — 603 1,209
1,868 — — — 86 1,954
— 293 330 — 497 1,120
292 — 510 — 184 986
— 1,705 878 — 353 2,936
.3 2,504 $ 2,328 $ 1,993 $ 52§ 1,723  $ 8,600
$ 3214 $ 1,665 $ 2,102 $ 380 $ 1,648 $ 9,009

The weighted-average interest rate on subsidiary borrowings as at December 31, 2018 was 4.5% (2017 — 4.1%).

The current and non-current balances of subsidiary borrowings are as follows:

ixlvsﬂﬂll())li%)m 2018 2017
$ 395 § 1,956
8,205 7,053

S 860 5 0009

Subsidiary borrowings by currency include the following:

331’2{1%%%)3‘ 2018 Local Currency 2017 Local Currency
U.S. dollars ....c.ooueieiieiiieeeee e $ 6,846 USS$ 6,846 $§ 5305 US$ 5,305
1,613 C$ 2,200 3,547 C$ 4,460
141 AS 200 156 A$ 199
— £ — 1 £ 1

$ 8,600 $ 9,009

b) Property-Specific Borrowings

Principal repayments on property-specific borrowings due over the next five calendar years and thereafter are as follows:

Renewable Private Residential
(MILLIONS) Real Estate Power Infrastructure Equity Development Total
.S 6,108 $ 1,196 $ 1,544 § 1,772 $ 144 $ 10,764
11,895 788 1,112 1,003 105 14,903
13,731 603 834 792 29 15,989
5,742 1,346 839 986 40 8,953
6,721 2,441 3,595 807 10 13,574
19,297 7,859 6,410 5,460 — 39,026
Total — Dec. 31,2018...................... $ 63,494 $ 14,233  § 14,334 $ 10,820 $ 328 $ 103,209
Total — Dec. 31, 2017.......ccoccveueenene. $ 37,235  $ 14,230 $ 9,010 $ 2,898 $ 348  $ 63,721

The weighted-average interest rate on property-specific borrowings as at December 31, 2018 was 5.0% (2017 —4.9%).
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The current and non-current balances of property-specific borrowings are as follows:

AS T DEC 31 2018 2017
Current $ 10,764 $ 8,800

92,445 54921
TOMAL e $ 103209 § 63,721

Property-specific borrowings by currency include the following:

f‘NSH/EL%‘%\%)“ 2018 Local Currency 2017 Local Currency
ULS. dOHIArS ... $ 72,747 USS$ 72,747 $§ 39,164 USS$ 39,164
British pounds ..........cceeieieieeinieeiiseeeeeeeee 7,200 £ 5,643 6,117 £ 4,525
Canadian dollars..............ccoevveieiieieieeieee e 6,285 C$ 8,573 5,272 CS$ 6,627
Brazilian reais 3,825 RS 14,820 2,677 R$ 8,856
European Union euros 3,264 €3$ 2,846 766 €3 638
Australian dollars .............cccoeeviieiiiiieiececeeeeeeeeene 2,968 A$ 4,210 3,518 A$ 4,506
INdIan TUPEES .....eeveeeieeieieieieiecree e 2,026 Rs 140,694 1,346 Rs 85,720
ColombIan PESOS ......c.eevrveveerieiereiiieeereiieiereeeeseaeiens 1,855 COP$ 6,025,270 1,556 COPS 4,645,648
KOTean WO .......ccooueueuiiririeiireieeisee e 1,613 W 1,797415 1,682 W 1,795,518
Chilean unidades de fomento ...........cccoceeevereiercninene 837 UF 21 976 UF 22
Other CUITENCIES .....c.cveviieiiieieieeieie e 589 n/a n/a 647 n/a n/a
TOtAL...oe e $ 103,209 $ 63,721

19. SUBSIDIARY EQUITY OBLIGATIONS

Subsidiary equity obligations consist of the following:

?MSI’E{I%%CS')“ Note 2018 2017
Subsidiary preferred equity units (@ $ 1,622 § 1,597
Limited-life funds and redeemable fund UNIts .............ccoeveieiiiciiciieiiceceeeceeece et (b) 1,724 1,559
Subsidiary preferred shares and Capital.............ccoccoeveveviriiieeieiccece e (c) 530 505
TOTAL .ttt ettt ettt ettt et st s et st n e st e st A et e ne s sete et aenenenas $ 3876 § 3,661

a) Subsidiary Preferred Equity Units

In 2014, BPY issued $1.8 billion of exchangeable preferred equity units in three $600 million tranches redeemable in 2021, 2024
and 2026, respectively. The preferred equity units are exchangeable into equity units of BPY at $25.70 per unit, at the option of
the holder, at any time up to and including the maturity date. BPY may redeem the preferred equity units after specified periods
if the BPY equity unit price exceeds predetermined amounts. At maturity, the preferred equity units that remain outstanding will
be converted into BPY equity units at the lower of $25.70 or the then market price of a BPY equity unit. The preferred equity
units represent a compound financial instrument comprised of the financial liability representing the company’s obligations to
redeem the preferred equity units at maturity for a variable number of BPY units and an equity instrument representing the holder’s
right to convert the preferred equity units to a fixed number of BPY units. The company is required under certain circumstances
to purchase the preferred equity units at their redemption value in equal amounts in 2021 and 2024 and may be required to purchase
the 2026 tranche, as further described in Note 29(a).

AS AT DEC. 31 Shares Cumulative Local

(MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE INFORMATION) Outstanding  Dividend Rate Currency 2018 2017
Series 1 24,000,000 6.25% US$s $ 562§ 551
Series 2 24,000,000 6.50% US$ 537 529
SEIIES 3 ..o 24,000,000 6.75% USs$ 523 517
TOTAL ..o $ 1,622 § 1,597
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b) Limited-Life Funds and Redeemable Fund Units

Limited-life funds and redeemable fund units represent interests held in our consolidated funds by third-party investors that have
been classified as a liability rather than as non-controlling interest, as holders of these interests can cause our funds to redeem
their interest in the fund for cash equivalents at a specified time. As at December 31, 2018, we have $1.7 billion of subsidiary
equity obligations arising from limited-life funds and redeemable fund units (2017 — $1.6 billion arising from limited-life funds).

In our real estate business, limited-life fund obligations include $813 million (2017 — $813 million) of equity interests held by
third-party investors in two consolidated funds that have been classified as a liability, instead of non-controlling interest, as holders
of these interests can cause the funds to redeem their interests in the fund for cash equivalents at the fair value of the interest at
a set date.

As at December 31, 2018, we have $826 million (2017 — $746 million) of subsidiary equity obligations arising from limited-life
fund units in our infrastructure business. These obligations are primarily composed of the portion of the equity interest held by
third-party investors in our timberland and agriculture funds that are attributed to the value of the land held in the fund. The value
of'this equity interest has been classified as a liability, instead of non-controlling interest, as we are obligated to purchase the land
from the third-party investors on maturity of the fund.

We also have $85 million of redeemable fund units (2017 — $nil) in certain funds managed by our public securities business.
¢) Subsidiary Preferred Shares and Capital

Preferred shares are classified as liabilities if the holders of the preferred shares have the right, after a fixed date, to convert the
shares into common equity of the issuer based on the market price of the common equity of the issuer at that time unless they are
previously redeemed by the issuer. The dividends paid on these securities are recorded in interest expense. As at December 31,
2018 and 2017, the balance related to obligations of BPY and its subsidiaries.

AS AT DEC. 31 Shares Cumulative Local
(MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE INFORMATION) Outstanding  Dividend Rate Currency 2018 2017
Brookfield Property Split Corp

(“BOP Split”) senior preferred shares

SEIIES 1.ttt 924,390 5.25% Uss $ 23 8§ 23

SEIIES 2 ..o 699,165 5.75% cs 13 14

SEIIES 3.ttt 909,994 5.00% C$ 17 18

SEIIES 4 ..ottt 940,486 5.20% C$ 17 19
BSREP II RH B LLC (“Manufactured Housing™)

preferred capital .........o.cceeveveeeeeevieeeeeeeeeee e — 9.00% uss 249 249
Rouse Series A preferred shares...........cccoeevvevieveeneenen. 5,600,000 5.00% US$ 142 142
Forest City Enterprises L.P. (“Forest City”)

Preferred Capital .........c.ooveveevevevecereeieeeceeeeseceeeennens 1,111,004 2.00% uss 29 —
BSREP II Vintage Estate Partners LLC (“Vintage

Estates”) preferred Shares...........ccooevevveveveveeeeveinnnns 10,000 5.00% Us$ 40 40

TOTAL ...ttt b bbbkttt b stk s et b bt a et b et b ekt b bt eas $ 530 $ 505

Each series of the BOP Split senior preferred shares are redeemable at the option of either the issuer or the holder as the redemption
and conversion option dates have passed.

Subsidiary preferred capital includes $249 million at December 31, 2018 (2017 — $249 million) of preferred equity interests held
by a third-party investor in Manufactured Housing which has been classified as a liability, rather than as non-controlling interest,
due to the fact the holders are only entitled to distributions equal to their capital balance plus 9% annual return payable in monthly
distributions until maturity in December 2025. The preferred capital was issued to partially fund the acquisition of the Manufactured
Housing portfolio during the first quarter of 2017.

Subsidiary preferred shares include $142 million at December 31, 2018 (2017 — $142 million) of preferred equity interests held
by a third-party investor in Rouse Properties, L.P., which have been classified as a liability, rather than as non-controlling interests,
due to the fact that the interests have no voting rights and are mandatorily redeemable on or after November 12, 2025 for a set
price per unit plus any accrued but unpaid distributions; distributions are capped and accrue regardless of available cash generated.
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Subsidiary preferred shares also include $40 million at December 31, 2018 (2017 — $40 million) of preferred equity interests held
by a co-investor in Vintage Estates, which have been classified as a liability, rather than as non-controlling interests, due to the
fact that the preferred equity interests are mandatorily redeemable on April 26, 2023 for cash at an amount equal to the outstanding
principal balance of the preferred equity plus any accrued but unpaid dividends.

20. SUBSIDIARY PUBLIC ISSUERS AND FINANCE SUBSIDIARY

Brookfield Finance Inc. (“BFI”) is an indirect 100% owned subsidiary of the Corporation that may offer and sell debt securities.
Any debt securities issued by BFI are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Corporation. BFI issued $500 million of 4.25%
notes due in 2026 on June 2, 2016, $550 million and $350 million of 4.70% notes due in 2047 on September 14, 2017 and
January 17, 2018, respectively, and $650 million of 3.90% notes due in 2028 on January 17, 2018.

Brookfield Finance LLC (“BFL”) is a Delaware limited liability company formed on February 6, 2017 and an indirect 100%
owned subsidiary of the Corporation. BFL is a “finance subsidiary,” as defined in Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X. Any debt securities
issued by BFL are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Corporation. On March 10, 2017, BFL issued $750 million of
4.00% notes due in 2024. On December 31, 2018, as part of an internal reorganization, BFI acquired substantially all of BFL’s
assets and became a co-obligor of BFL’s 2024 notes. BFL has no independent activities, assets or operations other than in
connection with any debt securities it may issue.

Brookfield Investments Corporation (“BIC”) is an investment company that holds investments in the real estate and forest products
sectors, as well as a portfolio of preferred shares issued by the Corporation’s subsidiaries. The Corporation provided a full and
unconditional guarantee of the Class 1 Senior Preferred Shares, Series A issued by BIC. As at December 31, 2018, C$42 million
of these senior preferred shares were held by third-party shareholders and are retractable at the option of the holder.

The following tables contain summarized financial information of the Corporation, BFI, BFL, BIC and non-guarantor subsidiaries:

Subsidiaries of
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR the Corporation
The other than BFI

ENDED DEC. 31,2018 Consolidatin% The Company

(MILLIONS) Corporation1 BFI BFL BIC BFL and BIC Adjustments Consolidated
Revenues........ccccovenenneen. $ 810 $ 43 S 53 § 163 $ 62,984 § (7,282) $ 56,771
Net income attributable

to shareholders.............. 3,584 (46) @ 145 4,506 (4,604) 3,584
Total assets..........coeueen. 59,105 4,330 13 3,296 271,534 (81,997) 256,281
Total liabilities................. 29,290 2,909 6 2,198 154,458 (29,730) 159,131

Subsidiaries of
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR the Corporation
The other than BFL

ENDED DEC. 31,2017 Consolidatin% The Company

(MILLIONS) Corporation' BFI BFL BIC BFL and BIC Adjustments Consolidated
Revenues........ccovvennnee. $ 168 $ 30 § 43 3 22 8 44908 $ (4,385) $ 40,786
Net income attributable

to shareholders............... 1,462 — — 59 2,019 (2,078) 1,462
Total assets..........ccceuee. 53,688 1,060 757 3,761 206,907 (73,453) 192,720
Total liabilities ................ 25,444 1,042 756 2,309 113,336 (30,039) 112,848

1. This column accounts for investments in all subsidiaries of the Corporation under the equity method.
2. This column accounts for investments in all subsidiaries of the Corporation other than BFI, BFL and BIC on a combined basis.
3. This column includes the necessary amounts to present the company on a consolidated basis.

21. EQUITY

Equity consists of the following:

éﬁlﬁ{%ﬁ%—f ! Note 2018 2017
PLEEITEA ©QUILY ...vvivveeeeeeeeeceeeee ettt ettt et ettt et a et e ev e eae et e eteereeneere et et eeseeteeseensensensensensenes (a) $ 4168 $ 4,192
INON-CONLTOLING TNLETESES ......cuviiititietietietietetete st et e teeteeteeseesaesaesbestesteeseeseeseessessessassessesseessessessesseses (b) 67,335 51,628
COMIMON CUILY ....vvveiveeerieritieteeteeteeteeteeesesesteeseeseeseeseeseeseessesseseaseaseeseeseessenseasensesesseeseeseessessessessensens (c) 25,647 24,052

S 9750 5 79872
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a) Preferred Equity

Preferred equity includes perpetual preferred shares and rate-reset preferred shares and consists of the following:

Average Rate
fﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁl 2018 2017 2018 2017
Perpetual preferred shares
FLOALING TALE......cvevietiieiiieiieieieteeiet ettt ettt ae b ebe s s ebeseesennas 2.90% 233% $ 531 $ 531
FIX@A TALE....oviviieeictiietet ettt ettt sttt s st e e te b eseeaesnas 4.82% 4.82% 744 749
4.02% 3.78% 1,275 1,280
Fixed rate-reset preferred Shares...........ooveeeveeeeeeieieeieeeceee et 4.26% 4.21% 2,893 2,912
4.19% 4.08% $ 4,168 $ 4,192
Further details on each series of preferred shares are as follows:
Issued and Outstanding
Gx/snﬂllt))]ilcsilXCEPT PER SHARE INFORMATION) Rate 2018 2017 2018 2017
Class A preferred shares
Perpetual preferred shares
Series 2 70% P 10,457,685 10,465,100 $ 169 §$ 169
Series 4 70% P/8.5% 2,795,910 2,800,000 45 45
Series 8 Variable up to P 2,476,185 2,479,585 42 43
T e O 70% P 9,290,096 9,297,700 195 195
SEries 15 .ouiiiiieiiieiieieeeee e B.A.+40b.p.! 2,000,000 2,000,000 42 42
SErIES 17 vt 4.75% 7,901,476 7,950,756 172 173
Series 18 .o 4.75% 7,921,178 7,966,158 179 180
SEIIES 25 ittt 3-Month T-Bill + 230 b.p. 1,529,133 1,533,133 38 38
SEIIES 36 .ttt 4.85% 7,900,764 7,949,024 199 200
T e 490% 7,888,143 7,949,083 194 195
1,275 1,280
Rate-reset preferred shares”
SETIES D et 2.75% 1,515,981 1,519,115 21 21
SEriES 24 ..ot 3.01% 9,338,572 9,394,250 228 230
Series 26 ... 3.47% 9,840,588 9,903,348 241 243
SEIIES 28 weorrrveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesseeeseeeens 2.73% 9,289,397 9,359,387 233 235
Series 307 ... 4.69% 9,852,258 9,934,050 243 245
Series 327 e 5.06% 11,849,808 11,982,568 300 303
SEriES 34 o.ooviieiieeieeeeeee e 4.20% 9,926,620 9,977,889 254 255
SEries 38 .viiviieiiieeeeeeeee e 4.40% 7,955,948 8,000,000 180 181
SEriES 40 ..oovieeivirereeieeeeeeee e 4.50% 11,914,515 12,000,000 273 275
SEIIES 42 oo 450% 11,943,400 12,000,000 268 269
SEriEs 44 ...ovviiiieiieieieieeee s 5.00% 9,882,879 9,945,189 188 189
Series 46 4.80% 11,810,653 11,895,790 219 220
Series 48 4.75% 11,961,701 12,000,000 245 246
2,893 2,912
TOLAL .ttt ettt ettt et ettt et ettt ettt e st et et eae et eae et et eae et e et ete b ere et e st ete s ese et ensete b ereetensete et ereetenseretenea $ 4168 § 4,192

1. Rate determined quarterly.

Dividend rates are fixed for 5 to 6 years from the quarter end dates after issuance, June 30, 2011, March 31, 2012, June 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, September 30, 2013,
March 31, 2014, June 30, 2014, December 31, 2014, December 31, 2015, December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017, respectively and reset after 5 to 6 years to the

5-year Government of Canada bond rate plus between 180 and 417 basis points.
Dividend rate reset commenced December 31, 2017.
Dividend rate reset commenced September 30, 2018.

— Prime Rate, B.A. — Bankers’ Acceptance Rate, b.p. — Basis Points.

o
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The company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A preferred shares and an unlimited number of Class A A preferred
shares, issuable in series. No Class AA preferred shares have been issued.

The Class A preferred shares are entitled to preference over the Class A and Class B Limited Voting Shares (“Class A and B shares”)
on the declaration of dividends and other distributions to shareholders. All series of the outstanding preferred shares have a par
value of C$25.00 per share.

b) Non-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests represent the common and preferred equity in consolidated entities that are owned by other shareholders.

gﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ ! 2018 2017
(010 1110010 e L1113 AR $ 62,109 $§ 47,281
4,347
S SL6®
Further information on non-controlling interests is provided in Note 4 — Subsidiaries.
¢) Common Equity
The company’s common equity is comprised of the following:
AT e 2018 2017
COMIMON SHATES .......oiuiiieiiieiiieie ettt ettt ettt e et e e et e e eaeeete et e eaeeeaeeeaeeeaeeeaeeeseeesseseenseensesnsesnsesneesneesneennes $ 4457 $§ 4428
CONIIDULEA SUTPIUS ...vviiiiiiiicieietce ettt ettt e et et e et e e st e b e b e sbesseebeeseeseeseessessessensasseaseaseeseessenes 271 263
REtAINEA CAIMINGS .......oovviiiiiiicticieeteeee ettt ettt ettt et et e st et eeteeteeseeseessessebebesseeseessessessensassessesseeseeseesaennans 14,244 11,864
OWNETSNIP CRANGES........cvivievieiiceeeee ettt ettt e te ettt eae et s e s e s e eseeseeseeseensense s eeseeseersersensensenes 645 1,459
Accumulated other COMPIENeNSIVE INCOME.........ccueeuirieierierieriesteeieeeeeeeeetetestessesseeseeseessessessassessessessessaesaesaens 6,030 6,038

Common equity $ 25,647 $ 24,052
The company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A shares and 85,120 Class B shares, together referred to as
common shares. The company’s common shares have no stated par value. The holders of Class A shares and Class B shares rank
on par with each other with respect to the payment of dividends and the return of capital on the liquidation, dissolution or winding
up of the company or any other distribution of the assets of the company among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up
its affairs. Holders of the Class A shares are entitled to elect half of the Board of Directors of the company and holders of the
Class B shares are entitled to elect the other half of the Board of Directors. With respect to the Class A and Class B shares, there
are no dilutive factors, material or otherwise, that would result in different diluted earnings per share between the classes. This
relationship holds true irrespective of the number of dilutive instruments issued in either one of the respective classes of common
stock, as both classes of shares participate equally, on a pro rata basis, in the dividends, earnings and net assets of the company,
whether taken before or after dilutive instruments, regardless of which class of shares is diluted.

The holders of the company’s common shares received cash dividends during 2018 of $0.60 per share (2017 — $0.56 per share).

The number of issued and outstanding common shares and unexercised options are as follows:

AS AT DEC. 31 2018 2017
CLASS A SHATES! --rvvvveveereeeeee s seeeseeee e seseeeseseeeeeeeee e e e s seeeeeeeeseeeeeseeseesee e 955,057,721 958,688,000
CLASS B SNATES ..ottt et et e e e e e e et e s et e e saee et e s et e s e aee st e seaeeeneenane 85,120 85,120
SRATES OULSTANAINE! vttt 955,142,841 958,773,120
Unexercised options and other share-based Plans? ... 42,086,712 47,474,284
TOtAl AITULEA SRATES .......veiieiiieeeeeeeee ettt e e et e e et e e s aeeeeaeeseteseaeeseneesenneesneenans 997,229,553  1,006,247,404

1. Netof37,538,531 (2017 — 30,569,215) Class A shares held by the company in respect of long-term compensation agreements.
2. Includes management share option plan and escrowed stock plan.
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The authorized common share capital consists of an unlimited number of Class A shares and 85,120 Class B shares. Shares issued
and outstanding changed as follows:

AS AT AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
Outstanding, beGINNING Of YEAI! ... 958,773,120 958,168,417
Issued (repurchased)
REPUICHASES. ...ttt ettt ettt e te et e s e sbe st e steebeeseeseessessensesbasasseeseessessessens (9,579,740) (3,448,665)
Long-term share OWNErShip PLans? ... 5,752,331 3,826,248
Dividend reinvestment plan and Others.............ocueivviiiririeiniiiieeeeeeeee e 197,130 227,120
Outstanding, end of year3 ..................................................................................................................... 955,142,841 958,773,120

1. Netof 30,569,215 Class A shares held by the company in respect of long-term compensation agreements as at December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016 — 27,846,452).
2. Includes management share option plan and restricted stock plan.
3. Netof37,538,531 Class A shares held by the company in respect of long-term compensation agreements as at December 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017 — 30,569,215).

Earnings Per Share

The components of basic and diluted earnings per share are summarized in the following table:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31

(MILLIONS) 2018 2017
.$ 3584 § 1,462

Net income attributable to shareholders

Preferred Share iVIAENAS ............cviuiiiiiieiiecccce ettt ettt ettt ettt et ete e ensenseseeseeseereereereereennens (151) (145)
Dilutive effect of conversion of subsidiary preferred Shares.............cccveeievierieriinieicieeeee s (105) —
Net income available t0 ShATEROLAETS ..........o.eeeeeeeeeeeee ettt e et et et et et e et eeseeseeseeaeeeeseeseeeeeeeennens $ 3328 $ 1317
Weighted average — COMMON SNATES ..........ccecvieieiieieieieiesesie ettt et et esbesbesteete e s esaessessessessessesseesaesaans 957.6 958.8
Dilutive effect of the conversion of options and escrowed shares using treasury stock method....................... 19.8 21.2
Common shares and common share eqUIVALENLS...............ccocirieirriiiiiciiteeeest ettt eb e eseeeaeas 977.4 980.0

Share-Based Compensation

The expense recognized for share-based compensation is summarized in the following table:

(Fﬁi Ef—IOEN\él)EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
Expense arising from equity-settled share-based payment transactions e $ 73 8 69
Expense/(Recovery) arising from cash-settled share-based payment transactions...............ccoeceeveeveereereeneennene. (64) 281
Total expense arising from share-based payment transactions............c.ccevverueriereseseeeeiesiesiesesreseeeeeeeeseenns 9 350
Effect 0f heding PrOSrami...........cocuiiuiiiiiiiiiicieeiecteete ettt ettt ettt ettt et e s beeteete e s easessasesbesreeteeseesaennans 75 (275)
Total expense included in consolidated INCOME .......c.oovvieuiiriiieiiireiee e $ 84 § 75

The share-based payment plans are described below. There were no cancellations of or modifications to any of the plans during
2018 and 2017.

Equity-settled Share-based Awards

Management Share Option Plan

Options issued under the company’s Management Share Option Plan (“MSOP”) vest over a period of up to five years, expire
10 years after the grant date and are settled through issuance of Class A shares. The exercise price is equal to the market price at
the grant date.
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The changes in the number of options during 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Number Weighted- Number Weighted-
of Options Average of Options Average
(000’s)" Exercise Price (000’s) Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1, 2018..........ccccoivveiriieirieieeeeeeeeeeeeeens 2,797 C$ 12.35 34,893 USS 27.71
GIANTEA.......oiieiiieiie ettt et e e ae e e — — 4,538 40.42
EXCTCISEA......oveiiiiieiiieieieetee ettt (2,007) 12.59 (2,492) 23.58
— — 197) 34.81
790 C$ 11.77 36,742 USS$ 29.52
1. Options to acquire TSX listed Class A shares.

2. Options to acquire NYSE listed Class A shares.
Number Weighted- Number Weighted-
of Options Average of Options Average
(0007s)! Exercise Price (000’s) Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1, 2017 7,684 C$ 15.63 31,483 US$ 25.77
GIANTEA ..o e e e e e e e e eaeeeeeeeeaeeseaeeens — — 6,331 36.92
EXEICISEA ...ttt (4,887) 17.50 (2,149) 24.36
CaNCEIEA ... — — (772) 33.28
Outstanding at December 31, 2017 ........ccoovieineiineneieieeee e 2,797 C$ 12.35 34,893 US$ 27.71

1. Options to acquire TSX listed Class A shares.
2. Options to acquire NYSE listed Class A shares.

The cost of the options granted during the year was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, with inputs to the model

as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31

Weighted-average share PriCe.........cooeiveirieiiiinieeeee e

Weighted-average fair value per Option...........ccceeueieuiieirieieieieieeeeeeeie e

Average term to exercise

Share price volatility'

Liquidity diSCOUNT......c.oitiietiieiieieiete ettt ee
Weighted-average annual dividend yield............cccooevieerieinieiiniicieeceen

Risk-free rate

1. Share price volatility was determined based on historical share prices over a similar period to the average term to exercise.

At December 31, 2018, the following options to purchase Class A shares were outstanding:

Unit 2018 2017
US$ 40.42 36.92
US$ 5.38 4.92
Years 7.5 7.5
% 16.3 18.9

% 25.0 25.0

% 1.9 2.1

% 2.8 2.3

Options Outstanding (000’s)

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Remaining Life Vested  Unvested Total
C$11.77 ... 0.2 years 790 — 790
USSISu5. ..ottt 1.2 years 4,255 — 4,255
USS16.83 — USS23.37 ...ttt 2.8 years 5,160 — 5,160
US$25.21 —USS30.59 ... 5.5 years 8,410 3,293 11,703
USS33.75 — USS36.32 ...ttt 6.1 years 2,873 2,115 4,988
USS$36.88 —USS44.24 ...t 8.6 years 1,197 9,439 10,636

22,685

14,847 37,532
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At December 31, 2017, the following options to purchase Class A shares were outstanding:

Options Outstanding (000’s)

Weighted-Average

Exercise Price Remaining Life Vested  Unvested Total
CSLL.TT ettt ettt 1.2 years 2,620 — 2,620
CB21.08 .ttt ettt ettt bttt bttt senee 0.1 years 177 — 177
O B TSRO 2.2 years 4,772 — 4,772
US$16.83 — US$23.37 3.8 years 5,834 — 5,834
US$25.21 - US$30.59 6.5 years 6,858 5,967 12,825
US$33.75 - US$36.32 7.1 years 2,049 3,191 5,240
USS$36.88 — USS37.75 oottt 9.1 years — 6,222 6,222

22,310 15,380 37,690

Escrowed Stock Plan

The Escrowed Stock Plan (the “ES Plan”) provides executives with indirect ownership of Class A shares. Under the ES Plan,
executives are granted common shares (the “ES Shares”) in one or more private companies that own Class A shares. The Class A
shares are purchased on the open market with the purchase cost funded by the company. The ES shares vest over one to five years
and must be held until the fifth anniversary of the grant date. At a date no less than five years, and no more than 10 years, from
the grant date, all outstanding ES shares will be exchanged for Class A shares issued by the company based on the market value
of Class A shares at the time of the exchange. The number of Class A shares issued on exchange will be less than the Class A
shares purchased under the ES Plan resulting in a net reduction in the number of Class A shares issued by the company.

During 2018, 5.8 million Class A shares were purchased in respect of ES shares granted to executives under the ES Plan (2017 —
3.7 million Class A shares) during the year. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the total expense incurred with respect to the
ES Plan totaled $25 million (2017 — $26 million).

The cost of the escrowed shares granted during the year was determined using the Black-Scholes model of valuation with inputs
to the model as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 Unit 2018 2017
Weighted-average SNare PIiCe..........cviiiiiiirieeieeieereete et ettt eeeeae et eteereere e s sesseeseeseeseereensene US$ 40.39 36.88
Weighted-average fair value per Share..............c.ccvvveiivieieiiiiieccccee e US$ 5.38 4.92
AVETage tEITN £0 EXEICISE ...vveuviuriiriitiirietiereestestessessessesteeseeseessessessessessesseeseessessessessessessessessessessseses Years 7.5 7.5
SRATE PIICE VOIAIEY" ......ooeeeeeeeeeeeee et e e eeeesee e es e s s ee e eseeeeee e eseeeeseees % 16.3 18.9
Liquidity discount % 25 25
Weighted-average annual dividend yield..........c.coooieieiiieiiiiieiececeeeee e % 1.9 2.1
RISK-T@E TALE ...ttt ettt et se et s e s s e st se st esessensesesensenan % 2.8 2.3

1. Share price volatility was determined based on historical share prices over a similar period to the average term to exercise.
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The change in the number of ES shares during 2018 and 2017 was as follows:

Weighted-

Number of Average

Units (000’s)  Exercise Price

Outstanding at JanUAry 1, 2018 .........c.coieiiieieeeeeecee ettt ettt te e ers s e s eeseereereereereereens 27,772 $ 29.01
5,815 40.39

(6,484) 21.40

Outstanding at December 31, 2018.........ccocieiiiiieeeeeececreeteee ettt e s s e ereereereereereens 27,103  $ 33.27
Weighted-

Number of Average

Units (000’s)  Exercise Price

Outstanding at JanUAry 1, 2017 ........ccooieiiieieeiieeeeeeceeceeeteete ettt ettt es s eseereeveeveeveereens 24,167 $ 27.77
GTANTEA ... ettt e et e et e e e et e e e e eaaeeateeateeaeeeaeeeseeeseeeseeeseseeaeeatesaneeanean 3,700 36.88
EXETCISEU ...ttt ettt e et te et e et e ete et e et e eneeeateeteeereeeteeeteeeteereereenes 95) 21.74
Outstanding at December 31, 2017 .........ccooieiiieieieieereeeeeteete ettt et s s eseereereereereereens 27,772 $ 29.01

Restricted Stock Plan

The Restricted Stock Plan awards executives with Class A shares purchased on the open market (“Restricted Shares”). Under the
Restricted Stock Plan, Restricted Shares awarded vest over a period of up to five years, except for Restricted Shares awarded in
lieu of a cash bonus, which may vest immediately. Vested and unvested Restricted Shares are subject to a hold period of up to
five years. Holders of Restricted Shares are entitled to vote Restricted Shares and to receive associated dividends. Employee
compensation expense for the Restricted Stock Plan is charged against income over the vesting period.

During 2018, Brookfield granted 581,051 Class A shares (2017 — 760,754) pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Restricted
Stock Plan, resulting in the recognition of $20 million (2017 — $18 million) of compensation expense.

Cash-settled Share-based Awards
Deferred Share Unit Plan and Restricted Share Unit Plan

The Deferred Share Unit Plan and Restricted Share Unit Plan provide for the issuance of DSUs and RSUs, respectively. Under
these plans, qualifying employees and directors receive varying percentages of their annual incentive bonus or directors’ fees in
the form of DSUs and RSUs. The DSUs and RSUs vest over periods of up to five years, and DSUs accumulate additional DSUs
at the same rate as dividends on common shares based on the market value of the common shares at the time of the dividend.
Participants are not allowed to convert DSUs and RSUs into cash until retirement or cessation of employment.

The value of the DSUs, when converted to cash, will be equivalent to the market value of the common shares at the time the
conversion takes place. The value of the RSUs, when converted into cash, will be equivalent to the difference between
the market price of equivalent number of common shares at the time the conversion takes place and the market price on the date
the RSUs are granted. The company uses equity derivative contracts to offset its exposure to the change in share prices in respect
of vested and unvested DSUs and RSUs. The fair value of the vested DSUs and RSUs as at December 31, 2018 was $894 million
(2017 — $1.0 billion).

Employee compensation expense for these plans is charged against income over the vesting period of the DSUs and RSUs.
The amount payable by the company in respect of vested DSUs and RSUs changes as a result of dividends and share price
movements. All of the amounts attributable to changes in the amounts payable by the company are recorded as employee
compensation expense in the period of the change. For the year ended December 31, 2018, employee compensation expense totaled
$11 million (2017 — $7 million), net of the impact of hedging arrangements.
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The change in the number of DSUs and RSUs during 2018 and 2017 was as follows:

DSUs RSUs
Weighted-
Number Number Average
of Units of Units Exercise
(000’s) (000’s) Price
Outstanding at January 1, 2018 ........cccocieiiiiieiieiciee ettt 14,944 10,920 C$ 9.09
Granted and reINVESIEA............ccvevverveereeeeeeecee ettt ettt eae et et eeseereereeseereereereeneens 466 — —
Exercised and canceled .............oovoouiiviiiiiiiiieeeeeeee e (773) (380) 5.89
Outstanding at December 31, 2018...........cccoeieiieiiiiieiiecceeee et 14,637 10,540 C$ 9.21
DSUs RSUs
Weighted-
Number Number Average
of Units of Units Exercise
(000’s) (000’s) Price
Outstanding at January 1, 2017 .........ccocieiiieieieeeeeeee ettt ettt e e eve v ere e 14,986 10,920 C$ 9.09
Granted and reinvested 661 — —
Exercised and canceled (703) — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2017 .........ccocieieriiriieeeeeeereeeeeete ettt e eve v e 14,944 10,920 C$ 9.09

The fair value of each DSU is equal to the traded price of the company’s common shares.

Unit  Dec. 31,2018 Dec. 31,2017
Share price on date 0f MEASUTEMENL.........c.ccevrieiieiieiieiieieieeese e C$ 52.32 54.72
Share price on date Of MEASUTEMENL ..............c.cooevieeeerieeeeieeeeeeeee e USS$ 38.35 43.54

The fair value of RSUs was determined primarily using the following inputs:

Unit Dec. 31,2018 Dec. 31,2017
Share price on date of MEASUIEMENL...........cocevieririeeieriieeieieieeeeee e C$ 52.32 54.72
Weighted-average fair value of @ unit............c.ccoevieieieieicieeeceeeeeeeeees C$ 43.11 45.63

22. REVENUES

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018 totaled $56.8 billion (2017 — $40.8 billion). The amounts for the year ended
December 31, 2018 have been determined in accordance with IFRS 15. Prior period amounts have not been restated (refer to Note
2 of the consolidated financial statements).

We perform a disaggregated analysis of revenues considering the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues. This includes
disclosure of our revenues by segment and type, as well as a breakdown of whether revenues from goods or services are recognized
at a point in time or delivered over a period of time.

a) Revenue by Type

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DEC. 31, Asset Renewable Private Residential Corporate Total
2018 (MILLIONS) Management Real Estate Power  Infrastructure Equity  Development Activities Revenues

Revenue from contracts
with customers ...........ccccevveenne $ 187  § 3,107 § 3,651 § 4859 $ 36,693 $ 2,651 § 13 8 51,161
Other revenue ... — 4,968 100 154 135 32 221 5,610
$ 187 § 8,075 § 3,751  § 5013 § 36,828  $ 2,683 $ 234§ 56,771
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b) Timing of Recognition of Revenue from Contracts with Customers

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DEC. 31, Asset Renewable Private Residential Corporate Total
2018 (MILLIONS) Management Real Estate Power  Infrastructure Equity  Development Activities Revenues
Goods and services provided at
a point in time ........ccoeccuveerenne $ $ 1,118 § 79 8 201§ 28,860 § 2,651 § 13 8 32,922
Services transferred over a
period of time........coevvevereeerinne 187 1,989 3,572 4,658 7,833 — — 18,239
$ 187 § 3,107 § 3,651 § 4859 $ 36,693 $ 2,651 § 13 8 51,161

Remaining Performance Obligations
Private Equity

In our construction services business, backlog is defined as revenue yet to be delivered (i.e. remaining performance obligations)
on construction projects that have been secured via an executed contract, work order or letter of intent. As at December 31, 2018
our backlog of construction projects was approximately $8 billion, with an overall weighted average remaining project life of
approximately two years.

In our Brazilian water and wastewater services business, our long-term, inflation-adjusted concession service contracts with various
municipalities have an average remaining contract duration of 25 years as at December 31, 2018.

Others

In our asset management, infrastructure and renewable power businesses, revenue is generally recognized as invoiced for contracts
recognized over a period of time as the amounts invoiced are commensurate with the value provided to the customers.

23. DIRECT COSTS

Direct costs include all attributable expenses except interest, depreciation and amortization, taxes and fair value changes and
primarily relate to cost of sales and compensation. The following table lists direct costs for 2018 and 2017 by nature:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31

(MILLIONS) 2018 201 7
Cost of sales $ 37,506 $ 26461
COMPEIISALION .......veevveereiete et et ettt ettt et et e st teeteeteesseasesseseeseeseessessessessensessesseesseseeseessessessensensensessesseessessensenes 3,954 2,795
Selling, general and adminIStrative EXPEIISES ..........ccveveririeririeeeriieesseeeresserseseseesesseseeseseeseeseseesesseseeseseesesseseans 1,765 1,339
Property taxes, sales taXxes and OtHET ..........cccocieuieieieieieiees ettt ettt e s e s essesbestesreesaesaesnans 2,294 1,793

S 45519 5 3388
24. FAIR VALUE CHANGES

Fair value changes recorded in net income represent gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of assets and liabilities,
including derivative financial instruments, accounted for using the fair value method and are comprised of the following:

E\C/I)Ili E%EN‘gl)EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
INVESTMENT PLOPETTIES ......e.vveeeeieeeeeceeeeteeeee ettt te et e et eaeete et eas et e s ese e et eaeseseseaess s et eseaseseseseeseseseseaseseseseaseseeene $ 1,610 $ 1,021
Transaction related gains, NEt Of AEAL COSES .........oiiiiiiiiicieeieeteee ettt ettt ettt e ereerseaseneens 1,132 637
FINANCIAL CONTIACES .....uviiiiiceieceiecte ettt ettt e et ete e te e et e teeeaeeteeeeeateeteeetseeseeesseeaeeessenseenseensesneeeneenns (189) (868)
IMPairments and PIOVISIONS ..........cocverieriiiuiitiirietieteeseetetesteesesteeteeteessessessessessesseeseeseessessessessesesessesseessessessenes (309) (344)
Other fair VAlUE CRANGES ..........coevieeiieieeeeceieeeteete ettt et et ettt et et a e e e s e ereeteeaeese e s e s eseeteeseersersensensenes (450) (25)

$ 1,794 § 421
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25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk (i.e. currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The company selectively uses derivative financial instruments principally to manage
these risks.

The aggregate notional amount of the company’s derivative positions at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

zﬁlﬂl%‘i%f ! Note 2018 2017
FOT@IGN EXCRANGE ...cvievieiieiieieeteeie ettt e b et e s be et te e st es e e e ebensesseeseeseeneeneensensan (a) $ 33,298 §$ 28,573
IIEETESE TALES ...vveieeeieeeeeeceee ettt ettt ettt e e et e e et e e eaeeeeaeeeeaeeeeneeeenaeseeneeeeneeeenseseenseesnneeensesensesesraeeanns (b) 38,490 18,433
Credit AEfAUIt SWAPS ..cvveveveiictictieieietet ettt e e e e et e e et e sbessesbesbeeseeseessessessessessessessessesseeseessensans (c) 56 43
EQUILY ETIVATIVES ...c.veuiiieiietetert sttt ettt s b e sb et es et e bt b et eb e bt eae e e enten (d) 1,375 1,384
ComMmOAIty INSIUMEIIES ......euieiiiiiietiteiiitet ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ae e bbbt b sa e neneenes (e) 2018 2017

ENCIZY (GWH) ittt sttt ettt et e s et e st e eseesessessaennensensans 14,752 28,808

Natural gas (MMBtu — 000’s) 63,076 48,163

a) Foreign Exchange

The company held the following foreign exchange contracts with notional amounts at December 31,2018 and December 31, 2017:

Notional Amount
(U.S. Dollars) Average Exchange Rate
(MILLIONS) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Foreign exchange contracts
Canadian dOLLATS .........eiiuiiiiiieeeee ettt e e e et e et e e $ 4959 § 2619 0.76 0.78
BIitiSh POUNGS .....oueeiiieiiieieieee ettt 4,952 7,312 1.32 1.29
European UniOn GUIOS........cc.eeuerueruirieuieeeieieteiente ettt eseeste e tesse e saeseenee 3,829 2,754 1.21 1.15
AUSITalian dOLIATS ......c..ooiviiieiieeeeccee et 3,781 3,610 0.74 0.75
TNAIAN TUPEES ..o 697 256 72.73 65.24
ChILEAN PESOS! ... 615 — 647
KOTEAN WON' ...oovvoeoeeitieisss s 561 578 1,102 1,100
Chinese yuan' 543 346 6.85 6.72
Japanese yen' 404 14 104.45 110.17
Colombian pesos1 ................................................................................................ 370 — 2,977 —
Brazilian [CAIS.....cceeuieieieieieiesieeteee e et et et et ete e stestesbesseeseeseesaessensessensessansenns 78 62 0.24 0.27
ONET CUITEIICIES .vvevvevvenririetieeeeieeeeetete e stestesteeseeseessesessessesseeseeseessessessessessensanns 530 — various
Cross currency interest rate swaps
Canadian dOILATS...........ccuivvieuieeieiieieieteete ettt ettt ettt eas e s e ssesaesre e 4,167 2,442 0.75 0.76
European UniOn GUIOS.........c.eeueruertieuieuieieieieieienie ettt eseeste e ssesse e seeeee 1,914 1,914 1.06 1.06
AUSITalian dOLIATS ......c..eiiveiieieieeeeeeee et et 1,454 1,610 1.00 0.98
JAPANESE YEN ..o e 750 750 113.32 113.33
BIitiSh POUNAS ...cvvevviiiiiciiciieeetee ettt ettt b b ebeenas 257 272 1.49 1.45
Colombian pesos1 ................................................................................................ 125 299 3,056 3,056
OthET CUITEINCIES ..vveuvieiieiieiieiieiteeteeitesieesteestee st eaeesseesaeessessaesssesseesseesseenseeseanes 15 — various —
Foreign exchange options
BritiSh POUNAS ...eeviiieiieiieieieee ettt st 1,736 534 1.31 1.19
TNAIAN TUPEE! ... 500 — 67.95
CRINESE YUAN ... 500 — 7.10
European Union GUIOS........cccevuererrirerirenieeietetetentestesie st eseebe et teae e s see e 463 1,801 1.15 1.21
Canadian dOLLATS ...........ooviiiiiieiie ettt — 1,000 — 0.76
JAPANESE YEN .....oooeoeeeeeeeeeeee et — 400 — 118.00
OLNET CUITEICIES ...ttt ettt ettt 98 — various —

1. Average rate is quoted using USD as base currency.
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Included in net income are unrealized net gains on foreign currency derivative contracts amounting to $457 million (2017 — loss
of $364 million) and included in the cumulative translation adjustment account in other comprehensive income are gains in respect
of foreign currency contracts entered into for hedging purposes amounting to $1.3 billion (2017 — loss of $1.5 billion).

b) Interest Rates

At December 31, 2018, the company held interest rate swap and forward starting swap contracts having an aggregate
notional amount of $13.9 billion (2017 — $8.8 billion), interest rate swaptions with an aggregate notional amount of $5.3 billion
(2017 — $872 million) and interest rate cap contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $19.3 billion (2017 — $8.7 billion).

¢) Credit Default Swaps

As at December 31, 2018, the company held credit default swap contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $56 million
(2017 — $43 million). Credit default swaps are contracts which are designed to compensate the purchaser for any change in the value
of an underlying reference asset, based on measurement in credit spreads, upon the occurrence of predetermined credit events.
The company is entitled to receive payments in the event of a predetermined credit event for up to $56 million (2017 — $43 million)
of the notional amount and could be required to make payments in respect of $nil (2017 — $nil) of the notional amount.

d) Equity Derivatives

At December 31, 2018, the company held equity derivatives with a notional amount of $1.4 billion (2017 — $1.4 billion)
which includes $1.1 billion (2017 — $1.1 billion) notional amount that hedges long-term compensation arrangements. The
balance represents common equity positions established in connection with the company’s investment activities. The fair value
of these instruments was reflected in the company’s consolidated financial statements at year end.

e) Commodity Instruments

The company has entered into energy derivative contracts primarily to hedge the sale of generated power. The company endeavors
to link forward electricity sale derivatives to specific periods in which it expects to generate electricity for sale. All energy derivative
contracts are recorded at an amount equal to fair value and are reflected in the company’s consolidated financial statements. The
company has financial contracts outstanding on 63,076,000 MMBtu’s (2017 — 48,163,000 MMBtu’s) of natural gas as part of its
electricity sale price risk mitigation strategy.

Other Information Regarding Derivative Financial Instruments

The following table classifies derivatives elected for hedge accounting during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 as
either cash flow hedges or net investment hedges. Changes in the fair value of the effective portion of the hedge are recorded in
either other comprehensive income or net income, depending on the hedge classification, whereas changes in the fair value of the
ineffective portion of the hedge are recorded in net income:

2018 2017
Effective Ineffective Effective Ineffective
fﬁ&g%ﬁ%};ﬂs FNDED DEC.31 Notional Portion Portion Notional Portion Portion
Cash flow hedges' .........o.coovvrovvreeeeeeeeeeeeeeeereeereenene $ 24999 $ 38 $ 3) $ 10254 3 42 3 (16)
Net investment hedges...........ccocvevvevevreeriieeeereenenee. 17,319 999 9 14,587 (748) —
$ 42318 § 1,037 $§ 6 $ 24841 $ (706) $ (16)

1. Notional amount does not include 6,040 GWh, 8,423 MMBtu — 000’s and 3,151 bbls — millions of commodity derivatives at December 31, 2018 (2017 — 15,586 GWh,
45,014 MMBtu — 000’s and 3,087 bbls — millions).
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The following table presents the change in fair values of the company’s derivative positions during the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017, for derivatives that are fair valued through profit or loss, and derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting:

Unrealized Unrealized

Gains Losses  Net Change Net Change

(MILLIONS) During 2018 During 2018 During 2018  During 2017
Foreign exchange derivatives..........ccoueveveiieiiieeeeeeieienieseeee e $ 570 $ ai13) $ 457 $ (364)
Interest rate deriVatiVes ...........cveveierieereieeerecreeteeeee e 33 (50) an (15)

Credit default SWaPS........ceveirieieieieeeeeee e 3 — 3 2

EqUity derivatiVes........cceevieuieieeieeieieiesiesiesie et 87 (216) (129) 169
Commodity deriVAtiVES ........cecueeuieieieeriereere et ereeeee e v 27 93) (66) (34)
$ 720 $ 472) $ 248 §$ (242)

The following table presents the notional amounts underlying the company’s derivative instruments by term to maturity as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, for derivatives that are classified as fair value through profit or loss, and derivatives that qualify
for hedge accounting:

2018 2017

(ﬁﬁ%%cs‘)n <1 Year 1 to 5 Years >5 Years Total 11(:33:2: Total Ii?ggﬂﬂ
Fair value through profit or loss
Foreign exchange derivatives $ 7,402 § 1,901 $ — 3 9,303 $ 10,632
Interest rate derivatives ............ccccveeueeeneee. 3,738 11,123 1,760 16,621 11,532
Credit default SWapS.........cccceeeveeeevevennennn. — 56 — 56 43
Equity derivatives........c.cccoverreeeeeeeenennnne 537 838 — 1,375 1,362
Commodity instruments

Energy (GWh) .....ccoovviincieecene 1,100 7,612 — 8,712 13,222

Natural gas (MMBtu — 000’s).................. 53,283 1,370 — 54,653 3,149
Elected for hedge accounting
Foreign exchange derivatives..................... $ 15819 § 6,700 $ 1476 $ 23,995 §$ 17,941
Interest rate derivatives ...........cc.cceeveenenee. 9,955 10,127 1,787 21,869 6,901
Equity derivatives........c.cccoeveeveereereerreneennene. — — — — 22
Commodity instruments

Energy (GWh) ....coceviieeiiceeeeee 674 3,357 2,009 6,040 15,586

Natural gas (MMBtu — 000’s).................. 8,423 — — 8,423 45,014

26. MANAGEMENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM HOLDING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company is exposed to the following risks as a result of holding financial instruments: market risk (i.e. interest rate risk,
currency exchange risk and other price risk that impact the fair value of financial instruments), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
following is a description of these risks and how they are managed:

a) Market Risk

Market risk is defined for these purposes as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument held by the
company will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk includes the risk of changes in interest rates, currency
exchange rates and changes in market prices due to factors other than interest rates or currency exchange rates, such as changes
in equity prices, commodity prices or credit spreads.

The company manages market risk from foreign currency assets and liabilities and the impact of changes in currency exchange
rates and interest rates by funding assets with financial liabilities in the same currency and with similar interest rate characteristics,
and by holding financial contracts such as interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives to minimize residual exposures.

Financial instruments held by the company that are subject to market risk include other financial assets, borrowings and derivative
instruments such as interest rate, currency, equity and commodity contracts.
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i. Interest Rate Risk

The observable impacts on the fair values and future cash flows of financial instruments that can be directly attributable to interest
rate risk include changes in the net income from financial instruments whose cash flows are determined with reference to floating
interest rates and changes in the value of financial instruments whose cash flows are fixed in nature.

The company’s assets largely consist of long-duration interest-sensitive physical assets. Accordingly, the company’s financial
liabilities consist primarily of long-term fixed-rate debt or floating-rate debt that has been swapped with interest rate derivatives.
These financial liabilities are, with few exceptions, recorded at their amortized cost. The company also holds interest rate caps to
limit its exposure to increases in interest rates on floating rate debt that has not been swapped, and holds interest rate contracts
to lock in fixed rates on anticipated future debt issuances and as an economic hedge against the changes in value of long duration
interest sensitive physical assets that have not been otherwise matched with fixed rate debt.

The result of a 50 basis-point increase in interest rates on the company’s net floating rate financial assets and liabilities would
have resulted in a corresponding decrease in net income before tax of $198 million (2017 — $80 million) on a current basis.

Changes in the value of fair value through profit or loss interest rate contracts are recorded in net income and changes in the value
of contracts that are elected for hedge accounting are recorded in other comprehensive income. The impact of a 50 basis-point
parallel increase in the yield curve on the aforementioned financial instruments is estimated to result in a corresponding increase
in net income before tax of $128 million (2017 — $53 million) and an increase in other comprehensive income of $149 million
(2017 — $98 million), for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

ii. Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Changes in currency rates will impact the carrying value of financial instruments denominated in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar.

The company holds financial instruments with net unmatched exposures in several currencies, changes in the translated value of
which are recorded in net income. The impact of a 1% increase in the U.S. dollar against these currencies would have resulted in
an $80 million (2017 — $44 million) increase in the value of these positions on a combined basis. The impact on cash flows from
financial instruments would be insignificant. The company holds financial instruments to limit its exposure to the impact of foreign
currencies on its net investments in foreign operations whose functional and reporting currencies are other than the U.S. dollar.
A 1% increase in the U.S. dollar would increase the value of these hedging instruments by $240 million (2017 — $142 million) as
at December 31, 2018, which would be recorded in other comprehensive income and offset by changes in the U.S. dollar carrying
value of the net investment being hedged.

iii. Other Price Risk

Other price risk is the risk of variability in fair value due to movements in equity prices or other market prices such as commodity
prices and credit spreads.

Financial instruments held by the company that are exposed to equity price risk include equity securities and equity derivatives.
A 5% decrease in the market price of equity securities and equity derivatives held by the company, excluding equity derivatives that
hedge compensation arrangements, would have decreased net income by $50 million (2017 — $45 million) and decreased other
comprehensive income by $85 million (2017 —$62 million), prior to taxes. The company’s liability in respect of equity compensation
arrangements is subject to variability based on changes in the company’s underlying common share price. The company holds
equity derivatives to hedge almost all of the variability. A 5% change in the common equity price of the company in respect of
compensation agreements would increase the compensation liability and compensation expense by $53 million (2017 —
$65 million). This increase would be offset by a $53 million (2017 —$65 million) change in value of the associated equity derivatives
of which $51 million (2017 — $64 million) would offset the above-mentioned increase in compensation expense and the remaining
$2 million (2017 — $1 million) would be recorded in other comprehensive income.

The company sells power and generation capacity under long-term agreements and financial contracts to stabilize future revenues.
Certain of the contracts are considered financial instruments and are recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements,
with changes in value being recorded in either net income or other comprehensive income as applicable. A 5% increase in energy
prices would have decreased net income for the year ended December 31, 2018 by approximately $9 million (2017 — $11 million)
and decreased other comprehensive income by $9 million (2017 — $4 million), prior to taxes. The corresponding increase in the
value of the revenue or capacity being contracted, however, is not recorded in net income until subsequent periods.

The company held credit default swap contracts with a total notional amount of $63 million (2017 — $43 million) at December 31,
2018. The company is exposed to changes in the credit spread of the contracts’ underlying reference assets. A 50 basis-point
increase in the credit spread of the underlying reference assets would have increased net income by $1 million (2017 — $1 million)
for the year ended December 31, 2018, prior to taxes.
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b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a borrower or counterparty to fulfill its contractual obligations. The company’s
exposure to creditrisk inrespect of financial instruments relates primarily to counterparty obligations regarding derivative contracts,
loans receivable and credit investments such as bonds and preferred shares.

The company assesses the creditworthiness of each counterparty before entering into contracts with a view to ensuring that
counterparties meet minimum credit quality requirements. Management evaluates and monitors counterparty credit risk for
derivative financial instruments and endeavors to minimize counterparty credit risk through diversification, collateral
arrangements, and other credit risk mitigation techniques. The credit risk of derivative financial instruments is generally limited
to the positive fair value of the instruments, which, in general, tends to be a relatively small proportion of the notional value.
Substantially all of the company’s derivative financial instruments involve either counterparties that are banks or other financial
institutions in North America, the United Kingdom and Australia, or arrangements that have embedded credit risk mitigation
features. The company does not expect to incur credit losses in respect of any of these counterparties. The maximum exposure in
respect of loans receivable and credit investments is equal to the carrying value.

¢) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company cannot meet a demand for cash or fund an obligation as it comes due. Liquidity risk
also includes the risk of not being able to liquidate assets in a timely manner at a reasonable price.

To help ensure the company is able to react to contingencies and investment opportunities quickly, the company maintains sources
of liquidity at the corporate and subsidiary levels. The primary source of liquidity consists of cash and other financial assets, net
of deposits and other associated liabilities, and undrawn committed credit facilities.

The company is subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the ability to refinance indebtedness at maturity. The
company believes these risks are mitigated through the use of long-term debt secured by high quality assets, maintaining debt
levels that are in management’s opinion relatively conservative, and by diversifying maturities over an extended period of time.
The company also seeks to include in its agreements terms that protect the company from liquidity issues of counterparties that
might otherwise impact the company’s liquidity.

The following tables present the contractual maturities of the company’s financial liabilities at December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Payments Due by Period
f},sﬂﬁl%%%)“’ 2018 <1 Year 1 to 3 Years 4 to 5 Years After 5 Years Total
Principal repayments
Corporate borrowings ...........ceceeveeeeveeenens $ 440 $ 257 $ 441 $ 5271 $ 6,409
Non-recourse borrowings of managed
ENLIES ..ottt 11,159 34,055 24,633 41,962 111,809
Subsidiary equity obligations .................. 185 1,417 356 1,918 3,876
Interest expense1
Corporate bOrrowings..........cceceevevevennens 278 535 504 1,697 3,014
Non-recourse borrowings ..........cecueevennes 5,126 8,124 5,820 7,324 26,394
Subsidiary equity obligations .................. 151 307 218 209 885

1. Represents the aggregated interest expense expected to be paid over the term of the obligations. Variable interest rate payments have been calculated based on current rates.

Payments Due by Period
f,ﬁﬂl%'f\,cs‘f]’ 2017 <1 Year 1 to 3 Years 4 to 5 Years After 5 Years Total
Principal repayments
Corporate bOIrTOWINgs ..........ccevevrveveernnnnns $ — 8 478 § 278§ 4,903 § 5,659
Non-recourse borrowings of managed
ENEITIES ..t 10,756 17,695 16,764 27,515 72,730
Subsidiary equity obligations .................. 76 53 1,001 2,531 3,661
Interest expense'
Corporate DOrrowings ..........ceeeveveveeennens 259 494 462 1,433 2,648
Non-recourse borrowings ............c.eveneen.. 3,248 5,024 3,575 5,314 17,161
Subsidiary equity obligations .................. 226 428 340 322 1,316

1. Represents the aggregated interest expense expected to be paid over the term of the obligations. Variable interest rate payments have been calculated based on current rates.
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27. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The capital of the company consists of the components of equity in the company’s consolidated balance sheet (i.e. common and
preferred equity). As at December 31, 2018, the recorded values of these items in the company’s consolidated financial statements
totaled $29.8 billion (2017 — $28.2 billion).

The company’s objectives when managing this capital are to maintain an appropriate balance between holding a sufficient amount
of capital to support its operations, which includes maintaining investment-grade ratings at the corporate level and providing
shareholders with a prudent amount of corporate debt to enhance returns. Corporate debt, which includes subsidiary obligations
that are guaranteed by the company or are otherwise considered corporate in nature, totaled $6.4 billion based on carrying values
at December 31, 2018 (2017 — $5.7 billion). The company monitors its capital base and leverage primarily in the context of its
deconsolidated debt-to-total capitalization ratios. The ratio as at December 31, 2018 was 17% (2017 — 16%).

The consolidated capitalization of the company includes the capital and financial obligations of consolidated entities, including
long-term property-specific borrowings, subsidiary borrowings, capital securities as well as common and preferred equity held
by other investors in these entities. The capital in these entities is managed at the entity level with oversight by management of
the company. The capital is managed with the objective of maintaining investment-grade levels in most circumstances and is,
except in limited and carefully managed circumstances, without any recourse to the company. Management of the company also
takes into consideration capital requirements of consolidated and non-consolidated entities in which it has interests in when
considering the appropriate level of capital and liquidity on a deconsolidated basis.

The company is subject to limited covenants in respect of its corporate debt and is in full compliance with all such covenants as
at December 31, 2018 and 2017. The company is also in compliance with all covenants and other capital requirements related to
regulatory or contractual obligations of material consequence to the company.

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a) Related Parties

Related parties include subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures, key management personnel, the Board of Directors (“Directors”),
immediate family members of key management personnel and Directors and entities which are directly or indirectly controlled
by, jointly controlled by or significantly influenced by key management personnel, Directors or their close family members.

b) Key Management Personnel and Directors

Key management personnel are those individuals who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the company’s activities, directly or indirectly, and consist of the company’s Senior Executives. The company’s Directors do not
plan, direct or control the activities of the company directly; they provide oversight over the business.

The remuneration of key management personnel and Directors of the company during the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017 was as follows:

z-‘]\(/l)ﬁ THE \é])EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
Salaries, incentives and ShOTt-TEITN DENETILS ...........ooviireeeeeeeeee ettt ettt e e e e e e e s e et e eee e et eeaeeeaeeenes $ 21 $ 18
SHAre-DASEA PAYIMENLS .......vicviiviceietieeieet ettt ettt et ettt et r et eeteeteeteereene et eseeseeteeseessessesseseenserseeseeseeresseeseenean 90 54

3 s 7

The remuneration of key management personnel and Directors is determined by the Management Resources and Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors having regard to the performance of individuals and market funds.

¢) Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of operations, the company executes transactions on market terms with related parties that have been measured
at exchange value and are recognized in the consolidated financial statements, including, but not limited to: base management
fees, performance fees and incentive distributions; loans, interest and non-interest bearing deposits; power purchase and sale
agreements; capital commitments to private funds; the acquisition and disposition of assets and businesses; derivative contracts;
and the construction and development of assets. Transactions and balances between consolidated entities are fully eliminated
upon consolidation.
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The following table lists the related party balances included within the consolidated financial statements as at and for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

(F“%RL B—(I;SN\Q)EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2018 2017
Investment and Other I0SSES..........cuiiuiiieiciecicciceecteee ettt ettt ettt ettt e e beeteetsesseasessesesbesbesreereesens $ — 8 (268)
ManagemMENt TEES TECEIVEM ........cueiuieueeeiereeieetecte ettt ettt et et et teete et et ens et et eeseeseersessesseseensesenseeseeseeseeneenean 56 47

29. OTHER INFORMATION
a) Guarantees and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the company enters into contractual obligations which include commitments to provide
bridge financing, letters of credit, guarantees and reinsurance obligations. As at December 31, 2018, the company had $3.1 billion
(2017 — $2.6 billion) of such commitments outstanding. The company also had $9.8 billion of future operating lease obligations
at December 31, 2018 (2017 — $3.8 billion).

In addition, the company executes agreements that provide for indemnifications and guarantees to third parties in transactions or
dealings such as business dispositions, business acquisitions, sales of assets, provision of services, securitization agreements and
underwriting and agency agreements. The company has also agreed to indemnify its directors and certain of its officers
and employees. The nature of substantially all of the indemnification undertakings prevents the company from making a reasonable
estimate of the maximum potential amount the company could be required to pay third parties, as in most cases, the agreements
do not specify a maximum amount, and the amounts are dependent upon the outcome of future contingent events, the nature and
likelihood of which cannot be determined at this time. Neither the company nor its consolidated subsidiaries have made significant
payments in the past nor do they expect at this time to make any significant payments under such indemnification agreements
in the future.

The company periodically enters into joint ventures, consortium or other arrangements that have contingent liquidity rights in
favor of the company or its counterparties. These include buy sell arrangements, registration rights and other customary
arrangements that generally have embedded protective terms that mitigate the risk to us. The amount, timing and likelihood of
any payments by the company under these arrangements is, in most cases, dependent on either further contingent events or
circumstances applicable to the counterparty and therefore cannot be determined at this time.

The company is contingently liable with respect to litigation and claims that arise in the normal course of business. It is not
reasonably possible that any of the ongoing litigation as at December 31, 2018 could result in a material settlement liability.

The company has up to $4 billion of insurance for damage and business interruption costs sustained as a result of an act of terrorism.
However, a terrorist act could have a material effect on the company’s assets to the extent damages exceed the coverage.

The company, through its subsidiaries within the residential properties operations, is contingently liable for obligations of its
associates in its land development joint ventures. In each case, all of the assets of the joint venture are available first for the purpose
of satisfying these obligations, with the balance shared among the participants in accordance with predetermined joint
venture arrangements.

The Corporation has entered into arrangements with respect to the $1.8 billion of exchangeable preferred equity units issued by
BPY discussed in Note 19, which are redeemable in equal tranches of $600 million in 2021, 2024 and 2026, respectively.

The preferred equity units are exchangeable into equity units of BPY at $25.70 per unit, at the option of the holder, at any time
up to and including the maturity date. BPY may redeem the preferred equity units after specified periods if the BPY equity unit
price exceeds predetermined amounts. At maturity, the preferred equity units will be converted into BPY equity units at the lower
of $25.70 or the then market price of a BPY equity unit. In order to provide the purchaser with enhanced liquidity, the Corporation
has agreed to purchase the preferred equity units for cash at the option of the holder, for the initial purchase price plus accrued
and unpaid dividends. In order to decrease dilution risk to BPY, the Corporation has agreed with the holder and BPY that if the
price of a BPY equity unit is less than 80% of the exchange price of $25.70 at the redemption date of the 2021 and 2024 tranches,
the Corporation will acquire the preferred equity units subject to redemption, at the redemption price, and to exchange these
preferred equity units for preferred equity units with similar terms and conditions, including redemption date, as the 2026 tranche.
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b) Supplemental Cash Flow Information

During the year, the company capitalized $176 million (2017 — $203 million) of interest primarily to investment properties and
residential inventory under development.

30. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On March 13,2019, the company announced an agreement whereby it will acquire approximately 62% of Oaktree Capital Group,
LLC (“Oaktree”). As part of the transaction, the company will acquire all outstanding Oaktree Class A units for, at the election of
Oaktree Class A unit holders, either $49.00 in cash or 1.0770 Class A shares of Brookfield per unit. Elections will be made on a
per unit basis and will be subject to pro-ration such that the approximate $4.7 billion consideration to be paid by the company
consists of 50% cash and 50% Brookfield Class A shares. The cash portion of the consideration will be funded from available
liquidity. Commencing in 2022, Oaktree’s founders, senior management and employee-unitholders will be able to sell their
remaining Oaktree units to Brookfield over time pursuant to an agreed upon liquidity schedule. Pursuant to this liquidity schedule,
the earliest year in which Brookfield could own 100% of Oaktree is 2029.

The agreement also provides for the payment by Oaktree of a $225 million termination fee if the agreement is terminated under
certain specified circumstances.

The transaction is subject to the approval of Oaktree unitholders representing at least a majority of the voting interests of Oaktree
and other customary closing conditions, including certain regulatory approvals. Oaktree Capital Group Holdings, L.P., which
represents approximately 92% of the voting interests of Oaktree, has agreed to vote all of its units in favor of the transaction. The
transaction is expected to close in the third quarter of 2019.
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